UNDERSTANDING MOTOR UNIT AND MUSCLE ALTERATIONS FOR NEUROLOGIC REHABILITATION

EDITED BY: Ping Zhou, Xu Zhang, William Zev Rymer and Yingchun Zhang PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neurology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-304-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-304-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

1

UNDERSTANDING MOTOR UNIT AND MUSCLE ALTERATIONS FOR NEUROLOGIC REHABILITATION

Topic Editors:

Ping Zhou, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States
Xu Zhang, University of Science and Technology of China, China
William Zev Rymer, Shirley Ryan AbilityLab, United States
Yingchun Zhang, University of Houston, United States

Neurological injuries (such as hemispheric stroke and spinal cord injury, etc.) can result in muscle weakness and spasticity. The affected muscles often experience progressive changes in their intrinsic mechanical properties, giving rise to muscle contracture and associated alterations in muscle internal structural changes. The mechanisms behind the changes are multifactorial, including disuse, autonomic changes, peripheral neuropathy, a loss of central motor neuron trophic influences, and/or their combinations. Regardless of the origins of weakness and other changes, it is very important to understand or quantify complex neuromuscular changes after a neurological injury.

In this Research Topic, we will focus on examination of skeletal muscle changes after neurological injuries because it is the primary organ involved in the generation of force for movement and is also the main effector organ of impairment after neurological injuries, resulting in disability. Of particular interest, the Research Topic will focus on examination of changes in different motor unit components because motor unit is the final common pathway for neuromuscular control and it provides a basic structure-function framework for the examination of neural and muscular disorders. Understanding the changes in different motor unit components (such as motor unit number, size, territory, control properties, etc.) can help identify specific mechanisms causing functional and anatomical changes in the affected muscles, and thereby guiding development of effective treatments for individuals with different neurological injuries.

Citation: Zhou, P., Zhang, X., Rymer, W. Z., Zhang, Y., eds. (2019). Understanding Motor Unit and Muscle Alterations for Neurologic Rehabilitation. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-304-3

Table of Contents

- O4 Stroke-Related Changes in the Complexity of Muscle Activation During Obstacle Crossing Using Fuzzy Approximate Entropy Analysis
 Ying Chen, Huijing Hu, Chenming Ma, Yinwei Zhan, Na Chen, Le Li and Rong Song
- 12 Ultrasonography Monitoring of Trauma-Induced Heterotopic Ossification: Guidance for Rehabilitation Procedures Qing Wang, Peizhen Zhang, Pengdong Li, Xiangfen Song, Huijing Hu, Xuan Li, Wufan Chen and Xiaoyun Wang
- 21 Degraded Synergistic Recruitment of sEMG Oscillations for Cerebral Palsy Infants Crawling

Zhixian Gao, Lin Chen, Qiliang Xiong, Nong Xiao, Wei Jiang, Yuan Liu, Xiaoying Wu and Wensheng Hou

33 Inter-Limb Muscle Synergies and Kinematic Analysis of Hands-and-Knees Crawling in Typically Developing Infants and Infants With Developmental Delay

Qi L. Xiong, Xiao Y. Wu, Jun Yao, Theresa Sukal-Moulton, Nong Xiao, Lin Chen, Xiao L. Zheng, Yuan Liu and Wen S. Hou

42 Increased Corticomuscular Coherence and Brain Activation Immediately After Short-Term Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation

Rui Xu, Yaoyao Wang, Kun Wang, Shufeng Zhang, Chuan He and Dong Ming

52 Position as Well as Velocity Dependence of Spasticity—Four-Dimensional Characterizations of Catch Angle

Yi-Ning Wu, Hyung-Soon Park, Jia-Jin Chen, Yupeng Ren, Elliot J. Roth and Li-Qun Zhang

62 Motor Unit-Driven Identification of Pathological Tremor in Electroencephalograms

Aleš Holobar, Juan A. Gallego, Jernej Kranjec, Eduardo Rocon, Juan P. Romero, Julián Benito-León, José L. Pons and Vojko Glaser

77 How Physical Activities Affect Mental Fatigue Based on EEG Energy, Connectivity, and Complexity

Rui Xu, Chuncui Zhang, Feng He, Xin Zhao, Hongzhi Qi, Peng Zhou, Lixin Zhang and Dong Ming

90 Muscle Fatigue Post-stroke Elicited From Kilohertz-Frequency Subthreshold Nerve Stimulation

Yang Zheng, Henry Shin and Xiaogang Hu

98 Variation of Finger Activation Patterns Post-stroke Through Non-invasive Nerve Stimulation

Henry Shin, Yang Zheng and Xiaogang Hu





Stroke-Related Changes in the Complexity of Muscle Activation during Obstacle Crossing Using Fuzzy Approximate Entropy Analysis

Ying Chen^{1,2†}, Huijing Hu^{3†}, Chenming Ma^{1,2}, Yinwei Zhan⁴, Na Chen², Le Li^{2*} and Rong Song^{1*}

¹ Key Laboratory of Sensing Technology and Biomedical Instrument of Guang Dong Province, School of Engineering, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ² Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Guangdong Engineering Technology Research Center for Rehabilitation Medicine and Clinical Translation, The First Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ³ Guangdong Work Injury Rehabilitation Center, Guangzhou, China, ⁴ School of Computers, Guangdong University of Technology, Guangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xu Zhang, University of Science and Technology of China, China

Reviewed by:

Bo Yao, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, China Wens Hou, Chongqing University, China

*Correspondence:

Le Li lile5@mail.sysu.edu.cn; Rong Song songrong@mail.sysu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

> Received: 16 December 2017 Accepted: 22 February 2018 Published: 12 March 2018

Citation:

Chen Y, Hu H, Ma C, Zhan Y, Chen N, Li L and Song R (2018) Stroke-Related Changes in the Complexity of Muscle Activation during Obstacle Crossing Using Fuzzy Approximate Entropy Analysis. Front. Neurol. 9:131. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00131 This study investigated the complexity of the electromyography (EMG) of lower limb muscles when performing obstacle crossing tasks at different heights in poststroke subjects versus healthy controls. Five poststroke subjects and eight healthy controls were recruited to perform different obstacle crossing tasks at various heights (randomly set at 10, 20, and 30% of the leg's length). EMG signals were recorded from bilateral biceps femoris (BF), rectus femoris (RF), medial gastrocnemius, and tibialis anterior during obstacle crossing task. The fuzzy approximate entropy (fApEn) approach was used to analyze the complexity of the EMG signals. The fApEn values were significantly smaller in the RF of the trailing limb during the swing phase in poststroke subjects than healthy controls (p < 0.05), which may be an indication of smaller number and less frequent firing rates of the motor units. However, during the swing phase, there were non-significant increases in the fApEn values of BF and RF in the trailing limb of the stroke group compared with those of healthy controls, resulting in a coping strategy when facing challenging tasks. The fApEn values that increased with height were found in the BF of the leading limb during the stance phase and in the RF of the trailing limb during the swing phase (p < 0.05). The reason for this may have been a larger muscle activation associated with the increase in obstacle height. This study demonstrated a suitable and non-invasive method to evaluate muscle function after a stroke.

Keywords: fuzzy approximate entropy, obstacle crossing, stroke, gait, electromyography

INTRODUCTION

Stroke, a leading cause of disability, often leads to functional limitations in the activity of daily living (ADL). Stroke survivors have a high risk of falling during all poststroke stages (1). Mackintosh et al. found that 36% of community-dwelling elderly people with chronic poststroke symptoms reported falling in the past year, which is significantly more than 24% of the healthy controls (2). Rehabilitation intervention offers beneficial effects on motor recovery after a stroke (3) and can reduce the risk of falling (4). A better understanding of motor function impairment in stroke survivors will help design

4

effective recovery strategies during rehabilitation to reduce the incidence of falling.

Obstacle crossing is a complex walking ADL and requires sufficient foot obstacle clearance for the swinging limb, stability of the stance limb (5), and coordination of the whole body to prevent the loss of balance. Half of all stroke subjects either lose their balance or make casual foot contact with the obstacle during crossing (6), which indicates that obstacle crossing threatens the safety of patients after a stroke. Many studies based on the kinematic indices have been conducted to analyze stroke patients' gaits. Kerrigan et al. examined the joint angles of stroke patients during level walking to quantitatively define the most commonly used strategy termed circumduction (7). Lu et al. investigated the motor performance in high-functioning poststroke patients during obstacle crossing and found that stroke survivors appeared to adopt a specific symmetric kinematic strategy with an increased pelvic posterior tilt and swing hip abduction (8). Said et al. quantified the modifications of kinematic characteristics in stroke survivors during obstacle crossing and found that stroke survivors had reduced toe-obstacle clearance and closer horizontal distance after clearance with increased crossing time compared to healthy controls (9).

Previous studies based on the kinematic analysis identified a significant number of stroke-related features for obstacle crossing. Further information about muscle function requires electromyography (EMG) signals, which can be recorded from the muscle surface (10). EMG analysis based on time and frequency domains was widely used in previous studies. Zhai et al. proposed a self-recalibrating classifier of hand movements based on the convolutional neural network using short latency dimension-reduced sEMG as an input (11). Chen and Yang successfully reconstructed drawings of trace reconstructions using a novel three-step hybrid model based on the root mean square (RMS) of seven-channel EMG signals and a gene expression program (12). Kisielsajewicz et al. found that the coherence between synergist muscles in the affected upper limb of stroke patients was lower than that of healthy subjects during reaching tasks (13). Our previous results showed greater muscle activation levels, increased muscle co-contraction, and lower mean power frequencies in persons after a stroke compared to controls during obstacle crossing. These findings indicated that abnormal muscle activation patterns might contribute to difficulties in maintaining balance during obstacle crossing (14). Since the generation of EMG signals is non-linear (15), simple linear modeled features, such as the RMS, integrated EMG, and mean power frequency, reported recently are limited in characterizing muscle dynamics (16). Some non-linear methods have been introduced to analyze the EMG signals, including fractal dimension, average maximum finite-time Lyapunov exponents, and recurrence quantification analysis (15, 17, 18). However, these non-linear dynamic methods usually require very large data sets to achieve reliable results. This may lead to spurious results when applied to small data sets from experiments (19). To solve this problem, entropy-based methods, such as approximate entropy (ApEn), sample entropy (SampEn), and fuzzy approximate entropy (fApEn), have been introduced to analyze EMG signals (19-21). For example, Zhang et al. used SampEn to detect the onset of muscle activity and found that it

was more robust than the RMS method (21, 22). It was further used to examine the EMG-torque relation in the complexity domain. This demonstrated that complexity analysis is a novel tool to examine neuromuscular changes after stroke (23).

Entropy was first introduced by Shannon and later termed information entropy (24). Kolmogorov then developed K-S entropy based on the information entropy, which was applicable for examining the complexity of systems (25). However, K-S entropy is not useful for the analysis of measured signals because these signals are noise, and K-S entropy is unable to analyze noisy signal (26). Pincus subsequently introduced ApEn, which is applicable to noisy and small data sets (26). Although ApEn has many advantages compared with linear analysis methods, it is biased. To solve this problem, SampEn was then developed based on ApEn (27). SampEn is less dependent on the size of data sets and shows better relative consistency, but SampEn(m, r, N) is not defined in the case of small N and r (27). Chen et al. later developed fApEn as another complexity analysis method. It combines Zadeh's fuzzy sets with entropy-based methods (19). Due to its excellent robustness and consistency (28), fApEn can analyze muscle function in patients with neuromuscular disorders. Ao et al. found that the fApEn values in the elbow muscles were lower compared to healthy controls (29). Sun et al. found that fApEn values increased with force-generating capacity in stroke survivors during robot-aided rehabilitation training sessions (30). To date, there are limited studies on the dynamics of muscle function during complex tasks, such as obstacle crossing following stroke. This is critical to daily living.

In this study, fApEn was used to analyze the EMG signals recorded from eight muscles of the lower limb of poststroke subjects and compared those with healthy subjects when performing obstacle crossings tasks at different heights. This study aimed to investigate the alterations in the complexity of the EMG signals between the two groups and between different heights during the task. It also aimed to identify dynamic muscle function changes after stroke. Our hypothesis was that the complexity of the generated EMG signals would decrease due to muscle damage after stroke. The complexity would increase along with the obstacle height due to the underlying mechanisms of muscle activation. The correlation between the fApEn values of the EMG signals and the clinical scales could provide further details regarding muscle function after stroke.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Five poststroke subjects with at least 3 months onset prior to data collection and were capable of stepping across a 30% leg length height obstacle were recruited. In addition, eight healthy subjects of similar heights and gender participated in the experiment as controls. The Fugl-Meyer Assessment (FMA) and Berg Balance Scale for lower extremities were used to evaluate the motor function of the poststroke subjects. The clinical scales assessments were conducted by an experienced physiotherapist. The basic information for the poststroke patients is shown in **Table 1**. This

study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University. This study was conducted in accordance to the Declaration of Helsinki. All subjects provided written informed consent prior to enrollment.

Apparatus

The kinematic data were recorded by a 6-camera 3D motion analysis system (Vicon Motion Systems, Oxford, UK). Two force plates (AMTI, Watertown, MA, USA) situated in the middle of the path were used to record the force signals. The heightadjustable obstacle was placed between them. A diagram of the two force paths and obstacles is presented in **Figure 1A**. EMG data were recorded from the rectus femoris (RF), biceps femoris (BF), tibialis anterior (TA), and medial gastrocnemius of both sides for all subjects using preamplified wireless transmission modules. **Figure 1B** shows the flow diagram of the procedure

TABLE 1	Background data	a of the stroke	survivors.		
Subject	Age (years)	Duration	Paretic	Clinical s	cales
		(months)	nemisphere	FMA-LE	BBS
1	45–50	26	L	28	47
2	45–50	4	L	26	43
3	40-45	3	R	18	33
4	70–75	3	R	27	41
5	50–55	3	R	22	41

To avoid indirectly identifiable patient data, the genders of stroke group were presented as four males and one female; and the ages were presented as a range.

BBS, Berg Balance Scale; FMA, Fugl-Meyer assessment scale of the motor function in paretic low-extremity; L, left; R, right. for data collection. The apparatuses used in this study were the same as our previous experiment. A detailed description was provided in our previous study (14). The sample frequency for Vicon cameras was 100 Hz and 1 kHz for the force plates and EMG modules.

Procedure

The subjects' heights, body weights, and leg lengths were first measured and recorded before kinematic data collection. The distance from the anterior superior iliac spine to the lateral malleolus was measured as leg length. This was then used to calibrate the height of the obstacle of each individual. Thirtyfive 15-mm light-reflective markers and silver-silver chloride (Ag-AgCl) electrodes were attached to corresponding positions on each of the subjects. The target skin area was shaved and cleaned with alcohol to obtain better signals before the attachment of the electrodes (14).

The gait trials began after the preparation. The subjects were asked to walk along a volunteered walkway (8 m) at a volunteered speed with bare feet with an obstacle placed at a midway distance. Details of the trials were described previously (14). Figure 1C presents the gait cycle during obstacle crossing. Trials in which the subjects touched the obstacles or asked for assistance were ignored, and three successful trials for each height were recorded.

All subjects completed the maximum voluntary contraction tasks and three different height obstacle crossing tasks. No incident of fall was observed during all trials. The trials where help was received from therapist or the obstacle was touched were discarded. Discomfort or feelings of fatigue were not reported by any subjects during the tasks.



Stroke-Related Changes during Obstacle Crossing

Data Processing

A 20-Hz low-pass fourth-order Butterworth filter was employed to filter the kinematic and kinetic data. When the toe marker was 2 mm off the ground, this was regarded as the toe-off time. The heel strike time could be recognized according to the change of force signal received by the force platforms. The gait cycle was then divided into two phases or a single lower limb: swing phase and stance phase. The raw EMG signals were collected at a frequency of 1 kHz and then were filtered through a fourth-order Butterworth filter with a frequency band from 10 to 350 Hz. As the frequency of mains of power supply was 50 Hz, a digital notch filter was used to subtract the disturbance of strong electromagnetic fields of 50 Hz that were present in the experiment conducted area.

The fApEn of an *N* sample series is computed as follows:

First, for a given *m*, we formed *m*-dimensional vector sequences:

$$X_{i}^{m} = \left\{\mu(i), \dots, \mu(i+m-1)\right\} - 1 / m \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \mu(i+j),$$

where $\mu_{0}(i) = \frac{1}{m} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \mu(i+j).$

For every X_i^m , the distance d_{ij}^m between the two vectors X_i^m and X_i^m is:

$$d_{ij}^{m} = \max_{k \in \{0, m-1\}} \left| \mu(i+k) - \mu_{0}(j) - \mu(j+k) - \frac{1}{m} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \mu(i+j) \right|.$$
(1)

The definition of similarity degree between two vectors X_i^m and X_i^m is as follows:

$$D_{ij} = \exp\left(-\left(\frac{d_{ij}}{r}\right)^n\right),\tag{2}$$

where r and n in Eq. 2 determine the width and gradient of the boundary.

The function ϕ^m averages the similarity and is defined as follows:

$$\varphi^{m}(n,r) = \frac{1}{N-m+1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-m+1} \ln\left(\frac{1}{N-m+1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-m+1} D_{ij}^{m}\right).$$
(3)

The fApEn is then calculated as follows:

$$fApEn(m,n,r,N) = ln\phi^{m}(n,r) - \phi^{m+1}(n,r).$$
(4)

Here, m = 2 and r = 0.15 ^{*}SD(signal) were set according to the previous study (30).

Signal Processing and Statistical Analysis

The fApEn values for all the muscles were averaged over three replicates for each subject during each height obstacle crossing.

The SD values were also calculated. A two-way (group: control and poststroke \times obstacle height: 10, 20, and 30% of leg length) repeated measure of variance (ANOVA) was performed on the fApEn values. A Bonferroni *post hoc* test was used to analyze the fApEn values. Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was applied to the variables. Pearson's correlation coefficient was used to examine the relationship between the clinical scales and fApEn values when the variables were normally distributed. Spearman's correlation coefficient was used when the variables were non-normally distributed. The significance level was set at 0.05. All the data were analyzed in SPSS 19.0 statistical software (SPSS Inc., USA).

RESULTS

Figure 2 shows that the fApEn values of the four lower limb muscles of the trailing limb during the stance phase. **Figure 3** presents the fApEn values of these four muscles during the swing phase. As presented, during this gait cycle, the fApEn values of poststroke subjects were lower than those of healthy controls. In addition, significantly lower fApEn values were found in the RF of poststroke subjects during the swing phase when compared with healthy controls (p < 0.05). As shown in **Figures 2** and **3**, most fApEn values of the four lower limb muscles of the trailing limb increased with the height of the obstacle. Furthermore, a significant increase was observed in the BF during the swing phase when the height of the obstacle from 10 to 30% of leg length (p < 0.05).

Figures 4 and 5 present the results of the four lower limb muscles of the leading limb during the swing phase and stance phase. As shown in Figure 4, during the swing phase, the fApEn values of the BF and RF in poststroke subjects were higher than in the healthy controls, and this result was similar for the TA during the swing phase when the obstacle height was 20 and 30% of leg length. Meanwhile, during the swing phase, fApEn values for all four muscles were lower in poststroke subjects compared with healthy controls. However, these differences between groups were non-significant (p > 0.05). Similar to the results of the trailing limb, the increase in the fApEn of the muscles with the obstacle height was also found in the leading limb. In addition, as presented in Figure 5, the fApEn value of the BF during the stance phase was statistically significantly greater when the obstacle height was 30% of leg length compared with 10 and 20% (p < 0.05). The correlations between fApEn and the two clinical scales were not statistically significant.

DISCUSSION

We recorded EMG signals and calculated the fApEn values of four lower limb muscles of poststroke subjects during different phases of obstacle crossing at different heights. Complexity change in muscle activations were then compared between poststroke subjects and healthy controls when they conducted this challenging task.

fApEn Values Change after a Stroke

The decreased fApEn values of EMG signals in poststroke subjects could be explained by that muscles were damaged,



FIGURE 2 | The details of fuzzy approximate entropy (fApEn) values of each height for trailing limb during stance phases. (A) The fApEn values of rectus femoris (RF); (B) the fApEn values of biceps femoris (BF). (C) The fApEn values of tibialis anterior (TA); (D) the fApEn values of medial gastrocnemius (MG).



FIGURE 3 | The details of fuzzy approximate entropy (fApEn) values of each height for trailing limb during swing phases. (A) The fApEn values of rectus femoris (RF); (B) the fApEn values of biceps femoris (BF). (C) The fApEn values of tibialis anterior (TA); (D) the fApEn values of medial gastrocnemius (MG). *Significant effect between groups. The bar (-) indicates significant effect between heights.

and they became disused after stroke. This might lead to their degenerated internal structure (31). The motor unit properties changed because of the reduced corticofugal output from the

paretic hemisphere (32). In addition, the number of functioning motor units and the firing rate decreased with reduced discharge variability after a stroke (33, 34). These changes directly









affect the electrical activity and might lead to reduced muscle force and disability in subtle responses to the perturbations during functional tasks. Here, the reduction in fApEn values was reflected in the decreased complexity of the EMG signals of poststroke subjects, which might be related to the alternations in the properties of motor units. Our findings were consistent with those reported by Ao et al., who found lower fApEn values in elbow muscles of poststroke subjects compared to healthy controls during trajectory-tracking tasks. This could be attributed to a reduced number and firing rate of active motor units (29). Similarly, the decreased complexity of EMG signals was also reported in other patients with neuromuscular disorders, such as Parkinson's disease (35) and cerebral palsy (36), which could be explained by the disease-induced muscle fiber degeneration (37).

During swing phase, the fApEn values for the BF, RF, and TA (20 and 30% leg length) in the leading limb were higher in poststroke subjects than in healthy controls. This might be as a result of abnormal gait during obstacle crossing after a stroke. The swing phase of the leading limb during obstacle crossing caused the subjects to elevate their lower limb to secure sufficient toe-obstacle clearance, and this could be a challenge for poststroke subjects, leading to abnormal muscle activation patterns. Indeed, our previous study found that to avoid falling, toe-obstacle clearance of stroke survivors was greater than in healthy controls (38). The increased activation of thigh muscles in the BF and RF was found in stroke survivors (14). This might also contribute to the increased complexity of the EMG signals (36).

fApEn Values Change with Task Difficulties

When sustaining different levels of maximal voluntary contraction force in the upper limb, the complexity of EMG signals had been demonstrated to increase with increasing muscle contraction forces (23, 37, 39). In line with these findings, our results demonstrated that increasing obstacle heights demanded an increase in muscle contraction forces that in turn led to the recruitment of more motor units and increased firing rates in active motor units (14). Our results suggested that the complexity of the EMG signals increased with greater task demands, and this could also be applied to poststroke subjects. Therefore, safely crossing higher height obstacles requires increased muscle contraction forces and more activated motor units, leading to higher entropy values for the EMG signals (37).

However, there are still discrepancies about the complexity changes with task difficulties. To investigate the effect of task demands on motor entropy, Hong and Newell found that the entropy values of muscle forces decreased as the task demands increased (40). They explained the decreased entropy with increased task demands, but reduced environmental information, revealing a compensatory interaction between tasks and the environment on the force dynamics. Moreover, Murillo et al. found that fuzzy entropy of postural sway in healthy young adults decreased from the stable condition to the mid-level instability condition. This increased again at the highest instability condition at the anterior-posterior axis, which reflects the adaptations of postural control system to the platform instability (41). Therefore, the compensatory and adaptive nature of the motor control system to the task complexity warrants further investigation, especially in stroke survivors. Entropy analysis could be used to evaluate the effects of rehabilitation interventions targeting the motor recovery to restore complex motor tasks in persons after a stroke.

Limitations

There were several limitations in this study. First, considering the insufficient strength of the paretic leg during the stance phase, we did not instruct the poststroke subjects to first step over the obstacle with their unaffected side due to safety issue. Thus, we could not compare the paretic side with the unaffected side during the same task. In the future, we should introduce stroke subjects to first step over the obstacle with both affected and unaffected limbs. Second, moderate to high functional level of persons after stroke were recruited in this study. A large-scale study of different types of stroke subjects should be recruited in future study to investigate the influences of group and obstacle height, which may help explore the mechanisms and guide rehabilitation after stroke.

CONCLUSION

In this study, the stoke-related changes in complexity of lower muscles during obstacle crossing were investigated using fApEn. Results show that the complexity of RF in trailing limb during stance phase decreased in stroke group, which might be associated with the reduced number and firing rate of MU. However, during the swing phase, there were non-significant increases in the fApEn values of BF and RF in the trailing limb of the stroke group, resulting in a coping strategy when facing challenging tasks. During the gait, the complexity of muscle activation increases with obstacle height. That might be because higher obstacles demand greater muscle forces, which causes more motor units to be recruited and triggers higher firing rates of motor units. These findings based on the fApEn values of the EMG signals indicate that the complexity analysis using fApEn could be a suitable and non-invasive method to evaluate muscle function changes after stroke.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University. The study was conducted in accordance to the Declaration of Helsinki. All subjects provided written informed consent prior to enrollment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YC, CM, and NC conceived and designed the study and performed the experiments. YC and HH wrote the paper. RS and YZ contributed to experiments. RS and LL reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors had read and approved the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all the participants of this study.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 31771016, 81702227), the Guangdong Science and Technology Department (No. 2014B090901056, 2015B020214003, 2017B020210011), and the Project of Science and Technology Program of Guangzhou (No. 201604016034, 201604020108).

REFERENCES

- Batchelor FA, Mackintosh SF, Said CM, Hill KD. Falls after stroke. Int J Stroke (2012) 7(6):482. doi:10.1111/j.1747-4949.2012.00796.x
- Mackintosh SF, Goldie P, Hill K. Falls incidence and factors associated with falling in older, community-dwelling, chronic stroke survivors (> 1 year after stroke) and matched controls. *Aging Clin Exp Res* (2005) 17(2):74–81. doi:10.1007/BF03324577
- Pinter MM, Brainin M. Rehabilitation after stroke in older people. *Maturitas* (2012) 71(2):104–8. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2011.11.011
- Weerdesteyn V, De NM, van Duijnhoven HJ, Geurts AC. Falls in individuals with stroke. J Rehabil Res Dev (2008) 45(8):1195. doi:10.1682/JRRD.2007.09.0145
- Chen HL, Lu TW. Comparisons of the joint moments between leading and trailing limb in young adults when stepping over obstacles. *Gait Posture* (2006) 23(1):69. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2004.12.001
- Said CM, Goldie PA, Patla AE, Sparrow WA, Martin KE. Obstacle crossing in subjects with stroke. Arch Phys Med Rehabil (1999) 80(9):1054–9. doi:10.1016/ S0003-9993(99)90060-6
- Kerrigan DC, Frates EP, Rogan S, Riley PO. Hip hiking and circumduction: quantitative definitions. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* (2000) 79(3):247–52. doi:10.1097/00002060-200005000-00006
- Lu TW, Yen HC, Chen HL, Hsu WC, Chen SC, Hong SW, et al. Symmetrical kinematic changes in highly functioning older patients post-stroke during obstacle-crossing. *Gait Posture* (2010) 31(4):511–6. doi:10.1016/j. gaitpost.2010.02.012
- Said CM, Goldie PA, Culham E, Sparrow WA, Patla AE, Morris ME. Control of lead and trail limbs during obstacle crossing following stroke. *Phys Ther* (2005) 85(5):413–27. doi:10.1093/ptj/85.5.413
- Kleissen RF, Buurke JH, Harlaar J, Zilvold G. Electromyography in the biomechanical analysis of human movement and its clinical application. *Gait Posture* (1998) 8(2):143. doi:10.1016/S0966-6362(98)00025-3
- Zhai X, Jelfs B, Chan R, Tin C. Self-recalibrating surface EMG pattern recognition for neuroprosthesis control based on convolutional neural network. *Front Neurosci* (2017) 11:379. doi:10.3389/fnins.2017.00379
- Chen Y, Yang Z. A novel hybrid model for drawing trace reconstruction from multichannel surface electromyographic activity. *Front Neurosci* (2017) 11:61. doi:10.3389/fnins.2017.00061
- Kisielsajewicz K, Fang Y, Hrovat K, Yue GH, Siemionow V, Sun CK, et al. Weakening of synergist muscle coupling during reaching movement in stroke patients. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* (2011) 25(4):359. doi:10.1177/ 1545968310388665
- Ma C, Chen N, Mao Y, Huang D, Song R, Li L. Alterations of muscle activation pattern in stroke survivors during obstacle crossing. *Front Neurol* (2017) 8:70. doi:10.3389/fneur.2017.00070
- Farina D, Fattorini L, Felici F, Filligoi G. Nonlinear surface EMG analysis to detect changes of motor unit conduction velocity and synchronization. J Appl Physiol (2002) 93(5):1753–63. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00314.2002
- Arjunan SP, Kumar DK editors. Fractal theory based Non-linear analysis of sEMG. Int Conf Intel Sens Networks Inf (2007):545–8. doi:10.1109/ ISSNIP.2007.4496901
- Gitter JA, Czerniecki MJ. Fractal analysis of the electromyographic interference pattern. J Neurosci Methods (1995) 58(1–2):103. doi:10.1016/0165-0270 (94)00164-C
- Dingwell JB, Cusumano JP. Nonlinear time series analysis of normal and pathological human walking. *Chaos* (2000) 10(4):848. doi:10.1063/1.1324008
- Chen W, Wang Z, Xie H, Yu W. Characterization of surface EMG signal based on fuzzy entropy. *IEEE Trans Neural Sys Rehabil Eng* (2007) 15(2):266–72. doi:10.1109/TNSRE.2007.897025
- Pincus SM. Approximate entropy as a measure of system complexity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1991) 88(6):2297–301. doi:10.1073/pnas.88.6.2297
- Zhang X, Zhou P. Sample entropy analysis of surface EMG for improved muscle activity onset detection against spurious background spikes. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol* (2012) 22(6):901–7. doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2012.06.005
- Estrada L, Torres A, Sarlabous L, Jané R. Improvement in neural respiratory drive estimation from diaphragm electromyographic signals using fixed sample entropy. *IEEE J Biomed Health Inform* (2016) 20(2):476. doi:10.1109/ JBHI.2015.2398934
- 23. Xu Z, Wang D, Yu Z, Xiang C, Sheng L, Ping Z. EMG-torque relation in chronic stroke: a novel EMG complexity representation with a linear electrode

array. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform (2016) 21(6):1562-72. doi:10.1109/ JBHI.2016.2626399

- 24. Shannon CE. IEEE Xplore abstract a mathematical theory of communication. *Bell Sys Tech J* (1948) 27(4):379–423. doi:10.1002/j.1538-7305.1948. tb00917.x
- Kolmogorov AN. A new metric invariant of transient dynamical systems and automorphisms in Lebesgue spaces. *Dokl Akad Nauk SSSR NS* (1958) 951(5):861–4.
- Pincus S. Approximate entropy (ApEn) as a complexity measure. *Chaos* (1995) 5(1):110. doi:10.1063/1.166092
- Richman JS, Moorman JR. Physiological time-series analysis using approximate entropy and sample entropy. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2000) 278(6):H2039–49. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.2000.278.6.H2039
- Xie HB, Chen WT, He WX, Liu H. Complexity analysis of the biomedical signal using fuzzy entropy measurement. *Appl Soft Computing* (2011) 11(2):2871–9. doi:10.1016/j.asoc.2010.11.020
- Ao D, Sun R, Tong KY, Song R. Characterization of stroke- and aging-related changes in the complexity of EMG signals during tracking tasks. *Ann Biomed Eng* (2015) 43(4):990–1002. doi:10.1007/s10439-014-1150-1
- Sun R, Song R, Tong KY. Complexity analysis of EMG signals for patients after stroke during robot-aided rehabilitation training using fuzzy approximate entropy. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng* (2014) 22(5):1013–9. doi:10.1109/ TNSRE.2013.2290017
- Ramsay JW, Barrance PJ, Buchanan TS, Higginson JS. Paretic muscle atrophy and non-contractile tissue content in individual muscles of the post-stroke lower extremity. J Biomech (2011) 44(16):2741–6. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2011.09.001
- Cicinelli P, Traversa R, Rossini PM. Post-stroke reorganization of brain motor output to the hand: a 2-4 month follow-up with focal magnetic transcranial stimulation. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* (1997) 105(6):438–50. doi:10.1016/S0924-980X(97)00052-0
- Li X, Wang YC, Suresh NL, Rymer WZ, Zhou P. Motor unit number reductions in paretic muscles of stroke survivors. *IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed* (2011) 15(4):505–12. doi:10.1109/TITB.2011.2140379
- Mcnulty PA, Lin G, Doust CG. Single motor unit firing rate after stroke is higher on the less-affected side during stable low-level voluntary contractions. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2014) 8(8):518. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2014.00518
- Meigal AY, Rissanen SM, Tarvainen MP, Airaksinen O, Kankaanpää M, Karjalainen PA. Non-linear EMG parameters for differential and early diagnostics of Parkinson's disease. *Front Neurol* (2013) 4:135. doi:10.3389/fneur.2013.00135
- Wen T, Xu Z, Xiang C, Wu D, Ping Z. Multi-scale complexity analysis of muscle coactivation during gait in children with cerebral palsy. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2015) 9:367. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2015.00367
- Istenič R, Kaplanis PA, Pattichis CS, Zazula D. Multiscale entropy-based approach to automated surface EMG classification of neuromuscular disorders. *Med Biol Eng Comput* (2010) 48(8):773–81. doi:10.1007/s11517-010-0629-7
- Chen N, Mao Y, Huang D. Kinematic analysis of crossing obstacle with different height following stroke. *Chin J Rehab Med* (2015) 30(4):334–8. doi:10.3969/j.issn.1001-1242.2015.04.005
- Li X, Suresh A, Zhou P, Rymer WZ. Alterations in the peak amplitude distribution of the surface electromyogram poststroke. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* (2013) 60(3):845–52. doi:10.1109/TBME.2012.2205249
- Hong SL, Newell KM. Motor entropy in response to task demands and environmental information. *Chaos* (2008) 18(3):033131. doi:10.1063/1.2979695
- Murillo DB, Solana RS, Vera-Garcia FJ, Fuertes NG, Moreno FJ. Effect of increasing difficulty in standing balance tasks with visual feedback on postural sway and EMG: complexity and performance. *Hum Mov Sci* (2012) 31(5):1224–37. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2012.01.002

Conflict of Interest Statement: All financial, commercial, or other relationships that might be perceived by the academic community as representing a potential conflict of interest must be disclosed. If no such relationship exists, authors will be asked to confirm the following statement.

Copyright © 2018 Chen, Hu, Ma, Zhan, Chen, Li and Song. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ultrasonography Monitoring of Trauma-Induced Heterotopic Ossification: Guidance for Rehabilitation Procedures

Qing Wang^{1,3*}, Peizhen Zhang¹, Pengdong Li², Xiangfen Song^{1,3}, Huijing Hu², Xuan Li⁴, Wufan Chen^{1,3*} and Xiaoyun Wang^{2*}

¹ Department of Biomedical Engineering, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ² Guangdong Work Injury Rehabilitation Center, Guangzhou, China, ³ Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Medical Image Processing, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ⁴ Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xu Zhang, University of Science and Technology of China, China

Reviewed by:

Ke-Vin Chang, National Taiwan University Hospital, Taiwan Wens Hou, Chongqing University, China

*Correspondence:

Qing Wang wq8740@smu.edu.cn Wufan Chen chenwf@smu.edu.cn Xiaoyun Wang xiaoyunwang77@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 30 June 2018 Accepted: 24 August 2018 Published: 13 September 2018

Citation:

Wang Q, Zhang P, Li P, Song X, Hu H, Li X, Chen W and Wang X (2018) Ultrasonography Monitoring of Trauma-Induced Heterotopic Ossification: Guidance for Rehabilitation Procedures. Front. Neurol. 9:771. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00771 Traumatic injury is one of varying causes of heterotopic ossification (HO). After HO occurrence, rehabilitation training need alterations to avoid the aggravation of HO. Therefore, monitoring of HO development plays an important role in the rehabilitation procedure. The aims of this study are to evaluate the post-traumatic HO occurring at various joints, to describe the features of HO development in ultrasound images, and to provide a guidance for the orthopedist to make individualized rehabilitation therapy. Eight subjects with the post-traumatic HO were recruited in this study. The joints on the injured side was examined by plain radiography. The joints on the injured side and the corresponding sites on the uninjured sides were scanned by ultrsonography. The HO tissues were segmented automatically using a semi-supervised segmentation algorithm. Then the HO tissues were evaluated in comparison with the corresponding region of the uninjured side. During the development stage of immature HO, ultrasonography was sensitive to observe the involved soft tissue and the calcification of HO. The characteristics of HO tissues in ultrasound image included the hyperechoic mass occasionally accompanied with acoustic shadow and the irregular muscular architecture. It was found that the mean grayscale value of HO was significantly higher (p < 0.001) than that of the uninjured side at the middle and late stages. During the development period of HO, the HO gravscale value gradually increased and the mean gravscale of value of mature HO was significantly higher (p < 0.05) than that of immature HO. According to the information of HO provided by ultrasound, the orthopedist properly adjusted the rehabilitation treatment. The results demonstrated that the visualization of HO using ultrasonography revealed the development of HO in the muscle tissues around the injured joints and thus provide a guidance for the orthopedist to make individualized rehabilitation therapy. Ultrasound could be a useful imaging modality for quantitative evaluation of HO during the rehabilitation of traumatic injury.

Keywords: heterotopic ossification, ultrasonography, trauma, rehabilitation, diagnosis

INTRODUCTION

Heterotopic ossification (HO) has been clinically described as lamellar bone formation in the periarticular soft tissues, where osseous tissue should not exist. This aberrant bone formation is commonly associated with orthopedic interventions, trauma, stroke, traumatic brain injury, spinal cord injury, and neurological disorder. Therefore, it is summarized under three ways of acquiring HO: traumatic, non-traumatic (very rare), or neurogenic. However, the definitive pathogenesis of HO is still quite unclear. Early HO causes restriction of joint movement, local pain and swelling. The clinical symptoms of early superficial HO may include erythema and localized warmth (1, 2). At the late stage of HO, the mature osseous tissues lead to severe limitation of the range of motion of the joint, pain in the affected joints, and even nerve or vessel compressed by HO (2).

In the clinical laboratory, biochemical markers such as serum alkaline phosphatase (AP) and bone alkaline phosphatase (BAP) are usually examined to reveal the alterations in bone metabolism. The changes in biochemical markers reflect the bone formation or bone resorption, but could not provide visualization of the change of bone (3). Citak et al. proved that laboratory findings of elevated AP and BAP might not be reliable for early HO detection because of their low diagnostic specificity (4). Therefore, the laboratory examinations are not suggested to be routine examination.

Nowadays, several imaging modalities have been applied to evaluate HO. In department of orthopedics in a hospital, plain radiography is usually used to locate and visualize the heterotopic bone tissues. Plain radiograph is considered as the gold standard of the clinical diagnosis of HO because it is inexpensive and convenient to detect HO. Computed tomography (CT) is sometimes used to provide 3-D information of HO and clearly observe the location and volume of HO. However, the cost of CT exam is high. Patients are exposed to a higher dose of radiation by plain radiography and CT, which only provide the diagnosis of HO in the late stage that the osseous tissues develop into the matured bone. Therefore, these two imaging modalities are unable to detect ossification in the early inflammatory stage. The HO progression needs to be further evaluated (2). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is useful for imaging soft tissue in the early stage of HO. Ledermann et al. proposed a HO grading scale based on MRI characteristics to evaluate the development of HO: grade 1 = fluid attenuation without calcifications, grade 2 = calcification of soft tissue without evidence of bone formation, grade 3 = immature bone formation, and grade 4 =mature bone with cortical formation (5). However, MRI has low resolution and is expensive and relatively insensitive to the bone tissues.

The advantages of ultrasonography are that ultrasound avoids ionizing radiation, and is widely available, repeatable and inexpensive for bedside monitoring (6). It is proved that ultrasound is a sensitive imaging method in evaluation of soft tissue lesions and calcifications (7). Some previous studies utilized ultrasonography to evaluate the muscle tissues by measurements of grayscale value and thickness of the muscles (8, 9). Furthermore, the relationship between ultrasound measurements and the diseases were explored (8, 10). A recent study revealed the negative correlation between the echo intensity of the rectus femoris and muscle strength (11). Other previous studies demonstrated that ultrasound could be effective for detecting immature HO. Bedside ultrasound were applied to diagnose immature HO caused by brain or spinal cord injury and the results suggested that ultrasonography could be a useful first-line imaging modality in the diagnosis of early HO (12-14). Recent studies stated that ultrasonography could distinguish matured HO from the surrounding soft tissues with a high specificity (15-17). Trauma leading to artificial joint replacement and internal fixation of bone fracture without neurological injury, may also cause HO. The rehabilitation outcome of the injured joints may be greatly affected by HO. Therefore, ultrasonography could be applied in orthopedic rehabilitation for providing a guidance for the orthopedist to make individualized rehabilitation therapy. However, quantitative evaluation of HO and serial follow-up ultrasonography for depicting HO progression were rarely reported.

In this study, ultrasonography was applied to observe the calcification in soft tissues in the participants with the post-traumatic HO caused by trauma such as bone fracture and contusion in the rehabilitation center. The aims of this study are to evaluate the post-traumatic HO occurring at various joints, to describe the features of HO development in ultrasound images, and to provide a guidance for the orthopedist to make individualized rehabilitation therapy. The ultrasonographic results were compared with those of plain radiography, which is the gold standard of the clinical diagnosis of HO in orthopedics.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The participants were selected from Guangdong Work Injury Rehabilitation Center, China. The criteria of participants include the following: (I) trauma such as fractures, dislocations and contusion occurring at the joints, (II) ossification in soft tissues surrounding the injured joint but not attaching to the cortical bone visualized by radiograph, and (III) motion restriction and pain of the affected joints. Eight participants (6 males and 2 females, Age: 23–48) with symptoms of HO were recruited. The exclusion criteria include the following: (I) inadequate acquisition of ultrasound images, and (II) osteochondroma. The basic information for the participants is shown in **Table 1**. Four participants had post-traumatic HO at the elbow joint (50%), 3 at knee joint (37.5%), and 1 at shoulder joint (12.5%).

The clinical assessments of the range of joint motion were conducted by an experienced physiotherapist. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Guangdong Work Injury Rehabilitation Center, Guangzhou, China. All subjects provided written informed consent prior to enrollment.

Apparatus

In this study, four participants No. 1, 2, 3, and 4 were scanned by a portable ultrasound system (Mindray M5, Mindray, Shenzhen, China) with a linear transducer (Mindray 7L4s, a range of central

Participant No.	Age (years)	Injured joint	Traumatic injury	Range of joint motion
1	30–35	Right elbow	Bone fracture of distal humerus & head of radius	Extension: 50°; flexion: 85°
2	20–25	Left shoulder	Bone fracture of humerus surgical neck	Limited motion range of left shoulder joint
3	40–45	Left knee	Splintered bone fracture of patella with collateral & cruciate ligament injury	Extension: 5°; flexion: 15°
4	44–49	Left elbow	Bone fracture of lateral epicondyle of humerus with muscle strength reduction	Extension: 25° ; flexion: 110°
5	45–50	Right knee	Soft tissue avulsion & contusion of proximal end	Flexion: 25°
6	43–48	Right elbow	Splintered bone fracture of distal humerus	Extension:30°; flexion: 40°; adduction: 70°; abduction: 50°
7	40–45	Right elbow	Splintered bone fracture of ulnar coronoid process & head of radius	Extension: 30°; flexion:105°; adduction: 10°; abduction: 40°
8	45–50	Left knee	Bone fracture of tibial plateau	Extension: 10°; flexion: 55°

TABLE 1 | Background data of the participants.

frequency from 5 to 10 MHz). The other four participants No. 5, 6, 7, and 8 were scanned by a wireless ultrasound probe with a fixed central frequency of 10 MHz (Uprobe-3N, linear transducer, SonoStar, Guangzhou, China). A pilot test was conducted to ensure that the B-mode grayscale images obtained by the two ultrasound systems were of similar image quality.

All participants underwent examination of plain radiography (Aristos VX plus, SIEMENS, Germany). Two participants No. 4 and 5 were also examined by CT to obtain more information of the injured joint to distinguish HO from osteochondroma.

Procedure of Ultrasound Examination

After examination of plain radiography, all participants were examined by ultrasonography. First, the injured joint was scanned at the site of HO occurrence (**Figure 1**). The ultrasound probe was placed on the scan site with enough coupling gel interposed between the transducer and the skin. The depth of view of the ultrasonographic scan was set at 4 cm for the joints to clearly display the HO lesions and the structure of the muscles and bone. The gain was fixed at a constant intensity for all scans. All the ultrasound images were obtained respectively at the short and long axis of the muscles. Next, the same scanning procedure was performed at the corresponding site on the uninjured side as control.

Because participant No. 8 was with HO on the immature bone formation stage, he underwent the first ultrasound scan 2 days after the first plain radiography and the follow-up ultrasound scan was performed every week. Four follow-up scans were performed to monitor the development of HO. At each time point, five longitudinal and transverse ultrasound images of HO were obtained at the adjacent scan sites with an interval of approximately 0.5 cm, respectively. During this period of ultrasound monitoring, the participant was also underwent rehabilitation therapy. At the end of this study, the participant underwent an additional X-ray examination again.



FIGURE 1 | Longitudinal ultrasound scanning of HO at the posteriorlateral site of the injured elbow joint of participant No. 1.

For the participants with mature HO, the ultrasound scan was performed 2 days after plain radiography without the follow-up ultrasound scan.

Segmentation and Assessment of HO

Because the edge of the target tissue was not easily distinguished from the background in the ultrasound image, manual segmentation of the HO tissue was time consuming and operator dependent. Therefore, this study applied a semi-supervised segmentation algorithm based on patch representation and continuous min cut (18) to semi-automatically segment the region of interest (ROI) of HO in ultrasound image. Under semisupervision of the clinical expertise, the HO can be accurately and specifically segmented from the surrounding soft tissues according to the texture features of the HO and muscles. **Figure 2A** shows the HO ROI segmented from the background in ultrasound grayscale images of the injured joint. Meanwhile, a same size ROI of the health tissues was selected at the corresponding position on the uninjured side (**Figure 2B**).

After segmentation of the tissues, the ultrasound characteristics of the images were assessed. The mean gravscale values of the HO tissue was quantitatively evaluated in comparison with the normal muscle tissue.

The segmentation and calculation of mean gravscale value were performed by a self-developed program using Matrix Laboratory (Matlab, version 2016b).



FIGURE 2 | Ultrasound greyscale images of the injured left shoulder joint (A) and the uninjured right shoulder joint (B) of participant No. 2. Red profile in (A) and (B) represents the HO segmented from the surrounding soft tissues and the normal muscle tissue selected on the corresponding position, respectively.

Statistical Test

The results of the pilot study showed that there was no significant difference between the grayscale values of the HO tissues in ultrasound images recorded using the two ultrasound systems. Therefore, the effect of ultrasound system on the measured grayscale values was not considered in this study.

The grayscale values were expressed as means and standard deviations (mean \pm SD). Due to the small number of the participants, the non-parametric statistical tests were utilized in this study. The Mann-Whitney U-test was performed to test the statistical significance in the gravscale values between the HO and health muscle, and Friedman test was performed to test the statistical significance in the grayscale values measured on different time spots during the HO development period. The significance level was set at 0.05. This statistical analysis was performed by using the Statistical Package of Social Sciences (SPSS, version22, USA).

RESULTS

The results of plain radiography showed that seven participants were diagnosed with the post-traumatic mature HO and



(arrowhead) correspond to the gap between two calcified HO tissues. On the fifth ultrasound images, the HO tissues connect smoothly to develop into the mature HO tissues. As the echogenicity and homogenesis of HO increased, the profile of the femur become blurred (arrow).

participant No. 8 was with the immature bone formation. Therefore, for participant No. 8, to track the alterations of the immature bone tissue during the development of HO, the followup ultrasound scans and plain radiography were performed.

HO in the Immature Bone Formation Stage

The participant No. 8 was in hospital because he suffered swelling and limited range of motion of left knee joint 4 months after surgery for trauma. **Figure 3A** shows discontinuous, faint, and poorly demarcated calcification indicating the immaturity of HO. Approximately 1 month after the first plain radiograph, the second plain radiograph showed that the HO tissues became continuous and distinguishable indicating the more ossified HO tissues, but still not mature enough for HO excision (**Figure 3B**).

In comparison with the plain radiographs, ultrasound images clearly showed the alterations in the anatomic, morphological structure of the involved soft tissues and HO tissues during the rehabilitation procedure (Figure 3C). From the transverse ultrasound images, mixed hyperechoic and hypoechoic areas in the swelling affected muscle tissues and loss of the texture pattern of muscular fibers in the early stage of immature bone formation compared with the health muscle tissues on the uninjured joint. During the development of HO, it was found that the echogenicity and homogenesis of the HO tissues increased as the ossification increased, and an acoustic shadowing caused by the HO tissues reduced the smoothness of the profile of the femur. Similarily, the longitudinal ultrasound images clearly visualized the development of the immature HO. During rehabilitation procedure, the discontinuous hyperechoic calcified tissues grew to become continuous lamellar HO tissue (Figure 3C). It was noted that the HO tissues in ultrasound image (Figure 3C) was consistent with lamellar bone in plain radiograph (**Figures 3A,B**). Ultrasonography is more sensitive to visualize the involved soft tissue and immature bone formation.

HO in the Mature Bone Formation Stage

The ultrasound images of the injured joints show the irregular muscular architecture and the calcified foci (HO) (Figure 4). As Figure 4C shown, irregular hyperechoic areas and loss of deep fascia or aponeruroses in the swelling affected muscles were found in three participants No. 1, 5, and 8. Besides HO tissues, loss of the textural structure of the muscular fibers in the swelling affected muscles was found in participant No. 4 (Figure 4E). Figure 4G shows local muscle evagination due to the HO tissues in the muscles disturbing the muscle structure and causing worse pain in participant No. 6. With less injured muscles in two participates No. 2 and 3, the effect of the mature HO tissues on the texture of muscular fibers sometimes was not obvious (Figure 4A). The characteristics of mature HO in ultrasound image might include small calcified foci in size but with high echogenicity and sometimes with acoustic shadow. Figures 4B,D,F,H show the normal textural structure and echogenicity of the muscles and bones.

Analysis of Grayscale Value

Figure 5A shows that at the middle stage of the in immature bone formation the grayscale value (86.40 ± 13.42) of the immature HO already increased significantly (p < 0.001) compared with the health muscle tissue (55.1 ± 12.01). At the late stage of HO, it was found that the grayscale value of the mature HO increased greatly (119.09 ± 22.70) and was significantly higher (p < 0.001) than that of to the health soft tissues (70.06 ± 31.09).







Figure 5B shows that the gradual increase in the grayscale value of the immature HO tissues during the development period. The grayscale value of the mature HO for 5th ultrasound scan (92.18 \pm 8.37) was significantly increased in comparison

Effect of HO on Rehabilitation Therapy

with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th scans (p < 0.05).

For the patients with high HO maturity, the strength of the rehabilitation therapy needs to be strengthened appropriately, in order to improve the joint movement function. However, for the patients with low HO maturity, the strength of rehabilitation treatments such as joint loosening and drafting should be soft in order to avoid locally strained muscles and other soft tissues, which might lead to HO worsened.

According to the ultrasound images, the orthopedist obtained the information of HO development of participant No.8. The individualized rehabilitation therapy was performed. The treatment intensity of the traditional rehabilitation training reduced. The participant was anesthetized and underwent with manipulation and arthroscopic surgery. After \sim 1-month rehabilitation therapy, the range of extension of the injured knee joint was 5–10, while the range of flexion increased 40° reaching up to 95°. The muscle strength also slightly increased from grade 4 to grade 4+. Furthermore, with the increase in maturity of HO, no obvious increase of HO size was observed via ultrasonography and plain radiography examinations.

DISCUSSION

HO Muscle and its Neuromuscular Function

Although the exact mechanism of HO in traumatic and neurogenic HO is unknown, two common factors precede the formation of HO (19). One factor is trauma or neurological injury. The other is the tissue expression of bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), which induce bone formation. In this study, all the participants sustained bone fracture at different joints with HO. We found that the morphologic and textural pattern of HO muscle changed in comparison with normal muscle. Differently, a recent study on spastic muscle induced by spinal cord injury did not find obvious changes in textural pattern of the involved muscle but only shortening of muscle fibers in ultrasound image (20). This may suggest that ultrasonography visualizing the damage in the textural pattern of the involved muscle is able to diagnose HO tissue.

Further, previous study reported that HO formation was related to a series of changes within not only muscles but also nerves and vessels (21). Those alterations may affect the neuromuscular function. After traumatic injury, the sensory nerves detect any damage to the bone, for example, the alterations due to trauma and BMPs. Then, the sensory nerves signal to the central nervous system to start the remodeling program. However, new bone is generated in incorrect places, and HO occurs. Therefore, the regulation of peripheral nerves system is involved in the formation of HO (21, 22).

Quantitative Assessment of Grayscale Value

Ultrasound images show characteristics, such as size and morphological structure, of the HO tissues. However, these characteristics are individually different in the different joints of different patients. Ultrasound echoes reflect the acoustic impedance, density, stiffness of the tissues. The magnitudes of the echoes are displayed in ultrasound image by grayscale values. During occurrence of HO, primitive mesenchymal cells transform into osteoblasts in the late stage. Previous studies demonstrated that the alterations in the properties of the tissues led to the changes in the ultrasound echoes reflecting the relative diseases (8-11). Therefore, this study chose grayscale value as quantitative parameter, which is relative to the maturity degree of the HO tissues (23). The results show the significant difference in grayscale values not only between the HO tissue and the health muscle tissue but also between immature and mature HO tissues.



FIGURE 6 | The HO tissues at left elbow joint of participant No. 4 visualized by multi-modality imaging. (A) A spiny HO (arrow) in plain radiograph. (B) A slender HO and two small and granular HOs discovered in CT image (arrows). (C) Two small hyperechoic masses and a slender hyperechoic region (arrows) in triceps brachii in ultrasound image.

Radiographic Classification and Evaluation for HO

Previous studies evaluated and classified HO according to the plain radiograph. Based on radiographic findings, HO in the hip joint is grouped into four classes (Class I to Class IV), called as the Brooker classification (24). The Hastings and Graham classification system (25) was proposed to evaluate HO at the elbow joint into three classes. However, these classification systems were only applied to individual joint and did not obtain good classification results of HO in other anatomical locations.

A recent study proposed an analog scoring method (26) for radiographic classification and evaluation of HO based on normotopic reference bone. Its results showed high correlation ($R^2 = 0.89$) between the scores of the analog scale and the heterotopic bone volumes measured by micro-CT, i.e., higher score means larger size of HO. In comparison with the analog method, this study evaluated grayscale value of HO in ultrasound image, indicating that higher echogenicity means more mature HO.

Limitation of Plain Radiography

In department of orthopedics in a hospital, plain radiography is considered as the gold standard of the clinical diagnosis of HO because of its convenience to detect the calcified tissues. However, plain radiography is a method of projection imaging producing two-dimensional images with x-ray radiation through the body tissues. Therefore, the plain radiograph does not provide any depth information. This limitation leads to misjudgment on HO. In this study, participant No.4 suffered from pain and limited range of motion in the left elbow joint. The radiography revealed a lamellated and slender calcification that intersected the distal humerus (Figure 6A). However, 3-D CT image visualized a slender HO and two small and granular HO tissues (Figure 6B). Similarily, ultrasonography also displayed two small hyperechoic calcified foci and a lameller hyperechoic region in triceps brachii (Figure 6C). It was found that the overlap of the HO tissues and distal humerus or other tissues in the radiograph might cause the misdiagnosis of the HO. Other previous studies slimilarily demonstrated that 3-D CT image help plain radiograph accurately locate the position and number of the HO tissues (27, 28).

Advantages and Limitations of Ultrasonography in Detection of HO

Previous studies have proven that ultrasound is a useful tool and provides an earlier diagnosis of neurogenic HO than radiography (12–14). This study similarily showed that ultrasonography could depict the changes of related soft tissues and immature HO tissues, that plain radiograph might fail to imagine in orthopedic rehabilitation. The hypoechoic area and loss of the lamellar pattern of muscular fibers in ultrasound image (**Figure 4E**) probably due to the inflammatory edema surrounding HO. Hyperechoic holistic muscle, especially hyperechoic muscular fibers (**Figure 4C**) might be caused by the lack of exercise or amyotrophy.

In addition, ultrasonography could be conveniently performed a bedside monitoring using portable or wireless ultrasound device. There was no significant difference between two devices for imaging and quantitatively evaluation of HO. This study demonstrates that grayscale value analysis method for evaluating HO is independent on ultrasound system. Finally, ultrasonography is suitable for follow-up tracking the development of HO due to its real-time imaging and no radiation.

However, operator dependency limits the use of ultrasonography (29), especially in department of orthopedics. Most orthopedists themselves have no experiences of performing ultrasound scanning and diagnosing HO using ultrasound image. And orthopedists are lack of the cooperation with ultrasound specialist. Another limitation of this study is the number of the proper participants. No participant with early stage of post-traumatic HO was included in this study, only one participant with the immature HO in the middle stage was involved.

CONCLUSION

In this study, ultrasonography was applied to visualize the development of immature HO and surrounding soft tissues.

After the HO extracted from the ultrasound images, the grayscale value was used to quantitatively assess the immature and mature HO tissues in the middle and late stage. The results show the significant difference in grayscale values not only between the HO tissue and the health muscle tissue but also between immature and mature HO tissues. This study suggested that ultrasonography has potentials to be a useful imaging modality for monitoring the development of HO and providing quantitative evaluation on HO. Combination of ultrasonography and plain radiography in diagnosis of HO help orthopedists to make individualized rehabilitation therapy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

QW and XW conceived and designed the study. PZ and PL performed the experiments. QW and PZ wrote the paper. XS, XL,

REFERENCES

- Balboni TA, Gobezie R, Mamon HJ. Heterotopic ossification: pathophysiology, clinical features, and the role of radiotherapy for prophylaxis. *Int J Radiat. Oncol Biol Phys.* (2006) 65:1289–99. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2006.03.053
- Vanden Bossche L, Vanderstraeten G. Heterotopic ossification: a review. J Rehabil Med. (2005) 37:129–36. doi: 10.1080/16501970510 027628
- Delmas PD. Biochemical markers of bone turnover. J Bone Miner Res. (1993) 8(Suppl. 2):S549–55. doi: 10.3109/17453679509 157687
- Citak M, Grasmucke D, Suero EM, Cruciger O, Meindl R, Schildhauer TA, et al. The roles of serum alkaline and bone alkaline phosphatase levels in predicting heterotopic ossification following spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* (2015) 54:368–70. doi: 10.1038/sc.2015.211
- Ledermann HP, Schweitzer ME, Morrison WB. Pelvic heterotopic ossification: MR imaging characteristics. *Radiology* (2002) 222:189–95. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2221010552
- Ekiz T, Yildizgören MT, Yetişgin A. Musculoskeletal ultrasonography bypasses the diagnostic and radiological challenges in heterotopic ossifcation. *Singapore Med J.* (2014) 55:604. doi: 10.11622/smedj. 2014161
- Özçakar L, Kara M, Chang KV, Çarl AB, Akkaya N, Tok F, et al. Nineteen reasons why physiatrists should do musculoskeletal ultrasound: EURO-MUSCULUS/USPRM Recommendations. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* (2015) 94:e45-9. doi: 10.1097/PHM.000000000 0000223
- Chang KV, Wu WT, Huang KC, Jan WH, Han DS. Limb muscle quality and quantity in elderly adults with dynapenia but not sarcopenia: an ultrasound imaging study. *Exp Gerontol.* (2018) 108:54–61. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2018.03.019
- Pillen S, Tak RO, Zwarts MJ, Lammens MM, Verrijp KN, Arts IM, et al. Skeletal muscle ultrasound: correlation between fibrous tissue and echo intensity. *Ultrasound Med Biol.* (2009) 35:443–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2008.09.016
- Chang KV, Chen WS, Wang TG, Hung CY, Chien KL. Quantitative ultrasound facilitates the exploration of morphological association of the long head biceps tendon with supraspinatus tendon full thickness tear. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e113803. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113803
- Mota JA, Giuliani HK, Gerstner GR, Ryan ED. The rate of velocity development associates with muscle echo intensity, but not muscle crosssectional area in older men. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* (2018) 30:861–5. doi: 10.1007/s40520-017-0829-1

and HH contributed to experiments. XW and WC reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors had read and approved the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by the Project of Science and Technology Department of Guangdong province (No. 2016A020216017 and No. 2013B021800039), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81371560), and Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province, China (No. 2014A030313329, No. 2015A0303 10527).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all the participants of this study.

- Falsetti P, Acciai C, Palilla R, Carpinteri F, Patrizio C, Lenzi L. Bedside ultrasound in early diagnosis of neurogenic heterotopic ossification in patients with acquired brain injury. *Clin Neurol Neurosur.* (2011) 113:22–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2010. 08.012
- Rosteius T, Suero EM, Grasmucke D, Aach M, Gisevius A, Ohlmeier M, et al. The sensitivity of ultrasound screening examination in detecting heterotopic ossification following spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* (2017) 55:71–3. doi: 10.1038/sc.2016.93
- 14. Stefanidis K, Brindley P, Ramnarine R, Blaivas M, Daneshi M, Sidhu PS, et al. Bedside ultrasound to facilitate early diagnosis and ease of follow-up in neurogenic heterotopic ossification: a pilot study from the intensive care unit. *J. Head Trauma Rehabil.* (2017) 32:E54–8. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0000000000293
- Kara M, Ekiz T, Öztürk GT, Onat SS, Özçakar L. Heterotopic ossifcation and peripheral nerve entrapment: ultrasound is a Mustuse imaging modality. *Pain Med.* (2015) 16:1643–44. doi: 10.1111/pme. 12749
- Kara M, Yalçin S, Yenigün D, Tiftik T, Malas FÜ, Özçakar L. Heterotopic ossifcation and cubital tunnel syndrome in traumatic brain injury: Ultrasound 'sees' both. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil. (2015) 28:415–17. doi: 10.3233/BMR-140519
- Onat SS, Özişle Z, Orhan A, Akman B, Köklü K, Özçakar L. Ultrasonographic diagnosis of heterotopic ossifcation and secondary nerve entrapments in a patient with spinal cord injury. *Med Ultrason.* (2017) 19:336–40. doi: 10.11152/mu-1121
- Ciurte A, Bresson X, Cuisenaire O, Houhou N, Nedevschi S, Thiran JP, et al. Semi-supervised segmentation of ultrasound images based on patch representation and continuous min cut. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e100972. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100972
- Sun E, Hanyu-Deutmeyer AA. Heterotopic Ossification. StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; (2018).
- Jiang L, Wang YJ, Wang QY, Wang Q, Wei XM, Li N, et al. Correlation between pathological characteristics and young's modulus value of spastic gastrocnemius in a spinal cord injury rat model. *Biomed Res Int.* (2017) 2017:5387948. doi: 10.1155/2017/5387948.
- Salisbury E, Sonnet C, Heggeness M, Davis AR, Olmsted-Davis E. Heterotopic ossification has some nerve. *Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr.* (2010) 20:313–24.
- Gugala Z, Olmsted-Davis EA, Xiong Y, Davis EL, Davis AR. Trauma-induced heterotopic ossification regulates the blood-nerve barrier. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 5:408. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00408
- 23. AI Mukaddam M, Rajapakse CS, Pignolo RJ, Kaplan FS, Smith SE. Imaging assessment of fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva: qualitative, quantitative

and questionable, *Bone* (2018) 109:147-52. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2017. 08.011

- Brooker AF, Bowerman JW, Robinson RA, Riley LH Jr. Ectopic ossification following total hip replacement. Incidence and a method of classification. J Bone Joint Surg Am. (1973) 55:1629–32.
- Hastings H II, Graham TJ. The classification and treatment of heterotopic ossification about the elbow and forearm. *Hand Clin.* (1994) 10:417–37.
- 26. Rajapakse CS, Lindborg C, Wang H, Newman BT, Kobe EA, Chang G, et al. Analog method for radiographic assessment of heterotopic bone in fibrodysplasia ossificans progressive. *Acad Radiol.* (2017) 24:321–7. doi: 10.1016/j.acra.2016. 10.010
- Cipriano CA, Pill SG, Keenan MA. Heterotopic ossification following traumatic brain injury and spinal cord injury. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. (2009) 17:689–97.
- 28. Arduini M, Mancini F, Farsetti P, Piperno A, Ippolito E. A new classification of peri-articular heterotopic ossification of the hip associated with neurological

injury. Bone Joint J. (2015) 97-B:899-904. doi: 10.1302/0301-620X.97B7. 35031

 Ranganathan K, Hong X, Cholok D, Habbouche J, Priest C, Breuler C, et al. High-frequency spectral ultrasound imaging (SUSI) visualizes early posttraumatic heterotopic ossification (HO) in a mouse model. *Bones* (2018) 109:49–55. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2018.01.034

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Wang, Zhang, Li, Song, Hu, Li, Chen and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Degraded Synergistic Recruitment of sEMG Oscillations for Cerebral Palsy Infants Crawling

Zhixian Gao¹, Lin Chen^{1,2}, Qiliang Xiong¹, Nong Xiao³, Wei Jiang³, Yuan Liu³, Xiaoying Wu^{1,4*} and Wensheng Hou^{1,2,4*}

¹ Key Laboratory of Biorheological Science and Technology of Ministry of Education, Chongqing University, Chongqing, China, ² Collaborative Innovation Center for Brain Science, Chongqing University, Chongqing, China, ³ Department of Rehabilitation Center, Children's Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ⁴ Chongqing Medical Electronics Engineering Technology Research Center, Chongqing University, Chongqing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xu Zhang, University of Science and Technology of China, China

Reviewed by:

Eugene Golanov, Houston Methodist Hospital, United States Rong Song, Sun Yat-sen University, China

*Correspondence:

Xiaoying Wu wuxiaoying69@163.com Wensheng Hou w.s.hou@cqu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 19 May 2018 Accepted: 22 August 2018 Published: 18 September 2018

Citation:

Gao Z, Chen L, Xiong Q, Xiao N, Jiang W, Liu Y, Wu X and Hou W (2018) Degraded Synergistic Recruitment of sEMG Oscillations for Cerebral Palsy Infants Crawling. Front. Neurol. 9:760. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00760 **Background:** Synergistic recruitment of muscular activities is a generally accepted mechanism for motor function control, and motor dysfunction, such as cerebral palsy (CP), destroyed the synergistic electromyography activities of muscle group for limb movement. However, very little is known how motor dysfunction of CP affects the organization of the myoelectric frequency components due to the abnormal motor unit recruiting patterns.

Objectives: Exploring whether the myoelectric activity can be represented with synergistic recruitment of surface electromyography (sEMG) frequency components; evaluating the effect of CP motor dysfunction on the synergistic recruitment of sEMG oscillations.

Methods: Twelve CP infants and 17 typically developed (TD) infants are recruited for self-paced crawling on hands and knees. sEMG signals have been recorded from bilateral biceps brachii (BB) and triceps brachii (TB) muscles. Multi-scale oscillations are extracted via multivariate empirical mode decomposition (MEMD), and non-negative matrix factorization (NMF) method is employed to obtain synergistic pattern of these sEMG oscillations. The coefficient curve of sEMG oscillation synergies are adopted to quantify the time-varying recruitment of BB and TB myoelectric activity during infants crawling.

Results: Three patterns of sEMG oscillation synergies with specific frequency ranges are extracted in BB and TB of CP or TD infants. The contribution of low-frequency oscillation synergy of BB in CP group is significantly less than that in TD group (p < 0.05) during forward swing phase for slow contraction; however, this low-frequency oscillation synergy keep higher level during the backward swing phase crawling. For the myoelectric activities of TB, there is not enough high-frequency oscillation recruitment of sEMG for the fast contraction in propulsive phase of CP infants crawling.

Conclusion: Our results reveal that, the myoelectric activities of a muscle can be manifested as sEMG oscillation synergies, and motor dysfunction of CP degrade the

21

synergistic recruitment of sEMG oscillations due to the impaired CNS regulation and destroyed MU/muscle fiber. Our preliminary work suggests that time-varying coefficient curve of sEMG oscillation synergies is a potential index to evaluate the abnormal recruitment of electromyography activities affected by CP disorders.

Keywords: muscle synergy, cerebral palsy, sEMG oscillations, infants crawling, synergistic recruitment

INTRODUCTION

Cerebral palsy (CP) is a permanent movement disorder caused by brain injury in early childhood with a high prevalence of 2-3 per 1,000 live births (1). The regulation of muscle coordination and motor unit (MU) recruitment are usually affected due to the secondary musculoskeletal morphology alterations and changes in the electrophysiological characteristics of MU followed by cerebral injury (2). Surface electromyography (sEMG) signals regulated by central nervous system (CNS) have been widely used to evaluate MU recruitment patterns and neuromuscular function, and it is widely accepted that motor dysfunction of cerebral palsy destroys the synergistic recruitment of muscular activities (3). Although the impact of CP on synergistic electromyography activities has been observed among the muscle group for limb movement (4), very little is known about how motor dysfunction of CP affects the organization of the myoelectric frequency components due to the abnormal motor unit recruitment patterns.

Various features of sEMG signals have been proposed for assessing the abnormal neuromuscular functions in CP patients. The sEMG characteristics from individual muscle, including parameters in time- and frequency-domain, can be used to measure the abnormal overall sEMG activity of CP. Researchers found the changes of magnitude, frequency content and timing from sEMG signals of individuals with CP. The time- and frequency-domain parameters were also utilized to analyze symmetry, cadence, or smoothness of muscle activity for CP patients (5-7). On the other hand, sEMG characters extracted from multiple muscles, such as muscle synergy and co-activation index, can provide the information about relative muscle activation of muscle groups and insights into motor control. Tang et al. (3) reported that CP recruited fewer muscle synergies during upper limb movements with simplified neuromuscular control strategy. Gross et al. (8) found that coactivation index of the rectus femoris/semitendinosus couple was more sensitive to speed, which could be explained by altered motor control. Furthermore, increasing studies suggested that the motor dysfunction caused by CP affected not only the overall sEMG activity but also the sEMG frequency components or oscillations (9, 10).

Recent studies have demonstrated that the sEMG spectrum profile or frequency components correlated with physiological status of movement. Von et al. (11) reported that high-frequency components of sEMG from tibialis anterior were activated before heel strike during running, while low-frequency components were dominated after heel strike. Liu et al. (12) declared that the highest frequency components of sEMG were more sensitive to muscle fatigue than the raw sEMG signal. Moreover, coherence between two sEMG oscillations was used to evaluate the neural control of movement under different conditions, such as low-alcohol and fatigue (13, 14). In addition, studies also reported that coherence can be affected by voluntary force (15). More recent studies employed sEMG oscillation components for abnormal motor functions analysis, and found that the characteristics of sEMG oscillation components correspond to various neuromuscular damages in CP (10, 16). On other hand, sEMG frequency spectrum is correlated the types of recruited MUs, Wakeling et al. have demonstrated that slower and faster MUs in muscles indeed generate low and high sEMG frequency components, respectively (17, 18). Moreover, sEMG oscillations with specific frequency ranges have been successfully used to evaluate the recruitment patterns of corresponding types of MUs in both animal and human muscles during movement (19, 20).

It is generally accepted that multiple element synergistic organization is a fundamental strategy for motor control, and the elements can be well-organized by CNS to perform limb movement (21, 22). A variety of methods have been employed to extract multiple oscillations from sEMG (12, 23, 24), and multivariate empirical mode decomposition (MEMD) shows better performance in decomposing multi-channel sEMG signals due to its self-adaptability, fully data-driven and generalized multivariate extension (16, 25). These studies have indicated that the resulted multi-scale oscillations are mode-aligned across channels, and analysis of multiple oscillations is at the same scale. To obtain the synergistic pattern of multiple elements, although component-based algorithms, such as principal component analysis (PCA) (26, 27) and independent component analysis (ICA) (28), have been introduced to extract synergies, nonnegative matrix factorization (NMF) is a better choice (29, 30) due to its non-negative constraint for all the matrices (the raw matrix and the obtained matrices). A few works have demonstrated that NMF can be used to extract muscle synergies from multi-channel sEMG signals in upper limb muscles during motion tasks (31), even to obtain activation patterns of muscletendon units and time-vary coefficient curves from high-density sEMG signals during dynamic motion tasks (32).

Inspired by muscle synergy, different types of MUs might also be manifested as specific oscillation synergy patterns. In other words, the synergistic recruitment mechanism should be manifested with coordinated activation of muscle groups and of different types of MUs in individual muscles. Hence, we assumed sEMG frequency components or oscillations might also be recruited with a synergistic pattern for normal motor function, whereas motor dysfunction of CP may affect the organization patterns of oscillation components. To this end, we recorded the sEMG signals from biceps brachii (BB) and triceps brachii (TB) muscles of the upper limbs during infant crawling, extracted sEMG oscillations and analyzed their synergy patterns to explore the abnormal organization of sEMG oscillations in CP.

METHOD

Participants

Under the approval of children's hospital of Chongqing medical university, 17 infants with typical development (TD, 11.4 \pm 1.7 months, 12 males and 5 females) and 12 infants with cerebral palsy (CP, 22.3 \pm 5.5 months, 9 males and 3 females) were recruited in this study. Cerebral palsy infants were collected from the department of rehabilitation center in the children's hospital of Chongqing medical university. The TD infants were recruited from local child health clinics. The inclusion criteria for CP infants included: (1) all CP infants were under the age of 3 years old; (2) crawling continuously on their hands and knees during the test; (3) no other diseases that lead to motor function deficits according to the historical records. The TD infants were born at term with normal birth weight and had no neurological impairment. To make sure all subjects can crawl continuously on hands and knees, the Gross Motor Function Measure (GMFM-88) was conducted before experiments. Informed consent forms were obtained from participants' legal guardians before experiments.

Experimental Protocol

The infants were encouraged to crawl at their own pace from one end of a mat $(360 \times 120 \text{ cm})$ to the opposite side. Valid crawling cycle sequence requires infants to crawl continuously on hands and knees more than four cycles. Before the experiment, infants crawled on the mat several minutes to warm up.

As the major activated muscles of the upper limb during crawling, bilateral BB and TB were selected for sEMG recording. After disposable surface electrodes were attached to the muscle belly and bandaged to reduce motion artifacts (**Figure 1**), sEMG signals were collected using a sEMG system (ME6000T8, Mega Electronics Ltd, Finland) with a 15–500 Hz bandwidth and a 1,000 Hz sampling rate.



To specify the crawling phase, 14 markers were attached on the bony landmarks of the bilateral wrist, elbow, shoulder, hip, knee, ankle, the right spine scapula, and the trunk, respectively (**Figure 1**). The kinematic data of infants were recorded at 100 frames/s by a 3D motion capture system (Raptor-E, Motion analysis corporation, USA) with six high-speed digital cameras. Kinematic data and sEMG data were stored in a desktop computer and a laptop computer respectively synchronized offline.

Data Analysis

As shown in **Figure 2**, to study the organization of sEMG oscillations during crawling, multivariate empirical mode decomposition (MEMD) was employed to extract the multi-scale myoelectric oscillations, and non-negative matrix factorization (NMF) was used to analyze the patterns of synergistic organization within sEMG oscillations. Then, the recruitment coefficients within each refined crawling phase were evaluated.

Pre-processing

Firstly, the valid data of more than four consecutive crawling cycles were segmented from raw signals, and sEMG for the BB and TB of both sides and kinematic data were simultaneously recorded (see **Figure 3**). Then, the valid sEMG signals were processed with a zero-lag high-pass filter (4th order Butterworth filter, 20 Hz). Then, a 50 Hz notch filters were adopted to remove power frequency noise.

Oscillation Extraction With MEMD

EMD is a fully data-driven analysis approach which selfadaptively decomposes a non-linear and non-stationary signal into several intrinsic mode functions (34). However, for multichannel signals, applying EMD to each channel could produce a different number of misaligned IMFs. Rehman et al. (35) proposed the MEMD method to extend EMD to multivariate signal decomposition. They treated n-variable time series as ndimensional vectors and employ the spherical coordinate system to project n-dimensional vectors along different directions in (n-1)-dimensional space, and the mean value of the envelopes of these n-dimensional projection sequences is obtained as the local mean of multiple time series. After MEMD decomposition, the ndimensional raw signal $\{v(t)\}_{t=1}^{T} = \{v_1(t), v_2(t), \cdots v_n(t)\}$ can be decomposed into *d* layers multivariate IMFs $h_i(t)$ and residual r(t), which can be described as

$$v(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} h_i(t) + r(t)$$
 (1)

The IMFs obtained after MEMD analysis have the same number for each channel and orderly align scales across channels (35).

Referred literature (16), we firstly concatenated the valid sEMG signal segments from all subject as a 4-channel sEMG





right BB;) of one crawling cycle for TD (left graph) and CP (right graph).

dataset D, which is shown as following formula:

$$D = \begin{bmatrix} CH_{11} - CH_{12} - \dots - CH_{1j} \\ \vdots \\ CH_{i1} - CH_{i2} - \dots - CH_{ij} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2)

where CH_{ij} is the *i*th channel of the valid sEMG signal segments for the *j*th subject. Here, we recorded four channel sEMG signals, and totally 29 subjects conducted the test; that is to say, i =1, 2, 3, 4; j = 1, 2, ..., 29. To reduce the mode mixing in multivariate IMFs (36), 2-channel Gaussian white noise (with the same length as D) were added to the 4-channel sEMG dataset D to composite a 6-channel dataset. Then, the composite dataset was decomposed by MEMD, which yield a total of 23 IMFs with aligned scales across channels, cycles and subjects. Example of raw sEMG signals and their first nine IMFs of BB in a crawling cycle are illustrated in **Figure 4**, of which the right panel show the corresponding power spectra for raw sEMG and IMFs. The frequency ranges of the first nine IMFs are listed in **Table 1**, the frequency band ranges of IMFs decrease orderly, and corresponding IMFs for different subjects are scalealigned.



TABLE 1 | Frequency ranges of first nine IMFs determined by 3dB bandwidth.

IMF	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Frequency range (Hz)	284–500	183–352	127–252	81–189	52–116	34–69	23–41	16–24	4–18

Kinematics Data Preprocessing and Crawling Phase Segmentation

Kinematics data were processed with a zero-lag low-pass filter (4th order Butterworth filter, 4Hz) to remove high-frequency noise. As shown in **Figures 3A,B**, crawling cycle phases was determined with the z coordinates of the wrist (Z_W) and the shoulder joint angle (the joint angle in sagittal plane) (37). **Figure 3C** showed the examples of segmentation from two subjects during one crawling cycle. The squared of time derivative of Z_W ($v_{Z_W}^2$, velocity squared) was applied to segment swing and stance, and the crawling cycle begins with swing. A threshold of $v_{Z_W}^2$ was set at 0.5 (m²/s²) to decide the onset of limb moving and the end moment of a crawling phase (38). To refine the crawling cycle in detail, the swing phase was divided into forward swing phase (FSP) and backward swing phase (BSP) with the maximum of Z_W ; and stance was divided into braking phase (BRP) and

propulsive phase (PRP) with the minimum of time derivative of $A_S(w_S)$.

Synergistic Recruitment Analysis of sEMG Oscillations

As the frequency of IMF9 is below 20 Hz and out of sEMG frequency range (20–500 Hz), the first eight IMFs are included for oscillation recruitment analysis. Envelopes of the first eight IMFs of each channel sEMG signal were extracted (Hilbert spectrum and median filtering) and segmented into cycles according to kinematics data. The envelopes were re-sampled into 200 points for each cycle. The synergies of sEMG oscillation were extracted with NMF, which decompose a non-negative matrix V into two non-negative matrixes including a base matrix W and corresponding recruitment coefficient matrix C (39). Here, eight envelopes of IMFs resulted from a channel of sEMG within a

crawling cycle composed the non-negative matrix V. The NMF method can be described as following

$$V^{m \times n} = W^{m \times s} C^{s \times n} \tag{3}$$

In this study, the matrix of $V^{m \times n}$ represents the envelopes of m IMFs (m = 8), and n is the sample number (n = 200). Each column of $W^{m \times s}$ represents an oscillation synergy with m weight factors ($1 \le s \le m$), and s is the number of synergies. Each row of $C^{s \times n}$ represents corresponding recruitment coefficients, which shows how each synergy is modulated over time. To maintain the modulation of information within oscillation synergies, C was normalized to its maximum values of the crawling cycle.

The number of oscillation synergies was determined by calculating the variation accounted for (VAF) between the original matrix V and the reconstruction matrix V' = WC for each *s* value (from 1 to 8) (40). VAF is calculated as follow

$$VAF = 1 - \frac{(V - V')^2}{V^2}$$
(4)

Here, the selection criteria were that the mean of VAFs was larger than 95% and the increment of VAF was <1%.

Statistical Analysis

The recruitment coefficient values for each oscillation synergy were averaged over 3-4 valid cycles for each subject. For each TD infant or CP infant whose both side limbs were affected, as the symmetric movement for left and right side, the oscillation synergy and recruitment coefficient of sEMG signals recorded from right and left BB and TB muscles have been averaged firstly. In order to compare the recruitment pattern of each oscillation synergy, independent sample *t*-test was applied on the recruitment coefficients for each phase. The significance level was set to 0.05. All the data were analyzed in SPSS 22.0 statistical software (SPSS Inc., USA). In addition, Pearson's correlation coefficient (r) between any two oscillation synergies with the same order number was calculated to assess the similarities of oscillation synergy structures. Four kinds of r values were calculated between same within-groups muscles (e.g., BB of TD1 vs. BB of TD2), between different within-groups muscles (e.g., BB of TD1 vs. TB of TD2), between same between-groups muscles (e.g., BB of TD1 vs. BB of CP1) and between different betweengroups muscles (e.g., BB of TD1 vs. TB of CP1).

RESULTS

All of the recruited infants in this study can crawl continuously on hands and knees more than 4 valid cycles (TD, 4.9 ± 0.9 cycles; CP, 5.9 ± 1.4 cycles). Their hands-and-knees crawling scores were at least 44 (TD, 50.9 ± 3.3 ; CP, 63.7 ± 8.5) according to GMFM. Although the crawling motor function scores of CP infants equal or even exceeded TD infants (in this study) after rehabilitation training, their motor development was indeed slower than that of TD infants at the same age. CP infants exhibited abnormal movement behavior and sEMG activities.

Three Stable Oscillation Synergies With Low-, Medium- and High-Frequency Ranges in Muscles

The mean VAF values acquired in the NMF decomposition of the sEMG oscillations are shown in **Figure 5**. For bilateral BB and TB muscles, the number of oscillation synergies (*s*) was chosen as 3 according to the selection criteria above.

Figure 6 shows the three oscillation synergies composed of the IMFs with different weights for BB and TB in TD and CP group. Each synergy of sEMG oscillation owned a dominant frequency range. The main contributors of synergy1 were IMF1, IMF2, IMF3, and IMF4, and their frequency ranged from 81 to 500 Hz (see Table 1); synergy2 was dominated with IMF4, IMF5 and IMF6, which located the frequencies from 34-189 Hz. Synergy3 was comprised of oscillations with much lower frequency, IMF6 and IMF7, and the corresponding frequency range was 23-69 Hz. Furthermore, as listed in Table 2, the Pearson's correlation coefficient of synergy 1 was more than 0.883, which indicated that the composition of IMF1~IMF8 exhibited high structural similarity for any paired muscles. The composition of IMF1~IMF8 in synergy 2 or synergy 3 showed high similarity for the BB and TB of CP and/or TD group as well, and corresponding correlation coefficients were more than 0.816 and 0.861, respectively. Altogether, there were three stable oscillation synergies of sEMG for BB and TB both in CP infants or TD infants crawling, and each synergy can be characterized with sEMG oscillation composition (i.e., IMF) of specific frequencies.

Dynamic Recruitment of Oscillation Synergies for Crawling Movement

The recruitment coefficient curves of sEMG oscillation synergies are illustrated in **Figure 7**. During a crawling cycle, each of those three oscillation synergies was dynamically recruited with time-varied coefficient curves. It can be observed, either for TD or CP infants, that they recruited the synergy 1 in BB with a low level firstly, then the recruitment reached a peak level in the second half crawling phase. Whereas the recruitment strength of synergy 2 and synergy 3 reached a peak quickly at the beginning of crawling cycle (i.e., FSP) and decreased then. For the TB, both TD and CP infants almost synchronously recruited those three synergies, and their activation level reached a peak in the middle phase of crawling (i.e., BSP and BRP). However, the motor dysfunction of CP affected the recruitment of oscillation synergies for crawling movement both in BB and TB.

The Impact of CP on the Recruitment Pattern of Oscillation Synergies

To quantitatively evaluate the impact of CP on the recruitment pattern of oscillation synergies, the amplitude of recruitment coefficient curves was compared in the refined crawling phases of FSP, BSP, BRP, and PRP. As shown in **Figure 8**, CP recruited significant less synergy3 or low-frequency sEMG oscillations in BB for slow contraction in FSP crawling (**Figure 8C**, p = 0.023), and less synergy 1 or high-frequency sEMG oscillations in TB for the fast contraction in PRP crawling

TD

CP

ΤВ

2

3

BB of CP

TB of CP

Nunmber of modules

4





в

BB

2

BB of TD

TB of TD

FIGURE 5 | Mean VAF values corresponding to different number of oscillation synergies.

Nunmber of modules

3

4

100

98

96

94

92

1.0 J B

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.0 1.0

D

1

(Figure 8D, p = 0.007). During the BSP (p = 0.007) and BRP crawling (p = 0.006), CP maintained a high level of synergy3 in BB, which revealed that the sEMG oscillations with low-frequencies cannot be de-recruited effectively (Figure 8C). Furthermore, during CP crawling in FSP (p = 0.002) and BRP (p = 0.047), there was a significantly higher activation level for synergy 2 in BB (Figure 8B), whereas less synergy 2 was recruited in TB for BSP crawling (Figure 8E, p = 0.029).

DISCUSSION

To deeply explore the effect of neuromuscular damage of CP on the motor regulation, this study aimed to extract and evaluate the oscillation synergy patterns from sEMG signals with MEMD and NMF during infant crawling. The present work showed that sEMG signals contained stable structures of oscillation synergy, and the motor dysfunction of CP affected the recruitment of oscillation synergies for crawling movement both in BB and TB.



Α

VAF(%) 66

1.0 ¬ A

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.0

^{1.0} 7 **c**

100

96

88

84

synergy3

Synergistic Recruitment of sEMG Oscillations for Crawling Movement

Crawling requires multiple skeletal muscles to participate in the regulation of limb joint flexion and extension. Muscles play different roles and their contraction patterns also vary with crawling phases. The results showed that the activation pattern of muscles can be expressed as synergistic recruitment of multiscale sEMG oscillations. As shown in Figure 6, the activation of BB or TB muscles during crawling can be represented by the synergistic combination of the oscillation subsets with different frequency ranges, i.e., high-frequency range (synergy1), medium-frequency range (synergy2), and low-frequency range (synergy3). Moreover, as shown in Figure 7, these synergistic sEMG oscillations have been dynamically organized for infant crawling movement. Both for BB and TB, the activation level of high-frequency synergy (C1) keeps to a way of progressively developing pattern, whereas the activation level of mediumand low-frequency synergy (C2 and C3) reach a peak and then descend gradually. These results follow the principle that the recruitment of MUs has been typically graded (41) from slow to fast during dynamic contractions (42) for joint movement, and types of recruited MUs can be manifested as sEMG frequency components (17, 18). In context, the observations in our study suggest that, during the swing and stance of infant crawling, the organization of MUs activation pattern in BB and TB can be represented as synergistic sEMG oscillations, which have been dynamically regulated for different contraction status and crawling phase. Although there is some time delay for BB and TB contraction due to their different role in crawling movement, the coefficient curve for sEMG oscillations with high-, medium-, and low-frequency are alternatively enhanced to a complementary pattern among these synergies, which reveal that different types of MUs have been coordinately recruited for limb movement in crawling.

Crawling is a periodic movement of flexion-extension, in which the upper limbs postures alternate with FSP, BSP, BRP, and PRP successively. Meanwhile, BB and TB exhibit alternating coordinate relaxation and contraction. During swing, BB gradually contracts to achieve forward swing of upper limbs in FSP; slow MUs are activated, and the recruitment strength of synergy 2 and synergy 3 with lower-frequency range reach a peak. However, TB presents some time delay in crawling movement and kept extension/relaxation in FSP, and then begin contraction to swing arm backward with fast developing of high-, medium-, and low-frequency oscillations, and medium- and lowfrequency oscillations reached their peak activations. To perform backward swing, BB extends in BSP as slow MUs are de-recruited, and the activation of high-frequency oscillations exceeded the medium- and low-frequency ones. During stance, both BB and TB are activated to response loading period, and fast MUs are dominantly recruited accordingly to absorb the strike shock and quickly stabilize the kinematic behavior of the joint. As shown in Figure 7, the coefficient curve of synergy 1 (C1) maintains a high level, whereas medium- and low-frequency oscillations (C2 and C3) decrease gradually. In other words, more fast MUs for high-frequency oscillations are activated to compensate the

Th				Syne	ergy1			Syne	rgy2			Syne	rgy3	
Hall Hall <th></th> <th></th> <th>Ŧ</th> <th>0</th> <th>U</th> <th>A</th> <th>Ŧ</th> <th>0</th> <th>0</th> <th>ē.</th> <th>F</th> <th>0</th> <th>0</th> <th>0</th>			Ŧ	0	U	A	Ŧ	0	0	ē.	F	0	0	0
D BS 0.968 ± 0.003 0.912 ± 0.015 0.929 ± 0.016 0.894 ± 0.015 0.832 ± 0.010 0.848 ± 0.038 0.927 ± 0.006 0.892 ± 0.011 0.829 ± 0.010 0.861 ± 0.022 TB 0.896 ± 0.013 0.907 ± 0.014 0.890 ± 0.012 0.860 ± 0.022 0.863 ± 0.011 0.893 ± 0.010 0.883 ± 0.061 0.877 ± 0.012 0.863 ± 0.011 0.883 ± 0.010 0.883 ± 0.010 0.883 ± 0.001 0.863 ± 0.010 0.883 ± 0.001 0.863 ± 0.010 0.883 ± 0.001 0.863 ± 0.001 0.863 ± 0.010 0.883 ± 0.001 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.001 0.863 ± 0.001 0.883 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.863 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 0.86			BB	TB	BB	TB	BB	TB	BB	TB	BB	TB	BB	TB
TB 0.896 ± 0.013 0.307 ± 0.014 0.890 ± 0.012 0.860 ± 0.022 0.863 ± 0.011 0.833 ± 0.010 0.883 ± 0.061 0.877 ± 0 CP BB 0.391 ± 0.017 0.910 ± 0.013 0.901 ± 0.013 0.861 ± 0.004 0.816 ± 0.053 0.938 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005	م	BB	0.968 ± 0.003	0.912 ± 0.015	0.945 ± 0.003	0.921 ± 0.015	0.929 ± 0.006	0.894 ± 0.015	0.932 ± 0.010	0.848 ± 0.038	0.927 ± 0.006	0.892 ± 0.011	0.929 ± 0.010	0.861 ± 0.0
CP BB 0.331 ± 0.017 0.910 ± 0.013 0.961 ± 0.004 0.816 ± 0.053 0.338 ± 0.005 0.868 ± 0.005 TB 0.883 ± 0.014 0.812 ± 0.021 0.822 ± 0.021 0.869 ± 0.086 ± 0.086		ΠB		0.896 ± 0.013	0.907 ± 0.014	0.890 ± 0.012		0.897 ± 0.012	0.860 ± 0.022	0.863 ± 0.011		0.893 ± 0.010	0.883 ± 0.061	0.877 ± 0.0
TB 0.823 ± 0.014 0.863 ± 1.0014 0.862 ± 0.021 0.869 ± 1.0024	6	88			0.931 ± 0.017	0.910 ± 0.013			0.961 ± 0.004	0.816 ± 0.053			0.938 ± 0.005	0.868 ± 0.0
		Ш				0.883 ± 0.014				0.822 ± 0.021				0.869 ± 0.0

were expressed as mean ± standard error

Data

TABLE 2 | Correlation coefficients between oscillation synergies





BB; (**D**) synergy 1 of TB; (**E**) synergy 2 of TB; (**F**) synergy 3 of TB. *0.01 , **0.005 <math>, ***<math>p < 0.005.

de-recruited slow MUs in stance phase of crawling, which is a mechanism for CNS timely and moderately regulating the recruitment of different types of MUs in muscles for joint movement (42).

Abnormal Recruitment Pattern of Oscillation Synergies Under Motor Dysfunction of CP

Motor dysfunction of cerebral palsy originates from brain injury leading to a series of neurological changes, such as reduced input to the CNS (43) and decreased activity of descending inhibitory system (44). Subsequently, motor dysfunction of CP is also manifested as abnormal myoelectric activities and abnormal movement postures due to the affected cerebral nerve in motor area (2). As illustrated in Figures 6, 7, although three types of synergistic sEMG oscillations with different frequency band are presented during CP infants crawling, there are some changes in recruitment coefficient curves, which suggest that brain injury of cerebral palsy affected the MUs recruitment. Generally, CNS employs a synergistic strategy to organize the multi-element motor system within different scales to simplify motor control (45), and the combination of motor elements with certain weights constructs motor synergy. However, motor dysfunction of CP mainly alters the organization of medium- and low-frequency oscillations of sEMG, especially the intensity proportion between medium- and low-frequency oscillations. Compared with TD, CP infant recruits less low-frequency oscillation (synergy3) during FSP crawling, whereas TB activates less medium-frequency oscillation (synergy2) during BSP crawling. It was reported that the impaired CNS of CP is unable to effectively drive lowthreshold MUs (46-48), our results reveal that the inadequate recruitment of low-threshold MUs induced insufficient activation of low- and medium-frequency oscillations when BB and TB of CP infants perform flexion contraction in FSP and BSP crawling, respectively.

In addition to the aforementioned insufficient activation of low- or medium-frequency sEMG oscillations, it also can be observed that motor dysfunction of CP is unable to de-recruit those undesired sEMG oscillations. As shown in Figures 7, 8, for the BB of CP infants, the coefficient curves of synergy3 (C3) and synergy2 (C2) hold on an abnormal level in BRP crawling, and coefficient curve of synergy3 (C3) also keep on an abnormal level in BSP crawling. These results suggest that, during BRP and BSP, CP infants are unable to inhibit their low-frequency and/or medium-frequency sEMG oscillations in the BB muscles. It is accepted that different MU owns different intrinsic contraction properties, and slow MUs are activated for slow contraction and low-intensity activities, while fast MUs are recruited for fast contraction and high-intensity activities (49, 50). Central nervous system selectively recruits desired MUs and de-recruit undesired MUs to produce synergistic contraction pattern, and organizes different types of MUs at a certain activation level can improve the synergistic control for muscular activities and joint movement. For CP infant, motor dysfunction of injured motor nerve or declined activity of descending inhibitory system (31) cause an insufficient organization of different types of MUs; another observation showed that spastic diplegic CP loss the ability to fully recruit and optimally activate available motor units because of their central activation failure (39). So, our work reveal that, the synergistic recruitment of MUs can be characterized with the coordinated activation of different types of MU with appropriate proportion, and CP cannot effectively regulate the activation intensity among different MUs.

Synergistic Organization of Muscle Functional Units Exhibited by Oscillation Synergy Patterns

The regulation of motor function by the CNS is a synergistic organization of multiple function units, which has been widely confirmed in muscle groups. Variety of methods have been used to evaluate the intensity, spectrum or frequency component of sEMG activity. However, it is still difficult to analyze the organization patterns of different types of MUs. Multiscale oscillation modes in sEMG signals are a combination of MU activation and organization patterns. The results of this study demonstrated that the synergistic organization of different oscillations in sEMG signals can be used to evaluate the organization of MUs. In fact, sEMG frequency components are related to physiological state and have been applied to assess motor function under different conditions (13, 14, 23). However, these studies only provided an overall effect of frequency components in a certain period of time. We decomposed sEMG signals of individual muscles into multiscale oscillations, which is correlated to MU recruitment pattern, and then, utilized NMF to extract oscillation synergies and their recruitment coefficient curves. The time-varying curves represent how CNS regulate oscillation synergies over time, which provided a novel insight to better understand the dynamic process of the CNS organizing different types of MUs.

The results of this study showed that three stable multiscale oscillation synergies might be underlying intrinsic structure of EMG activity during crawling. The coefficient curves can further reveal the abnormal MU activation patterns during crawling in CP. Some researchers have found that motor dysfunction of CP manifested as abnormal entropy of multi-scale oscillations of sEMG activities in CP, and a major peripheral cause of these abnormalities is abnormal MU recruitment (10, 16). This study revealed that motor dysfunction of CP also manifested as abnormal recruitment of oscillation synergies. For CP, the motor dysfunction is caused by original brain injury and resulted abnormal descending motor commands. It can be observed that, in CP group, the oscillation synergies with low-frequency range (synergy3) were insufficiently recruited when BB muscles performed slow contraction during swing, on other hand, they insufficiently de-recruited the oscillation synergies with low-frequency range (synergy2 and 3) when BB extended and relaxed in BSP and BRP. These results suggested the recruitment coefficient curves of oscillation synergies can exhibit the time-varying organization of sEMG oscillations modulated by CNS, and the curves also can

reveal abnormal motor control caused by neuromuscular deficits.

CONCLUSION

This is the first time to adopt the synergistic mechanism of motor function to characterize the recruitment pattern of sEMG oscillations. The present results reveal that, the myoelectric activities of a muscle can be manifested as sEMG oscillation synergies with different frequency ranges, and motor dysfunction of CP degrade the synergistic recruitment of sEMG oscillations due to the impaired CNS regulation and destroyed MU/muscle fiber. Our preliminary work suggests that, the synergistic organization for motor control can be manifested rather than muscle group, there are oscillation synergies in sEMG signals. Also, the time-varying coefficient curve of sEMG oscillation synergies is a potential index to evaluate the abnormal recruitment of different types of MUs affected by CP disorders. In future work, we would further investigate the sEMG oscillation synergies in other muscles of upper and lower limbs, and the body size of test sample should be enlarged to verify the influence of CP on the synergistic recruitment of sEMG oscillations.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study is under the approval of children's hospital of Chongqing medical university, and all the tests are conducted

REFERENCES

- Oskoui M, Coutinho F, Dykeman J, Jetté N, Pringsheim T. An update on the prevalence of cerebral palsy: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2013) 55:509–19. doi: 10.1111/dmcn. 12080
- Zhou J, Butler EE, Rose J. Neurologic correlates of gait abnormalities in cerebral palsy: implications for treatment. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2017) 11:103. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00103
- Tang L, Li F, Cao S, Zhang X, Wu D, Chen X. Muscle synergy analysis in children with cerebral palsy. J Neural Eng. (2015) 12:046017. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/12/4/046017
- Tedroff, Kristina, Knutson, Loretta M, Soderberg, Gary L. Synergistic muscle activation during maximum voluntary contractions in children with and without spastic cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2006) 48:789–96. doi: 10.1017/S0012162206001721
- Lauer RT, Stackhouse CA, Shewokis PA, Smith BT, Tucker CA, Mccarthy J. A time-frequency based electromyographic analysis technique for use in cerebral palsy. *Gait Posture* (2007) 26:420–7. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2006.10.015
- Bojanic DM, Petrovackibalj BD, Jorgovanovic ND, Ilic VR. Quantification of dynamic EMG patterns during gait in children with cerebral palsy. *J Neurosci Methods* (2011) 198:325–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2011. 04.030
- Van GL, Wambacq H, Aertbeliën E, Meyns P, Bruyninckx H, Bar-On L, et al. To what extent is mean EMG frequency during gait a reflection of functional muscle strength in children with cerebral palsy? *Res Dev Disabil.* (2012) 33:916–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2011.12.010
- Gross R, Leboeuf F, Hardouin JB, Lempereur M, Perrouinverbe B, Remyneris O, et al. The influence of gait speed on co-activation in unilateral spastic cerebral palsy children. *Clin Biomech.* (2013) 28:312–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2013.01.002

in the department of rehabilitation center, children's hospital of Chongqing medical university.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZG analyzed the data and signals. ZG, LC, and WH drafted and revised the work. XW, NX, WJ, and WH interpreted the data. ZG, QX, and YL collected the data. XW and WH proposed the research topic. WH organized the data collection, signal processing, and manuscript draft.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (NSFC 31470953, 31771069, 31800824), the Chongqing Science & Technology Program (cstc2016shmszx130060, cstc2015jcyjB0538), and the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (No. 106112016CDJXZ238826).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We much appreciated the infants and their parents for participating in this study. We would like to thank the department of rehabilitation center, children's hospital of Chongqing medical university for recruiting infants and their help in data collection.

- Wakeling J, Delaney R, Dudkiewicz I. A method for quantifying dynamic muscle dysfunction in children and young adults with cerebral palsy. *Gait Posture* (2007) 25:580–9. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2006. 06.009
- Hong T, Zhang X, Ma H, Chen Y, Chen X. Fatiguing effects on the multi-scale entropy of surface electromyography in children with cerebral palsy. *Entropy* (2016) 18:177. doi: 10.3390/e18050177
- Von TV, Goepfert B, Nigg BM. Changes in EMG signals for the muscle tibialis anterior while running barefoot or with shoes resolved by non-linearly scaled wavelets. J Biomech. (2003) 36:1169. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9290(03) 00086-1
- Liu SH, Chang KM, Cheng DC. The progression of muscle fatigue during exercise estimation with the aid of high-frequency component parameters derived from ensemble empirical mode decomposition. *IEEE J Biomed Health Inform.* (2014) 18:1647. doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2013.2286408
- Boonstra TW, Roerdink M, Daffertshofer A, Van VB, Van WG, Beek PJ. Low-alcohol doses reduce common 10- to 15-Hz input to bilateral leg muscles during quiet standing. *J Neurophysiol.* (2008) 100:2158. doi: 10.1152/jn.90474.2008
- 14. Kattla S, Lowery MM. Fatigue related changes in electromyographic coherence between synergistic hand muscles. *Exp Brain Res.* (2010) 202:89–99. doi: 10.1007/s00221-009-2110-0
- Neto OP, Pt HSB, Christou EA. Increased voluntary drive is associated with changes in common oscillations from 13 to 60 Hz of interference but not rectified electromyography. *Muscle Nerve* (2010) 42:348–54. doi: 10.1002/mus.21687
- Wen T, Xu Z, Xiang C, Wu D, Ping Z. Multi-scale complexity analysis of muscle coactivation during gait in children with cerebral palsy. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2015) 9:367. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2015.00367
- Wakeling JM, Kaya M, Temple GK, Johnston IA, Herzog W. Determining patterns of motor recruitment during locomotion. J Exp Biol. (2002) 205:359–69.

- Wakeling JM, Syme DA. Wave properties of action potentials from fast and slow motor units of rats. *Muscle Nerve* (2002) 26:659–68. doi: 10.1002/mus.10263
- Solomonow M, Baten C, Smit J, Baratta R, Hermens H, D'Ambrosia R, et al. Electromyogram power spectra frequencies associated with motor unit recruitment strategies. J Appl Physiol. (1990) 68:1177–85.
- Wakeling JM, Von TV, Nigg BM, Stergiou P. Muscle activity in the leg is tuned in response to ground reaction forces. J Biomech. (2004) 37:1583–8. doi: 10.1152/jappl.2001.91.3.1307
- D'Avella A, Saltiel P, Bizzi E. Combinations of muscle synergies in the construction of a natural motor behavior. *Nature Neurosci.* (2003) 6:300–8. doi: 10.1038/nn1010
- 22. Carpenter MB. The Co-ordination and regulation of movements. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. (1967) 27:348.
- Perez MA, Lundbye-Jensen J, Nielsen JB. Changes in corticospinal drive to spinal motoneurones following visuo-motor skill learning in humans. J Physiol. (2006) 573:843–55. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.105361
- Kilby J, Hosseini HG, editors. Extracting effective features of SEMG using continuous wavelet transform In: *Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society*, 2006 Embs '06 International Conference of the IEEE (New York, NY) (2016).
- Zhang X, Chen X, Barkhaus PE, Zhou P. Multiscale entropy analysis of different spontaneous motor unit discharge patterns. *IEEE J Biomed Health Inform.* (2013) 17:470. doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2013.2241071
- Tresch MC, Cheung VC, D'Avella A. Matrix factorization algorithms for the identification of muscle synergies: evaluation on simulated and experimental data sets. J Neurophysiol. (2006) 95:2199. doi: 10.1152/jn.00222.2005
- Shaharudin S, Zanotto D, Agrawal S. Muscle synergies of untrained subjects during 6 min maximal rowing on slides and fixed ergometer. *J Sports Sci Med.* (2014) 13:793–800.
- Chen X, Wang S, Huang C, Cao S, Zhang X. ICA-based muscle-tendon units localization and activation analysis during dynamic motion tasks. *Med Biol Eng Comput.* (2018) 56:341–53. doi: 10.1007/s11517-017-1677-z
- Cappellini G, Ivanenko YP, Poppele RE, Lacquaniti F. Motor patterns in human walking and running. J Neurophysiol. (2006) 95:3426–37. doi: 10.1152/jn.00081.2006
- Shourijeh MS, Flaxman TE, Benoit DL. An approach for improving repeatability and reliability of non-negative matrix factorization for muscle synergy analysis. J Electromyogr Kinesiol. (2016) 26:36–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2015.12.001
- Tang L, Chen X, Cao S, Wu D, Zhao G, Zhang X. Assessment of upper limb motor dysfunction for children with cerebral palsy based on muscle synergy analysis. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2017) 11:130. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00130
- Huang C, Chen X, Cao S, Zhang X. Muscle-tendon units localization and activation level analysis based on high-density surface EMG array and NMF algorithm. J Neural Eng. (2016) 13:066001. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/13/6/066001
- Patrick SK, Noah JA, Yang JF. Developmental constraints of quadrupedal coordination across crawling styles in human infants. *J Neurophysiol.* (2012) 107:3050–61. doi: 10.1152/jn.00029.2012
- Huang NE, Shen Z, Long SR, Wu MC, Shih HH, Zheng Q, et al. Huang, N.E., et al.: The empirical mode decomposition and the hilbert spectrum for nonlinear and non-stationary time series analysis. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond A* (1998) 454:903–95.
- Rehman N, Mandic DP. Multivariate empirical mode decomposition. Proc Mathemat Phys Eng Sci. (2010) 466:1291–302. doi: 10.1098/rspa.2009.0502

- Rehman NU, Mandic DP. Filter bank property of multivariate empirical mode decomposition. *IEEE Transact Signal Process*. (2011) 59:2421–6. doi: 10.1109/TSP.2011.2106779
- Righetti L, Nylén A, Rosander K, Ijspeert AJ. Kinematic and gait similarities between crawling human infants and other quadruped mammals. *Front Neurol.* (2015) 6:17. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2015.00017
- Xiong QL, Hou WS, Xiao N, Chen YX, Yao J, Zheng XL, et al. Motor skill development alters kinematics and co-activation between flexors and extensors of limbs in human infant crawling. *IEEE Transact Neural Syst Rehabil Eng A Public IEEE Eng Medi Biol Soc.* (2018) 26:780. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2017.2785821
- Lee DD, Seung HS. Learning the parts of objects by non-negative matrix factorization. *Nature* (1999) 401:788–91. doi: 10.1038/44565
- Clark DJ, Ting LH, Zajac FE, Neptune RR, Kautz SA. Merging of healthy motor modules predicts reduced locomotor performance and muscle coordination complexity post-stroke. *J Neurophysiol.* (2010) 103:844. doi: 10.1152/jn.00825.2009
- Henneman E, Somjen G, Carpenter DO. Functional significance of cell size in spinal motoneurons. J Neurophysiol. (1965) 28:560.
- De Luca CJ, Chang SS, Roy SH, Kline JC, Nawab SH. Decomposition of surface EMG signals from cyclic dynamic contractions. *J Neurophysiol.* (2015) 113:1941–51. doi: 10.1152/jn.00555.2014
- Damiano DL, Dodd K, Taylor NF. Should we be testing and training muscle strength in cerebral palsy? *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2002) 44:68–72.
- Heinen F, Kirschner J, Fietzek U, Glocker FX, Mall V, Korinthenberg R. Absence of transcallosal inhibition in adolescents with diplegic cerebral palsy. *Muscle Nerve* (1999) 22:255–7.
- Latash ML, Scholz JP, Schöner G. Toward a new theory of motor synergies. Motor Control (2007) 11:276–308.doi: 10.1123/mcj.11.3.276
- Gemperline JJ, Allen S, Walk D, Rymer WZ. Characteristics of motor unit discharge in subjects with hemiparesis. *Muscle Nerve* (1995) 18:1101.
- Frontera WR, Grimby L, Larsson L. Firing rate of the lower motoneuron and contractile properties of its muscle fibers after upper motoneuron lesion in man. *Muscle Nerve* (1997) 20:938.
- Prosser LA, Lee SCK, Barbe MF, Vansant AF, Lauer RT. Trunk and hip muscle activity in early walkers with and without cerebral palsy – a frequency analysis. *J Electromyograp Kinesiol.* (2010) 20:851–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2010.04.005
- Burke RE, Levine DN, Rd ZF. Mammalian motor units: physiologicalhistochemical correlation in three types in cat gastrocnemius. *Science* (1971) 174:709.
- Butler J, Cosmos E, Brierley J. Differentiation of muscle fiber types in aneurogenic brachial muscles of the chick embryo. J Exp Zool A Ecol Genet Physiol. (1982) 224:65.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Gao, Chen, Xiong, Xiao, Jiang, Liu, Wu and Hou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Inter-Limb Muscle Synergies and Kinematic Analysis of Hands-and-Knees Crawling in Typically Developing Infants and Infants With Developmental Delay

Qi L. Xiong^{1,2}, Xiao Y. Wu^{1,2,3}, Jun Yao^{4*}, Theresa Sukal-Moulton⁴, Nong Xiao⁵, Lin Chen^{1,2}, Xiao L. Zheng^{1,2,3}, Yuan Liu⁵ and Wen S. Hou^{1,2,3*}

¹ Key Laboratory for Biorheological Science and Technology of Ministry of Education, Chongqing University, Chongqing, China, ² Chongqing Medical Electronic Engineering Technology Research Center, Chongqing University, Chongqing, China, ³ Collaborative Innovation Center for Brain Science, Chongqing University, Chongqing, China, ⁴ Department of Physical Therapy and Human Movement Sciences, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁵ Department of Rehabilitation, Children's Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ping Zhou, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States

Reviewed by:

Marco Fidel Avila-Rodriguez, Pontificia Universidad Javeriana, Colombia Masahiro Shinya, Hiroshima University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Jun Yao j-yao4@northwestern.edu Wen S. Hou w.s.hou@cqu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 30 June 2018 Accepted: 26 September 2018 Published: 16 October 2018

Citation:

Xiong QL, Wu XY, Yao J, Sukal-Moulton T, Xiao N, Chen L, Zheng XL, Liu Y and Hou WS (2018) Inter-Limb Muscle Synergies and Kinematic Analysis of Hands-and-Knees Crawling in Typically Developing Infants and Infants With Developmental Delay. Front. Neurol. 9:869. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00869

Hands-and-knees-crawling is an important motor developmental milestone and a unique window into the development of central nervous system (CNS). Mobility during crawling is regularly used in clinical assessments to identify delays in motor development. However, possible contribution from CNS impairments to motor development delay is still unknown. The aim of this study was to quantify and compare inter-limb muscle synergy and kinematics during crawling among infants at a similar developmental age, however, clinically determined to be typically developing (TD, N = 20) infants, infants at risk of developmental delay (ARDD, N = 33), or infants with confirmed developmental delay (CDD, N = 13). We hypothesized that even though all of the groups are at a similar developmental age, there would be differences in kinematic measures during crawling, and such differences would be associated with CNS impairment as measured by electromyography (EMG) features. Surface EMG of eight arm and leg muscles and the corresponding joint kinematic data were collected while participants crawled on hands and knees at their self-selected velocity. Temporal-spatial parameters and normalized Jerk-Cost (JC) function (i.e., smoothness of movement) were computed from the measured kinematics. The inter-limb muscle synergy and the number of co-activating muscles per synergy were measured using EMGs. We found that the infants with CDD demonstrated higher normalized JC values (less movement smoothness), fewer muscle synergies, and more co-activating muscles per synergy, compared to infants with TD (p < 0.05) and ARDD (p < 0.05). Furthermore, the normalized JC values were correlated (p < 0.05) with the number of co-activation muscles per synergy. Our results suggest a constrained neuromuscular control strategy due to neurological injury in infants with CDD, and such constrain may contribute to the reduced movement smoothness in infant crawling.

Keywords: infant crawling, EMG, muscle synergy, kinematics, motor developmental delay

INTRODUCTION

Mobility during hands-and-knees crawling is regularly used in clinical assessments to benchmark delay in motor development because it is an early example of skillful gross motor ability. Clinically, a delay can be quantified relative to typical achievement of gross motor milestones (1), but the extent to which such delay is related to CNS impairment cannot be ascertained. Kinetic and kinematic measures during 4-beat crawling can enrich infant assessment and provide a non-invasive window to CNS function.

Previous studies have measured kinetics and kinematics separately in infants crawling. Early studies used film recording to investigate the movement pattern of limbs while crawling from a small sample size of infants (N = 7) (2), while more recent studies used 3D motion capture to examine inter-limb coordination patterns during crawling. The typical pattern of crawling is with diagonal limbs tending to move together and ipsilateral limbs alternating during crawling on hands and knees (3, 4). Quantitative data concerning muscle activities in human infant crawling is sparse. It has been briefly described as triceps brachii activation throughout the stance phase of the arm during crawling, with quadriceps femoris activated during swing phase of the leg (4). Our previous work demonstrated that muscle co-activations of lower extremities during crawling is correlated to their motor skill development (5), but it only quantified the coordination between antagonist muscles of a single limb, which provides little information about the inter-limb coordination across arm and leg muscles during hands-and-knees crawling.

Muscle synergy analysis is a valid tool to explore the coordination across multiple muscles during locomotion (6), and reflects the CNS control for locomotion as a linear combination of several muscle activation patterns in order to complete functional tasks. Crawling is a self-motivated rhythmic locomotion that involves controlled inter-limb muscle coordination for movement. Thus, quantifying inter-limb muscle synergy during crawling has the potential to explore the underlying factors related to movement abnormalities related to the changes/impairments of the CNS.

Muscle synergy extraction based on surface electromyography (sEMGs) and non-negative matric factorization (NMF) algorithm has been used to explore muscle coordination during locomotion in neurotypical populations as well as a number of pathologic conditions, such as stroke (6), spinal cord injury (7), or cerebral palsy (8). For instance, Dominici et al. concluded that two basic muscle synergies are retained through infant development, and are augmented by new synergies during the development of independent walking (9). Steele et al. found that individuals with CP (age range 3.9-70 years) demonstrated fewer synergies during gait compared with unimpaired individuals (8), similar to the constrained muscle control found in adults following stroke (6, 10). Muscle synergy analysis has also been used to quantify the kinetic feature during hand-and-knee crawling. Chen's study (11) extracted two alternative intra-limb muscle synergies during crawling in healthy adults, with one related to the stance phase and the other related to the swing phase (11). However, muscle synergy analysis during infant crawling has not been systematically investigated either in typical development or neurological disorders.

In order to fill the gap, we simultaneously measured kinetic (i.e., EMG) and kinematic features during crawling with typically developing infants and infants with different risks or severities of developmental delay. Because smoothness and well-coordinated movement are typical features of well-developed human motor behavior (12), we expected that kinematic output, such as the smoothness of movement, would be altered in infants with developmental delay. At the same time, we hypothesized that CNS control in infants with developmental delay is also impaired, and would be manifested in the metrics of muscle synergy. Finally, we hypothesized that CNS development/impairment would be associated with the movement smoothness.

METHODS

Participants

We recruited 47 atypically developing infants (age range 8-43 months, 14.21 \pm 6.91 months; female: N = 20, male: N =27) from the Department of Rehabilitation Center, Children's Hospital of Chongqing Medical University. Infants visited the hospital to follow up for the risk of developmental delay (13) due to: (1) premature delivery (gestational age<37 weeks); (2) low birth weight (<2,499 grams), regardless of gestational age; or (3) lack of oxygen to the brain during birth. The age of one infant was 43 months, which is far from the distribution of other infants' age and therefore was excluded as an outlier. The remaining 46 infants (age range 8-32 months, 12.78 \pm 4.87 months) were included for data analysis in this study. In addition, 20 developmental-age-matched healthy infants (age range 8–15 months, 10.95 \pm 2.25 months; female: N = 9, male: N = 11) were recruited from local child health clinics as "typical development (TD)" controls. They were all full-term with normal birth weight, and no diagnosed health conditions per parent report. All infants were studied at the Department of Rehabilitation Center, Children's Hospital of Chongqing Medical University. The experiments were performed with informed, written consent of the parents or guardians of the infants, and the procedures were approved by the ethics committee of Children's Hospital of Chongqing Medical University (approval number: 065/2011). Partial results (i.e., crawling velocity, cadence, stance phase time) from the 20 TD infants have been published before (5).

Clinical Assessment

For all of the participants, the Gross Motor Function Measure (GMFM-88) and Gesell Developmental Scale were assessed by specialist physicians. GMFM-88 measures gross motor function, including lying and rolling, crawling and kneeling, sitting, standing, walking activities. Each function is scaled in the range of 0-100(1). Gesell Developmental Scale is a set of developmental metrics, which assesses the ages and stages of development in young infants (1).

For the infants who were atypically developing, developmental age (see the column 2 in **Table 1**) was assessed by the gross motor development part of Gesell Scale, and compared to

	Biological age (months)	Delayed age* (months)	S	Number of strides for analysis				
	(()	Lying	Crawling & kneeling	Sitting	Standing	Walking	
TD (N = 20)	10.95 ± 2.25	0.30 ± 0.73	90.35 ± 4.12	50.90 ± 4.48	83.05 ± 5.44	28.3 ± 17.77	11.65 ± 8.09	10.35 ± 2.70
ARDD ($N = 33$)	11 ± 2.29	0.30 ± 0.63	90.63 ± 5.06	50.48 ± 7.38	83.72 ± 4.70	24.57 ± 17.61	9.42 ± 9.69	6.54 ± 3.33
CDD (N = 13)	20.15 ± 5.85	8.65 ± 4.47	91.23 ± 2.71	57 ± 10.16	83.38 ± 10.37	30 ± 24.63	15.84 ± 14.12	9.07 ± 2.49

 TABLE 1 | Participant demographic information.

*Determined by Gesell Developmental Scale.

their biological age to calculate delayed age (in months) for each of the infants (see the column 1 in Table 1). Infants with a developmental delay of ≤ 3 months were classified as at risk of developmental delay and those with a delay larger than 3 months as having confirmed developmental delay. This resulted in 13 infants (age: 20.15 \pm 5.85 months, delayed age: 8.65 \pm 4.47 months) with confirmed developmental delayed (CDD), and 33 infants (age: 11 ± 2.29 months, delayed age: 0.3 \pm 0.63 months) who were at risk of developmental delay (ARDD). Although the biological age of CDD group is larger than that for TD and ARDD groups (F = 41.50, p < 0.01), the developmental age of all the groups are similar (F = 0.072, p = 0.790), demonstrating clinically comparable level of motor skills in all the 3 groups. Demographic information for all participants is summarized in Table 1.

Protocol

Infants first became acquainted with the laboratory by spending time on a floor crawling mat (size 360×120 cm). Next, they were encouraged to crawl from one end to the other in response to toys or mother's calling. After training, infants wore only diapers. A motion capture system (Raptor-E, Motion Analysis Corporation, USA) was used to record kinematic movement of infants at 100 frames/s with six high-speed digital cameras. Fourteen reflective markers were taped over the shoulder (lateral to the acromion), elbow (lateral epicondyle), wrist (ulnar styloid process), hip (posterior superior iliac spine), knee (lateral joint line), ankle (lateral malleolus), and trunk (scapula).

Simultaneously, a surface EMG system (ME6000, Mega Electronics Ltd, Finland, bandwidth of 15–500 Hz) with preamplified EMG sensor units was used to measure sEMG from bilateral arm and leg muscles, including: left and right triceps brachii (LTB, RTB) and biceps brachii (LBB and RBB), quadriceps femoris (LQF and RQF) and hamstring (LHS and RHS) (see **Figure 1**) by differential electrodes. All of the sEMG was sampled at 1 kHz and synchronized with kinematic data recording by a TTL pulse. In addition, movements of participants were videotaped.

A valid trial was defined as straight crawling without stop or deviation, for at least three complete, consecutive strides. In each of the participants, the number of valid trials collected varied from 2 to 16 (on average 6.80 ± 3.60), depending on the cooperation of the infant.

Data Analysis

The first and last strides of each valid trial were excluded from the following data analysis.

Kinematic Analysis

Temporal-spatial parameters

Missing raw kinematic data was constructed using cubic spline interpolation. Then they were low-pass filtered (6 Hz) with a zero lag 4th-order Butterworth filter to remove high frequency noise. In the current study, we defined the left wrist as the start of the crawl cycle, similar to the heel strike in gait analysis). The temporal-spatial crawling parameters were accordingly calculated from the 3D trajectories of the left wrist, including velocity, cadence, and stance phase time (normalized to crawling cycle, SPT), using the methods previously reported (5).

Movement smoothness

Movement smoothness was quantified by evaluating the endpoint jerk-cost (JC) at the left wrist, defined as:

$$JC = \int_{0}^{T} \left(\frac{d^3s}{dt^3}\right)^2 dt$$
 (1)

where T is the total duration of a crawling cycle, and s is the position vector of the limb segment. JC measures the change between acceleration and deceleration during movement. A smaller JC value reflects fewer such switches and thus indicates a smoother movement (14).

For each crawling cycle of each subject, the endpoint JC of the wrist marker was calculated in anterior-posterior (AP) direction (JC_x) , medial-lateral (ML) direction (JC_y) , and vertical (VT) direction (JC_z) using Equation (4). To account for variations in crawling velocity and to standardize results, all JC values were normalized by the total duration of each crawling cycle, T. Per subject, the normalized JC were then averaged across all valid crawling cycles.

EMG Analysis

EMG preprocessing

The sEMG signals were band-pass filtered (10–400 Hz) using a 4th-order, zero-phase Butterworth digital filter and a 50 Hz digital notch filter for reducing the power interference. The filtered sEMG signals were then divided into segments according to the initiation of each crawling cycle. Segments of filtered sEMG signals were subsequently demeaned, rectified, and lowpass filtered with a zero lag 4th-order low-pass (9 Hz) to


extract envelope. The envelope was then normalized to its peak value during each trial, then resampled from 0~100% of the crawling cycle at the 1% step increase. Finally, the normalized envelopes of per participant and per muscle were averaged cross all valid cycles. The averaged envelopes composed the EMG data matrix (8 × 101) for an individual subject during crawling.

Non-negative matrix factorization

A non-negative matrix factorization was applied to each EMG data matrix to extract muscle synergies. This method decomposed the measured EMG data matrices (M) into two components, spatial structure (W, termed the muscle synergies) and temporal structure (C, or relative activation of those synergies), as expressed by the following equation:

$$M^{m \times t} = W^{m \times n} C^{n \times t} + \varepsilon$$

In this equation, W is an $m \times n$ matrix where m is the number of muscles (in this study m = 8) and n is the number of muscle synergies. C is an $n \times t$ matrix where t is number of time points (101 across the normalized crawling cycle in this study). ε represents the error between the measured EMG data (M) and the reconstructed EMG from W and C. Thus, each column of W represents the relative weighting of muscles in each synergy, and each row of C represents the activation level of each synergy over the gait cycle. Nonnegative matrix factorization was repeated within an iterative optimization, which minimized the sum of squared error between the activations calculated by W × C and the measured EMG data (15). A typical decomposition result is shown in **Figure 2**.

Determining the number of muscle synergies

We made no a priori assumptions regarding the number of synergies (s) that would be needed to adequately reconstruct the original EMG. The goodness of fit of the data reconstruction was quantified by the variance accounted for (VAF, ranging 0–1), defined as $VAF = 1 - ||\varepsilon||^2/||M||^2$ (6, 16, 17). This is a similarity metric that is similar to Pearson correlation coefficient (r^2). However, VAF is a more stringent criterion than r^2 because

it evaluates both shape and magnitude of the measured and reconstructed curves (17).

For each subject, we determined the least number of muscle synergies that satisfied the following 2 criteria: (1) the overall reconstructed EMGs accounted for at least 90% of the variance across all muscles (VAF>90%); and (2) each reconstructed EMGs accounted for >75% VAF of the measurement from the corresponding single muscle. These criteria are considered conservative to ensure goodness of reconstruction (6). An example of raw EMG signals and the corresponding muscle synergy was shown in **Figure 3**.

Quantifying the structure of muscle synergy

As an indicator of selective control and coordination, the number of co-activating muscles contributing to a single muscle synergy was calculated. Specifically, muscles in a synergy were defined as active if their normalized weight values exceeded 0.3 (18). Therefore, for each muscle synergy, the number of co-activating muscles varied from 8 (i.e., all the recorded muscles co-activated) to 1 (i.e., no co-activations). The number of co-activating muscles per synergy was calculated for each subject.

Statistical Analysis

Group difference in the number of muscle synergies, the number of co-activating muscles per synergy, and temporal-spatial parameters were compared using one-way ANOVA (factor of group) with *post-hoc* Bonferroni corrections for multiple comparisons.

In addition, a 2-way repeated measures ANOVA (withinsubjects factor of directions (AP, ML, and VT), and group) was used for the dependent variable of the normalized JC value. A Bonferroni corrected *post-hoc* test was used if there was a significant effect.

Spearman rank correlation tests were performed for correlating kinetic indices (the number of co-activating muscles per synergy) and kinematics (normalized JC values). Significance level was set at p < 0.05. All analyses were performed using the statistical software package SPSS18.0. The results that showed a significant effect were marked with an asterisk in all figures.





FIGURE 3 | (A) Example of raw sEMG collected from an infant with typical development (left figure) and the corresponding four muscle synergy identified by NMF algorithm (right figure); (B) Example of raw sEMG collected from an infant with confirmed development delay (left figure) and the corresponding one muscle synergy extracted by NMF algorithm (right figure).

RESULTS

Comparison of the Temporal-Spatial Parameters and Normalized JC Values

A one-way ANOVA found no significant effect of group for the temporal-spatial parameters of velocity (F = 0.445, p = 0.643), cadence (F = 0.289, p = 0.750), or stance phase time (F = 0.716, p = 0.493).

The 2-way repeated measures ANOVA showed a significant effect of group (F = 7.591, p < 0.01, observed power = 0.936) and direction (F = 34.301, p < 0.01, observed power = 1) on the normalized JC value. No significant interaction between these 2 factors was found (F = 1.24, p = 0.297). *Post-hoc* test using Bonferroni corrections revealed higher normalized JC values in the CDD group (averaged across AP, ML, and VT directions) compared to TD (p < 0.01) and ARDD (p < 0.01) groups (shown in **Figure 4A**). Further *post-hoc* testing showed higher

normalized JC values (averaged across TD, ARDD, and CDD groups) in the VT direction compared to AP (p < 0.01) and ML (p < 0.01) direction (shown in **Figure 4B**).

Comparison of the Number of Muscle Synergies in Infant Crawling

Of the 20 infants with TD measured, two synergies were identified in 60% (12 subjects), three synergies in 35% (7 subjects), and four synergies in 5% (1 subject). Of the 33 infants with ARDD measured, 45.5% (15 subjects) demonstrated two synergies, and 54.5% (18 subjects) three synergies. Of the 13 infants with CDD measured, 15.38% (2 subjects) demonstrated only one synergy and 84.62% (11 subjects) showed two synergies. There was a significant effect of group in the number of muscle synergies (F = 7.194, p = 0.002, observed power = 0.923) during crawling. A significantly reduced number of synergies (1.846 \pm 0.375) was identified in infants with CDD during crawling





compared with infants with TD (2.450 \pm 0.604) and ARDD (2.450 \pm 0.503), respectively. No significant differences were identified in the number of synergies observed between infants with TD and ARDD (**Figure 5**).

Comparison of the Number of Co-activating Muscles Per Synergy

There was a significant effect of group in the number of coactivating muscles per synergy (F = 4.889, p = 0.011, observed power = 0.786). As shown in **Figure 6**, co-activation levels were significantly higher in the CDD group (5.730 ± 1.129) compared to the TD (4.979 ± 0.501, p = 0.03) and ARDD (4.95 ± 0.787, p= 0.012) group, respectively. There was no significant difference between TD and ARDD group (p > 0.05).

Correlations of Muscle Synergy and Kinematic Indices

There were no significant correlations found between the number of co-activating muscles per synergy and crawling velocity, crawling cadence or normalized stance phase time.



Figure 7 reports the number of co-activating muscles per synergy plotted vs. normalized JC value. The number of co-activating muscles per synergy was significantly correlated (r = 0.330, p = 0.007) to the normalized JC value for all infants (**Figure 7**).

DISCUSSIONS

Reduced Movement Smoothness During Crawling in Infants With Developmental Delay

During crawling on hands and knees, there was less smoothness in the movements of infants with known developmental delay. A prevailing hypothesis is that the central nervous system (CNS) is organized so that motor output strategy minimizes critical parameters of trajectory such as jerk (19) in order to achieve an accurate and smooth movement. This hypothesis has been supported by observations that those with neurological diseases affecting their CNS, such as stroke (20) and cerebral palsy (21),



have less smoothness than control participants. Extending to the current study, our results of decreased smoothness in infants with developmental delay could be the result of a suboptimal motor command, due to the delayed or impaired development of the CNS (22). On the other hand, the main role of the CNS in generating smooth trajectories has been questioned by other authors (23) who suggested that the intrinsic properties of muscle tissue may be sufficient to produce smooth motion. Considering this hypothesis, the results of decreased smoothness could be related to muscle property differences, such those reported after neurological injury (24). Our results indicate that reduced smoothness of movement in CDD group could also emerge as a result of increased muscle co-activations, which is supported by the significant correlations between the number of co-activating muscles and the normalized JC value (**Figure 7**).

With regards the temporal-spatial parameters, the lack of significant difference between groups was likely because the recruited infants from the 3 groups are at a similar developmental age, as indicated by the clinical assessments.

Constrained Neuromuscular Control Strategy During Crawling in Infants With Developmental Delay

The number of muscle synergies identified in infants with CDD was lower compared to infants with TD and ARDD (**Figure 5**). The reduced number of muscle synergies were consistent with the results during walking in individuals with cerebral palsy (8), Parkinson's disease (25), and stroke (6), suggesting impaired muscle coordination. Our results suggest that infants with developmental delay, who were at high risk of cerebral palsy, have less degrees-of-freedom when coordinating muscles and

show a constrained neuromuscular control. It is hypothesized that muscle synergies may represent a library of motor subtasks, and the CNS can flexibly combine them to produce complex and natural movements (26). Damage to the CNS, such as in cerebral palsy or stroke, disrupts this combination process, resulting in recruiting less subtasks (synergies). This points to the importance of intact descending control to appropriately recruit a full library of muscle synergies.

Our study also showed that the number of co-activating muscles per synergy was higher in infants with CDD compared to infants with TD and ARDD (**Figure 6**), which implies more muscle co-contractions during crawling in infants with developmental delay. Increased co-contraction of muscles was also shown in individuals with spinal cord injury (7), cerebral palsy and stroke during locomotion (27, 28). Previous studies have shown that a reduction in the descending signals resulted in higher co-activation of muscle (29). Therefore, higher muscles co-activations could indicate that developmental delay in the CDD group was the result of a brain injury in the infant's early life, even if it was not apparent from brain imaging.

Clinical Implications

Our results demonstrated that muscle synergy indices (such as the number of synergies and co-activating muscles per synergy) and kinematic output (normalized JC value) were significantly different between infants with confirmed developmental delay (CDD) and typical developing infants (TD), whereas these same variables did not show a significant difference between typical developing infants (TD) and infants at risk of development delay (ARDD). This result validates the concordance between metrics derived in this study and the clinical indicators of motor delay (i.e., Gesell Developmental Scale), suggesting that synergy indices and kinematic output variables are linked in a meaningful way with developmental delay on a group level. However, the group level for these more sensitive metrics can be extended to further understanding of individual participants, especially those at risk for developmental delay later in life.

These results of muscle synergy and movement smoothness analysis during crawling imply a different control strategy between infants with different risks or severity of developmental delay. In spite of their risk factors, the ARDD group was not found to be clinically delayed in the less sensitive clinical measures, but the presence of CNS impairment could become apparent in more sensitive metrics such as muscle synergy assessment, which may be useful in future for the development of more CNS specific rehabilitation plans.

Limitations and Opportunities for Future Work

This study quantified and compared the inter-limb muscle synergy and kinematics during crawling between typically developing infants and infants with developmental delay in a novel way. There are a few limitations that need to be acknowledged. Quadrupedal locomotion requires the coordinated behavior of many muscles of the arms, legs, and trunk (30). Because of the small size of infant's limb and the difficulty of measuring locomotion in infants, we measured four primary muscles from each of the arms and legs. In future work, the experimental protocol will be improved by measuring more skeletal muscles such as the gluteus maximus, abdominal and back muscles.

The cohorts of this study were matched on *developmental* age in order to collect data when they all had similar functional control over their body in order to successfully perform handsand-knees crawling. However, due to motor delays there was a significant difference in the *chronological* age of the infant groups studied where the CDD group was older. If the hypotheses being tested were relative to the chronological or biological age of the CNS, the TD group could have been matched on chronologic age—but it would be anticipated that in that case an older cohort of TD children would have at least similar, if not better, skill in crawling than the current typical group, and thus may result even bigger difference between TD and CDD groups.

We also recognize that there are other potential confounding factors, such as different risk factors and etiologies for development delay (premature delivery, low birth weight, or lack of oxygen during birth), which may indicate different mechanisms for development delay. However, the investigation of these confounding factors is beyond the interests of the current study.

There are the two extreme data points in Figure 7, showing 2 CDD participants who demonstrated both very high JC values and co-activation of all or nearly all of the recorded muscles during crawling, which was visually different than the cluster formed by the TD group. One of them was identified by SPSS boxplot (use a step of $1.5 \times$ interquartile range) as an "out" value. If we exclude this data point and the correlation within the rest 65 infants was still significant (r = 0.298, p = 0.016).). These two extreme data points suggests that they always activate all the muscles and lack the movement smoothness. Some of the infants with confirmed development delay (CDD) will likely receive a diagnosis of cerebral palsy, which is characterized with by the presence of spasticity and decreased selective motor control (31, 32). A future study should include follow-up with the CDD and ARDD infants, in order to ascertain if features of the crawling data are predictive of a later diagnosis of cerebral palsy.

Even considering the limitations above, the potential for assessing motor function and understanding of the state of the neuromuscular system during crawling period is an exciting prospect. Assessment of pathological impairment in motor control during walking can be conducted by gait analysis, which is been widely used in clinics and typically provides quantified

REFERENCES

- Tieman BL, Palisano RJ, Sutlive AC. Assessment of motor development and function in preschool children. *Mental Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev.* (2005) 11:189–96. doi: 10.1002/mrdd.20074
- Freedland RL, Bertenthal BI. Developmental-changes in interlimb coordination-transition to hands-and-kness crawling. *Psychol Sci.* (1994) 5:26–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.1994.tb00609.x
- 3. Patrick SK, Noah JA, Yang JF. Interlimb coordination in human crawling reveals similarities in development and neural control with

metrics of kinematics and muscle activity (33). For those infants without walking ability, movement abnormalities are typically assessed by screening tests or visual analysis of their movement quality. This study demonstrates that utilizing more quantitative metrics can reveal impaired neuromuscular strategies before the onset of walking skills and provide insight for development of rehabilitation of protocols during infants' crawling stage. The long-term goal of this work is to develop a standardized measure, similar to gait analysis, that can assess motor function in infant crawling on an individual basis.

CONCLUSION

This study demonstrated that infants with developmental delay demonstrated fewer inter-limb muscle synergies, increased number of muscles that co-contracted, and reduced movement smoothness during crawling on hands and knees, compared to typical developing infants. In addition, more co-activations across inter-limb muscles are considered to be attributable to the reduced movement smoothness in infant crawling. These muscle coordination and kinematic output deficits revealed impaired neuromuscular strategies during the infant crawling stage.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WH, XW, NX, LC, and XZ designed the work. QX and YL collected the data. QX analyzed the data. JY, TS-M, and WH interpreted the data. QX and JY drafted the manuscript. TS-M and WH helped to create the final report.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31470953, 31771069), the Chongqing Science & Technology Program (cstc2016shmszx130060, cstc2015jcyjB0538), and the graduate research and innovation foundation of Chongqing, China (Grant No. CYB17038).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We much appreciate the infants and their parents for participating in this study. Thank you to the Department of Rehabilitation Center, Children's Hospital of Chongqing Medical University for recruiting infants and their help in data collection.

quadrupeds. J Neurophysiol. (2009) 101:603-13. doi: 10.1152/jn.91125 .2008

- Patrick SK, Noah JA, Yang JF. Developmental constraints of quadrupedal coordination across crawling styles in human infants. *J Neurophysiol.* (2012) 107:3050–61. doi: 10.1152/jn.00029.2012
- Xiong QL, Hou WS, Xiao N, Chen YX, Yao J, Zheng XL, et al. Motor skill development alters kinematics and co-activation between flexors and extensors of limbs in human infant crawling. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2018) 26:780–7. doi: 10.1109/tnsre.2017.27 85821

- Clark DJ, Ting LH, Zajac FE, Neptune RR, Kautz SA. Merging of healthy motor modules predicts reduced locomotor performance and muscle coordination complexity post-stroke. *J Neurophysiol.* (2010) 103:844–57. doi: 10.1152/jn.00825.2009
- Milosevic M, Yokoyama H, Grangeon M, Masani K, Popovic MR, Nakazawa K, et al. Muscle synergies reveal impaired trunk muscle coordination strategies in individuals with thoracic spinal cord injury. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* (2017) 36:40–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2017.06.007
- Steele KM, Rozumalski A, Schwartz MH. Muscle synergies and complexity of neuromuscular control during gait in cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2015) 57:1176–82. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12826
- Dominici N, Ivanenko YP, Cappellini G, d'Avella A, Mondi V, Cicchese M, et al. Locomotor primitives in newborn babies and their development. *Science* (2011) 334:997–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1210617
- Li S, Zhuang C, Niu CM, Bao Y, Xie Q, Lan N. Evaluation of functional correlation of task-specific muscle synergies with motor performance in patients poststroke. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:337. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00337
- 11. Chen X, Niu XC, Wu D, Yu Y, Zhang X. Investigation of the intra- and inter-limb muscle coordination of hands-and-knees crawling in human adults by means of muscle synergy analysis. *Entropy* (2017) 19:229. doi: 10.3390/e19050229
- di Biase L, Summa S, Tosi J, Taffoni F, Marano M, Rizzo AC, et al. Quantitative analysis of bradykinesia and rigidity in Parkinson's disease. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:121. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00121
- Smith BA, Vanderbilt DL, Applequist B, Kyvelidou A. Sample entropy identifies differences in spontaneous leg movement behavior between infants with typical development and infants at risk of developmental delay. *Technologies* (2017) 5:55. doi: 10.3390/technologies5030055
- Szczesna A, Blaszczyszyn M. Quantitative analysis of arm movement smoothness. In: Simos T, Tsitouras C, editors. Proceedings of the International Conference on Numerical Analysis and Applied Mathematics 2016. AIP Conference Proceedings (2017).
- Lee DD, Seung HS. Learning the parts of objects by non-negative matrix factorization. *Nature* (1999) 401:788–91.
- Cheung VCK, Turolla A, Agostini M, Silvoni S, Bennis C, Kasi P, et al. Muscle synergy patterns as physiological markers of motor cortical damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:14652–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1212056109
- Torres-Oviedo G, Macpherson JM, Ting LH. Muscle synergy organization is robust across a variety of postural perturbations. *J Neurophysiol.* (2006) 96:1530–46. doi: 10.1152/jn.00810.2005
- Zelik KE, La Scaleia V, Ivanenko YP, Lacquaniti F. Can modular strategies simplify neural control of multidirectional human locomotion? J Neurophysiol. (2014) 111:1686–702. doi: 10.1152/jn.00776.2013
- Flash T, Hogan N. The coordination of arm movements an experimentally confirmed mathematical-model. J Neurosci. (1985) 5:1688–703.
- Rohrer B, Fasoli S, Krebs HI, Hughes R, Volpe B, Frontera WR, et al. Movement smoothness changes during stroke recovery. J Neurosci. (2002) 22:8297–304.
- Krebs HI, Fasoli SE, Dipietro L, Fragala-Pinkham M, Hughes R, Stein J, et al. Motor learning characterizes habilitation of children with hemiplegic cerebral palsy. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* (2012) 26:855. doi: 10.1177/1545968311433427

- Takahashi CD, Nemet D, Rose-Gottron CM, Larson JK, Cooper DM, Reinkensmeyer DJ. Neuromotor noise limits motor performance, but not motor adaptation, in children. J Neurophysiol. (2003) 90:703–11. doi: 10.1152/jn.01173.2002
- Gribble PL, Ostry DJ. Origins of the power law relation between movement velocity and curvature: modeling the effects of muscle mechanics and limb dynamics. J Neurophysiol. (1996) 76:2853–60.
- Kruse A, Schranz C, Svehlik M, Tilp M. Mechanical muscle and tendon properties of the plantar flexors are altered even in highly functional children with spastic cerebral palsy. *Clin Biomech.* (2017) 50:139–44. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2017.10.019
- Rodriguez KL, Roemmich RT, Cam B, Fregly BJ, Hass CJ. Persons with Parkinson's disease exhibit decreased neuromuscular complexity during gait. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2013) 124:1390–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2013. 02.006
- d'Avella A, Bizzi E. Shared and specific muscle synergies in natural motor behaviors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:3076–81. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500199102
- Rosa MCN, Marques A, Demain S, Metcalf CD, Rodrigues J. Methodologies to assess muscle co-contraction during gait in people with neurological impairment - A systematic literature review. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* (2014) 24:179–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2013.11.003
- Banks CL, Huang HJ, Little VL, Patten C. Electromyography exposes heterogeneity in muscle co-contraction following stroke. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:699. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00699
- Hart CB, Giszter SF. Modular premotor drives and unit bursts as primitives for frog motor behaviors. J Neurosci. (2004) 24:5269–82. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.5626-03.2004
- Ruder L, Takeoka A, Arber S. Long-distance descending spinal neurons ensure quadrupedal locomotor stability. *Neuron* (2016) 92:1063–78. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2016.10.032
- Cahill-Rowley K, Rose J. Etiology of impaired selective motor control: emerging evidence and its implications for research and treatment in cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2014) 56:522–8. doi: 10.1111/dmcn. 12355
- Sanger TD, Chen DF, Delgado MR, Gaebler-Spira D, Hallett M, Mink JW, et al. Definition and classification of negative motor signs in childhood. *Pediatrics* (2006) 118:2159–67. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-3016
- Baker R. Gait analysis methods in rehabilitation. J Neuroeng Rehabil. (2006) 3:4. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-3-4

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Xiong, Wu, Yao, Sukal-Moulton, Xiao, Chen, Zheng, Liu and Hou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Increased Corticomuscular Coherence and Brain Activation Immediately After Short-Term Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation

Rui Xu^{1,2}, Yaoyao Wang^{1,2}, Kun Wang^{1,2}, Shufeng Zhang^{1,2}, Chuan He^{1,2} and Dong Ming^{1,2*}

¹ Lab of Neural Engineering & Rehabilitation, Department of Biomedical Engineering, College of Precision Instruments and Optoelectronics Engineering, Tianjin University, Tianjin, China, ² Tianjin International Joint Research Center for Neural Engineering, Academy of Medical Engineering and Translational Medicine, Tianjin University, Tianjin, China

Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation (NMES) is commonly used in motor rehabilitation for stroke patients. It has been verified that NMES can improve muscle strength and activate the brain, but the studies on how NMES affects the corticomuscular connection are limited. Some studies found an increased corticomuscular coherence (CMC) after a long-term NMES. However, it is still unknown about CMC during NMES, as relatively pure EMG is very difficult to obtain with the contamination of NMES current pulses. In order to approach the condition during NMES, we designed an experiment with short-term NMES and immediately captured data within 100 s. The repetition of wrist flexion was used to realize static muscle contractions for CMC calculation and dynamic contractions for event-related desynchronization (ERD). The result of 13 healthy participants showed that maximal values (p = 0.0020) and areas (p = 0.0098) of CMC and beta ERD were significantly increased immediately after NMES. It was concluded that a short-term NMES can still reinforce corticomuscular functional connection and brain activation related to motor task. This study verified the immediate strengthen of corticomuscular changes after NMES, which was expected to be the basis of long-term neural plasticity induced by NMES.

Keywords: neuromuscular electrical stimulation, corticomuscular coherence, event-related desynchronization, functional connection, brain activation

INTRODUCTION

Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation (NMES) is a technique that can generate contractions of paralyzed or paretic muscles by applying electrical current on these muscles (1). Confidential evidence has shown that NMES can increase the maximal voluntary contraction and neural activation assessed by the twitch interpolation technique (2). Poststroke rehabilitation with NMES has been found to effectively prevent muscle atrophy, improve muscle strength (1, 3) and coordination (4). More recently, a study published in *Nature Communications* revealed the efficacy and mechanisms of brain-actuated functional electrical stimulation via the clinical performance and functional connectivity (5).

The influence of NMES on muscles is easy to understand as NMES is directly applied to muscles. However, the effect in muscles is not enough to realize motor rehabilitation, since the brain plays an important role in motor recovery. Phenomena of event-related desynchronization/synchronization

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ping Zhou, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States

Reviewed by:

Qining Wang, Peking University, China Xiang Chen, University of Science and Technology of China, China

> *Correspondence: Dong Ming richardming@tju.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 30 June 2018 Accepted: 01 October 2018 Published: 23 October 2018

Citation:

Xu R, Wang Y, Wang K, Zhang S, He C and Ming D (2018) Increased Corticomuscular Coherence and Brain Activation Immediately After Short-Term Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation. Front. Neurol. 9:886. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00886

42

(ERD/ERS) of EEG could be found at the frontal and parietal areas when limb movements are executed or imagined, which shows a power decrease/increase in the alpha (8–13 Hz) and beta (14–30 Hz) bands (6). The ERD pattern was used to indicate brain activation and sensitive to different movement speed on action observation (7). What's interesting is that NMES applied on muscles also affects Electroencephalogram (EEG) oscillatory (8), which verifies that NMES on the muscles can activate related brain area, and this activation pattern represented by ERD is similar to that under active movement. Lo et al. used near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) to investigate cortical activation of different-intensity electrical stimulations (9). These studies evaluated the efficacy of NMES from the view of brain activation.

Moreover, corticomuscular coherence (CMC) is a method to estimate neural coupling via Magnetoencephalogram (MEG) or EEG and Electromyogram (EMG). CMC has drawn much attention since it was first discovered by Conway et al. (10). For now, we have known that the strength of CMC is adjusted or affected by attention (11), muscle contraction type (12, 13), muscle contraction force (14, 15), muscle fatigue (16, 17), and motor learning (18). As CMC statistically calculated the synchronization between the brain and muscle signals, it reflects functional connection between the motor cortex and muscles (19). Due to this, CMC of stroke patients has obtained some focus since Mima et al. first revealed that there was significant EEG-EMG coherence only in the unaffected side of the brain (20). Except for the amplitude of CMC, the location is still different for stroke patients and the control. Rossiter et al. found that the CMC of stroke patients were located more widely than healthy people (21). It may verify that brain regions in the contralesional hemisphere were involved to help recover motor functions. In 2017, the result of an interesting study demonstrated that although CMC was reduced in the acute phase after stroke, there was no significant change within the following 4 \sim 6 weeks despite of improved behavioral performance (22). Maybe CMC is not an efficient marker for early recovery of motor function following stroke. The continuous learning of CMC should help us make CMC more sensitive to the rehabilitation of stroke.

CMC calculation provides a new perspective to study the efficacy of NMES. Lai et al. have done interesting and important exploration on the EEG-EMG coherence affected by long-term sensory electrical stimulation (23, 24). They found that the electrical stimulation causing no muscle contraction and pain increased the EEG-EMG coherence. The accurate CMC during NMES is also necessary as it provides direct information on the effect of NMES, and reflects transient neural plasticity. However, it is difficult to obtain pure EMG, as the stimulation current contaminates EMG severely. Therefore, we designed an experiment to capture the immediate effect of a short-term NMES and analyzed both functional connection and brain activation via CMC and ERD respectively. We hypothesized that CMC could be strengthened immediately after NMES.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Experiments

Thirteen healthy right-handed people (5 females and 8 males; mean age: 21.2 \pm 1.1 years old) from Tianjin University

participated in the study. The participants had no history of neuromuscular disorders. The study was approved by the ethics committee of Tianjin University. All participants signed informed consent in advance.

The experiment consisted of one long voluntary session (300 s) and three stimulated plus short voluntary sessions (100 s + 100 s) shown in **Figure 1A**. There was a rest for 5 to 10 min between two sessions. There were 30 trials in the long voluntary session, and 10 trials in each short voluntary session. Each voluntary trial started with 2-s wrist flexing, followed by 5-s wrist flexion holding and 1-s relaxing, and ended up with 3-s resting (**Figure 1B**).

Before the experiment, the participant was seated in front of a 17" monitor with his right arm on the table (Figure 2A). His right hand was relaxed to make a slight fist. During the experiment, the participant followed the instructions on the monitor (generated by Psychtoolbox within Matlab) to complete each trial: he flexed his right wrist when "Flexing" showed up in the monitor, held the flexed wrist for the "Holding" part, and then relaxed and rested according to the cue (Figure 1B). There was a time label at the onset of holding part. During the stimulated session, the participant was seated still like in the voluntary session and his/her wrist was relaxed without any voluntary movement. His/Her right flexor carpi radialis (FCR) was electrically stimulated for 100 s, with the stimulation frequency at 30 Hz and the peak current varying from 7 to 13 mA for different participants (mean: 10.9 \pm 2.3 mA). The wrist of the participant was kept flexed under this stimulation. The stimulation intensity was determined at each participant's tolerance with an actual wrist flexion before the first stimulated session: the peak current was raised from 5 mA by 1 mA each time until the participant felt uncozy and asked to stop (the maximal current), and the peak current used in the stimulated session was 1 mA less than the maximal current. The maximal current is listed individually in Table 1.

Data Recording and Preprocessing

EEG and surface electromyography (sEMG) data were acquired simultaneously with a Neuroscan SynAmps2 amplifier, hardware-filtered in the frequency range of 0.015–250 Hz and sampled at 1,000 Hz. EEG data was recorded with 64 electrodes located in the positions following the 10/20 system (**Figure 2B**), while sEMG data was recorded by 2 Ag/AgCl electrodes placed on the surface of FCR (2-cm interelectrode distance). The recorded data were referenced to the nose and grounded at the prefrontal lobe. An additional 50-Hz notch filter was used during data acquisition.

Data analyses were performed using Matlab R2017b (MathWorks, MA, USA), with the toolbox EEGLAB (Swartz Center for Computational Neuroscience; http://sccn.ucsd.edu/eeglab/). The acquired EEG data at C1, C3, and C5 electrodes were re-referenced using the surface Laplacian technique (25) according to (1), (2), and (3).

- $V_{C1'} = V_{C1} (V_{FC1} + V_{CP1} + V_{C3} + V_{Cz})/4$ (1)
- $V_{C3'} = V_{C3} \left(V_{FC3} + V_{CP3} + V_{C1} + V_{C5}\right)/4$ (2)
- $V_{C5'} = V_{C5} (V_{FC5} + V_{CP5} + V_{C3} + V_{T7})/4$ (3)



FIGURE 1 | Experimental protocol. (A) The complete experiment, consisting of one long voluntary sessions (300 s) and three stimulated plus short voluntary sessions (100 s + 100 s). (B) One trial in voluntary sessions, with 1-s wrist flexing, 5-s flexion holding, 1-s wrist relaxing and 3-s wrist resting.



```
FIGURE 2 | Experiment scene. (A) The photo of one participant during the experiment. (B) Channel locations according to the international 10–20 system.
```

where V_I (I = C1, FC1, CP1, Cz, C3, FC3, CP3, C5, FC5, CP5, or T7) indicates the EEG data acquired at the electrode I and $V_{C1'}$, $V_{C3'}$, and $V_{C5'}$ were the re-referenced EEG data at C1, C3, and C5. Then a 4th-order zero-phase Butterworth filter was used to obtain filtered EEG data ($5 \sim 45$ Hz) and sEMG data ($20 \sim 250$ Hz). The full-wave rectified sEMG were obtained as the absolute value of the data.

There were 30 trials (in the long voluntary session) before and 10×3 trials (in the short voluntary sessions) after the stimulated sessions (**Figure 1A**). A 3072-point data part started from the time label was extracted from the "Holding" part of each trial

(**Figure 1B**). The re-referenced C1 EEG, C3 EEG, C5 EEG, and sEMG data before or after stimulation consisted of 30 data parts. Each data part was further divided into 6 segments of 512 points. In total, 180 data segments were used to calculate the EEG-EMG coherence.

СМС

Denoting the fast Fourier transform (FFT) of the *i*th segment of C3 EEG by $X_i(f)$ and of the *i*th segment of rectified sEMG by $Y_i(f)$, the coherence (*Coh*) at frequency *f* was estimated as:

TABLE 1 | The peak current and C3 EEG-EMG coherence for individuals.

No. of participant	Peak current (mA)	Max of Coh _s		Area of Coh _s		
		Before	After	Before	After	
1	7	0.0018	0.0235	0.0018	0.0337	
2	13	0.0019	0.0143	0.0019	0.0162	
3	9	0.0005	0.0115	0.0005	0.0188	
4	13	0.0122	0.0131	0.0231	0.0138	
5	10	0	0.0322	0	0.0389	
6	13	0.0210	0.1029	0.0376	0.1542	
7	11	0.0107	0.0148	0.0107	0.0227	
8	10	0.0026	0.0069	0.0034	0.0095	
9	15	0	0	0	0	
10	10	0.0029	0.0068	0.0029	0.0122	
11	10	0.0005	0	0.0005	0	
12	8	0.0008	0.0016	0.0008	0.0016	
13	13	0	0	0	0	

The values in bold indicate increases after NMES.

$$Coh(f) = \frac{\left|\sum_{i=1}^{N} X_{i}^{*}(f) Y_{i}(f)\right|^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} X_{i}(f) X_{i}^{*}(f) \sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_{i}(f) Y_{i}^{*}(f)}$$
(4)

where i = 1, ..., N is the number of data segments available for analysis, and * denotes complex conjugate. The use of 512-point segments with a sampling rate of 1,000 Hz provided a 1.95 Hz frequency resolution in the coherence spectra. The C1 and C5 EEG-EMG coherence was calculated in the same way.

The confidence level for the coherence (26) was calculated as:

$$CL(\alpha) = 1 - (1 - \alpha)^{\frac{1}{N-1}}$$
 (5)

where *N* is the number of data segments and α is the desired level of confidence. We considered coherence to be significant above the 95% confidence limit ($\alpha = 0.95$). As there were 180 segments for coherence calculation, CL was 0.0166 according to (5).

The significant coherence Coh_s used in this study was calculated as (6). This calculation neglected the small differences of CMC below CL. The maximal value of Coh_s was also used to indicate the strongest corticomuscular connection before or after NMES.

$$Coh_{s}\left(f\right) = \begin{cases} Coh\left(f\right) - 0.0166 & \text{if } Coh\left(f\right) > 0.0166\\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$
(6)

The mean curve of significant coherence M_{coh} was obtained by (7).

$$M_{Coh}\left(f\right) = \frac{1}{K} \sum_{i=1}^{K} Coh_s\left(f\right) \tag{7}$$

where *K* is the total number of participants.

Area of Significant Coherence

The C1, C3, and C5 EEG-EMG coherence values below CL were set to zero according to (6). Only the significant coherence was used in the area calculation. The area of significant coherence (A_{Coh}) within 5 ~ 45Hz can be used to estimate the strength of corticomuscular coupling (18), and it was calculated as:

$$A_{Coh} = \sum_{f=5Hz}^{45Hz} Coh_s(f) \tag{8}$$

Center of Gravity for Frequency

To detect the frequency shifts of the coherence spectrum, we calculated the Center of Gravity for the frequency (CoG_f), that is, the frequency at which coherence is concentrated and balanced. The CoG_f of C3 EEG-EMG coherence was obtained by (9).

$$CoG_{f} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i} \cdot Coh_{s}\left(f_{i}\right)}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} Coh_{s}\left(f_{i}\right)}$$
(9)

where i=1,...,n indicates the number of significant bins with its respective frequency f_i and coherence Coh_s .

Median Frequency of sEMG

In order to exclude the effect of muscle fatigue on CMC, we also calculated the median frequency of sEMG before and after the stimulated sessions. The median frequency is defined as the frequency that divided the spectrum into two equal areas. It has been widely used in the studies related to muscle fatigue (27, 28). The median frequency of sEMG during different sessions were calculated and compared to indicate the fatigue states in this study.

ERD

The re-referenced and filtered EEG data at C3 channel was downsampled to 200 Hz for ERD analysis. The event-related spectral perturbation (ERSP) method allowed us to inspect the spectral power changes of EEG in the view of time-frequency domain. Therefore, ERSP was calculated as:

$$ERSP(f,t) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(F_i(f,t)^2 \right)$$
(10)

where i = 1, ..., n is the number of trials, and $F_i(f, t)$ is the spectral estimation of the *i*th trial at frequency f and time t (29). Short-time Fourier transform (STFT) was used to perform time-frequency analysis with a Hanning window. The number of windows was set to 200 with the length of 512 points. ERSP was calculated using 30 trials of data and the data length was 10 s for each trial, with 2 s before movement onset and 8 s after (1-s flexing, 5-s holding, 1-s relaxing and 1-s resting). Baseline-normalized ERSP was calculated relative to the baseline period (before movement onset).

Frontiers in Neurology | www.frontiersin.org

In order to investigate the difference of brain oscillation before and after NMES, the ERD at C3 within 1 s after the movement onset was extracted as follows:

$$ERD\left(f\right) = \sum_{t=0s}^{1s} ERSP\left(f,t\right) \tag{11}$$

The first second after movement onset indicated the wrist flexion period, excluding the holding part.

Statistical Analysis

All the features mentioned above before and after NMES, including the maximal values and areas of Coh_s , CoG_f , and ERD values, were compared with Wilcoxon signed rank test. The significance was calculated two-tailed. For the CoG_f , only data with significant coherence both before and after NMES were considered.

RESULTS

CMC

We calculated the EEG-EMG coherence of all the subjects. The C3 EEG-EMG coherence before (blue line) and after (red line) NMES of each participant is listed in **Figure 3**. There were some participants who did not present significant EEG-EMG coherence before or after NMES, such as P9, P11, P12, and P13.

The grand average of significant coherence is shown in **Figure 4**. The peak values of mean coherence after NMES were larger than those before NMES in **Figures 4A–C**. It was obvious that NMES had different influence on these three channels of coherence. The maximal values and areas of significant coherence (listed in **Table 1**) were calculated for further statistical analysis. The Wilcoxon signed rank test was used and the result indicated in **Table 2** that the maximal value and area of significant coherence for C3 EEG-EMG coherence after NMES was significantly larger than those before NMES (Max: p = 0.0020; Area: p = 0.0098). Although areas of C1 and C5 EEG-EMG coherence after NMES also increased, there was no significant difference.

There were only 9 participants who showed significant C3 EEG-EMG coherence both before and after NMES. The CoG_f of these 9 participants, its average and median values were listed in **Figure 5**. The average frequency was increased after NMES (Avg.: from 23.7 to 27.8 Hz), but there was no significant frequency shift after NMES according to the result we obtained.

The median frequencies of sEMG are shown in **Figure 6**. The one-way repeated measure ANOVA was used to compare these median frequencies, and no significant difference indicated that the fatigue state of the muscle remained the same given the sensitivity of the median frequency.

ERD

Figure 7 shows the averaged ERSP of C3 EEG before and after NMES. There were obvious ERD patterns (blue area in the figure) in both mu ($8\sim13$ Hz) and beta ($14\sim30$ Hz) rhythms at the beginning and end of the movement part. The average ERD of

certain areas are listed in **Table 3**. It shows that the ERD patterns seems to be weakened in the "holding" part between 1 and 6 s and the strongest ERD patterns occur mainly in mu rhythms. However, these changes are not significant according to the result of a two-way (time: Flexing, Holding, and Relaxing; frequency: mu and beta rhythms) repeated measure ANOVA.

In order to investigate and compare the brain activation before and after NMES, we calculated the ERD values of C3 EEG at different frequency bins according to (5). The Wilcoxon signed rank test was used, and the significant differences between two conditions were shaded by gray blocks in **Figure 8**. The blue and red lines represented normalized ERSP before and after NMES respectively. The ERD patterns were significantly stronger in three sub-beta frequency bands.

DISCUSSION

This study for the first time compared the coticomuscular coherence before and immediately after short-term motoriallevel NMES. We designed an experiment especially for exploring the effect of NMES on the functional connectivity between the brain and muscles. It was clear that the coticomuscular coherence during active movement after NMES was significantly stronger than that before NMES. The result illustrated that NMES strengthened the interaction between the brain and muscles. We also calculated the ERD patterns before and after NMES. The analysis indicated that the ERD patterns were strengthened after NMES. It seems that NMES has a positive influence on the interaction between the brain and muscles and the activation of the brain.

There are many studies working on the rehabilitation effect of NMES. Most of them focus on the comparison of features after NMES training. For example, Sota et al. compared some gait parameters, such as the time of 10-m walking and range of motion for ankle joint, pre- and postintervention to investigate the characteristics of NMES responders (30). CMC combined with clinical functional test was used to estimate the effect of sensory NMES with motor training (24). Although the effect remained after NMES is very important, the instantaneous body response during NMES is also a key point of NMES studies. However, as the stimulation pulses affected and contaminated EMG severely, the studies on the effect during NMES are limited to comparing the features free of EMG, such as walking speed (31), ERD (8) and steady-state somatosensory evoked potential (SSSEP) (32) of the brain, and muscle thickness (33). These studies analyzed the effect of NMES on the whole body, or the brain and muscles separately, without considering motor control based on the interaction between the brain and muscles.

The mechanism of motor control can be revealed by CMC. The application of NMES was certain to cause extreme contamination of sEMG, so we had to compare the CMC before and after NMES to guarantee the data quality and result reliability. There was no studies on the effect-remaining time of NMES, but we believed that the effect of NMES should be the strongest immediately after NMES except for the effect during



coherence after NMES



FIGURE 4 | Grand average of significant EEG-EMG coherence. (A) C5 EEG-EMG coherence. (B) C3 EEG-EMG coherence. (C) C1 EEG-EMG coherence. The blue line indicates significant coherence before NMES, while the red line indicates significant coherence after NMES.

NMES. In this case, the stimulated session and the voluntary session after stimulation was divided into three equal parts individually. We tried to use this paradigm to approach the condition during NMES.

Although CMC has been widely studied and used (34, 35), its generation is still under debate. From the perspective of coherence, a significant coherence between two subsystems can be achieved by either one-way information flow, reciprocal communication, or the third rhythm generator affecting both (36). The result of our study verified that there were at least two directions of information flow: one was from the brain to

muscles, sending cortical motor command; and the other one was from muscles to the brain, caused by NMES. As SSSEP was observed during NMES (32), the regulation of brain activities by NMES was determined. It was possible that the significantly increased CMC was the residual effect of SSSEP.

An interesting detail found in this study was that NMES increased C1, C3, and C5 EEG-EMG coherence average, but only the change in C3 EEG-EMG coherence was significant. It was deduced that the variation of coherence caused by NMES could be used to locate the cortex area in charge of the executed movement. However, whether this change varied with

TABLE 2 | Maximal value and area of significant coherence.

	Max o	Max of Cohs		f Coh _s
	Before	After	Before	After
C5 EEG & EMG	0.0050 ± 0.0073	0.0058 ± 0.0123	0.0067 ± 0.0097	0.0118 ± 0.0329
C3 EEG & EMG	0.0042 ± 0.0064	$0.0175 \pm 0.0274^{*}$	0.0064 ± 0.0114	$0.0247 \pm 0.0408^{*}$
C1 EEG & EMG	0.0056 ± 0.0087	0.0101 ± 0.0162	0.0082 ± 0.0135	0.0127 ± 0.0188

The values in bold are with significant difference compared to the values before NMES. *p < 0.05.





the location of NMES or the contracted muscles was unclear in the present study.

Higher CMC often indicated better communication between the brain and muscles, and higher beta band CMC indicate good motor performance (37). Moreover, beta-band CMC was deemed to be related to motor tasks and performance (12, 14, 15, 38). Our main result based on **Table 2** was that NMES increased



C3 EEG-EMG coherence, which was consistent with the newly published work of Pan et al. (24). They reported an increase of CMC after 4-weeks sensory electrical stimulation. Neural plasticity was believed to contribute to CMC increase of stroke patients, and it was crucial for learning new motor tasks (39). For healthy participants in our study, they did not learn new movement, but learn new muscle contraction patterns (NMES). This should also be regarded as learning a new motor task. According to Hebbian and homeostatic plasticity (40, 41), the CMC change after a short-term NMES reflected a transient plasticity and it could go back to former state without repetition of stimulation.

CMC could be affected by many factors. In this study, muscle contraction type and muscle force were not considered because the tasks in voluntary sessions were the same. The wrist flexed according to the clues on the screen and the data processed were extracted during the "Holding" time. The muscle contraction type in this study was static contraction, and the muscle forces in all the voluntary sessions, which was to keep the wrist flexed, should be the same. No precision requirement guaranteed that there was no difference in the attention (11). The median frequency of sEMG was analyzed to indicate no significant fatigue states. Therefore, the muscle contraction type, muscle force, attention and muscle fatigue were excluded.

The significant CMC is not a universal phenomenon for every person(18, 24). In our study, there were 4 participants who did not show significant CMC before or after NMES. Their peak currents of NMES (10, 15, 10, and 13mA) were relatively

TABLE 3 | Average of ERSP.

	Flexing (0~1s)	Holding (1~6s)	Relaxing (6~7s)
Rhythms	-0.5288 ± 1.2947	-0.4502 ± 1.1315	-0.5898 ± 1.6852
a Rhythms	-0.2408 ± 0.4363	-0.0512 ± 0.3655	-0.2084 ± 0.4829
Rhythms	-0.6906 ± 1.5691	-0.3181 ± 1.4277	-0.8435 ± 2.5954
a Rhythms	-0.4706 ± 0.6950	-0.1424 ± 0.4601	-0.2812 ± 1.0246
	Rhythms a Rhythms Rhythms a Rhythms	Flexing (0~1s) Rhythms -0.5288 ± 1.2947 a Rhythms -0.2408 ± 0.4363 Rhythms -0.6906 ± 1.5691 a Rhythms -0.4706 ± 0.6950	Flexing (0~1s) Holding (1~6s) Rhythms -0.5288 ± 1.2947 -0.4502 ± 1.1315 a Rhythms -0.2408 ± 0.4363 -0.0512 ± 0.3655 Rhythms -0.6906 ± 1.5691 -0.3181 ± 1.4277 a Rhythms -0.4706 ± 0.6950 -0.1424 ± 0.4601



larger (the median value of these currents is 10mA). A larger stimulation current meant this participant was less sensitive to the stimulation, and he needed stronger stimulation to generate muscle contraction. Therefore, we deduced that the participant with insignificant CMC was most likely insensitive to NMES. However, this should be further verified with specifically designed experiments.

ERD patterns was often used to indicate the brain activation. In Figure 7, the weakening of ERD occurred for the holding part. This phenomenon was also shown in (42). This implied that the maintenance of the current sensorimotor state was related to the ERD rebound. The reasons may be that holding a posture was easier to execute than dynamic motor tasks, and the brain completed the static motor task in a low activation level. In order to obtain an obvious ERD variation, we compared ERD of data within the first second after the movement onset. It was found that NMES could induce a stronger ERD pattern. Vidaurre et al. found a stronger ERD pattern during NMES than motor imagery (MI), and successfully used NMES-induced patterns to decode MI (43). In our study, ERD was also strengthened in beta band after NMES. The beta ERD was linked more closely to the primary motor cortex (44, 45). Therefore, the significant cortical beta rhythm suppression showed brain activation related to motor control.

NMES can increase the excitability of human corticospinal (CS) pathways to muscles, which is usually estimated by the motor evoked potentials (MEPs). Mang et al. compared the MEPs induced by transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) before and after an NMES session and found that the MEP amplitude after NMES was significantly larger than that before NMES (46, 47).

Whether the increase in cortical excitability is due to changes at the spinal level, cortical reorganization, or both is unclear. Such increases can strengthen CS pathways damaged by injury or disease and result in enduring improvements in function (1, 48). Here, we hypothesized that the higher CMC and stronger ERD were caused by the strengthened CS pathways.

Our study did not consider the effect caused by stimulation intensities. A study of healthy participants found that higher NMES current intensities led to greater sensorimotor network activation, and this may be attributable to increased attentional/pain processing and to increased sensorimotor integration (49). Therefore, a maximal tolerated intensity was used in our study in order to obtain significant changes of CMC before and after NMES. However, it was still unclear that how the stimulation intensity influenced CMC or whether there was a difference in CMC for sensory- and motorial-level NMES. The comparison will help understand the function of the sensorimotor circuit. The experiment was designed to approach the condition during NMES, but how CMC changed during NMES still needed to be verified.

The study was undertaken among healthy participants. Therefore, whether NMES would have the same effect in stroke patients needs to be studied further. However, NMES has been used to strengthen CS pathways in stroke rehabilitation (1, 48). It is hypothesized that the strengthened CS pathways will induce a stronger CMC in stroke patients. To be noted, the EEG channels of stroke patients for CMC calculation should be different from that of the healthy, as the lesion may be located at C3 or C4. In order to explore the effect of NMES on patients' CMC, some stroke patients will be recruited for the future work.

CONCLUSION

As the estimation of NMES real-time efficacy was limited to brain or bodies separately, we designed an experiment with NMES and repeated voluntary wrist flexion, to explore the instantaneous effect after NMES. The result showed a significant increase of EEG-EMG coherence caused by NMES. Additionally, the significant increment was located in C3 position. The strengthened beta ERD indicated stronger brain activation related to motor function after NMES. Therefore, NMES not only strengthened brain activation, but it also induced a stronger connection between the brain and muscles. This result will help understand NMES-induced corticomuscular connection, and predict the body change during NMES. Based on transient neural plasticity, the immediate change after NMES lays a basis of long-term neural rehabilitation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to conception and design of the study and were involved in drafting and critically revising the

REFERENCES

- Knutson JS, Fu MJ, Sheffler LR, Chae J. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation for motor restoration in hemiplegia. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin North Am.* (2015) 26:729–45. doi: 10.1016/j.pmr.2015.06.002
- Gondin J, Brocca L, Bellinzona E, D'Antona G, Maffiuletti NA, Miotti D, et al. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation training induces atypical adaptations of the human skeletal muscle phenotype: a functional and proteomic analysis. J Appl Physiol (1985) (2011) 110:433–50.
- Nascimento LR, Michaelsen SM, Ada L, Polese JC, Teixeira-Salmela LF. Cyclical electrical stimulation increases strength and improves activity after stroke: a systematic review. J Physiother. (2014) 60:22–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jphys.2013.12.002
- Qian Q, Hu X, Lai Q, Ng SC, Zheng Y, Poon W. Early stroke rehabilitation of the upper limb assisted with an electromyography-driven neuromuscular electrical stimulation-robotic arm. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:447. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00447
- Biasiucci A, Leeb R, Iturrate I, Perdikis S, Al-Khodairy A, Corbet T, et al. Brain-actuated functional electrical stimulation elicits lasting arm motor recovery after stroke. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:2421. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-04673-z
- Pfurtscheller G, Lopes da Silva FH. Event-related EEG/MEG synchronization and desynchronization: basic principles. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (1999) 110:1842– 57. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(99)00141-8
- Luo TJ, Lv J, Chao F, Zhou C. Effect of different movement speed modes on human action observation: an EEG study. *Front Neurosci.* (2018) 12:219. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00219
- Qiu S, Yi W, Xu J, Qi H, Du J, Wang C, et al. Event-related beta EEG changes during active, passive movement and functional electrical stimulation of the lower limb. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2016) 24:283–90. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2015.2476481
- Lo CC, Lin PY, Hoe ZY, Chen JJ. Near infrared spectroscopy study of cortical excitability during electrical stimulation-assisted cycling for neurorehabilitation of stroke patients. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2018) 26:1292–300. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2018. 2829804
- Conway BA, Halliday DM, Farmer SF, Shahani U, Maas P, Weir AI, et al. Synchronization between motor cortex and spinal motoneuronal pool during the performance of a maintained motor task in man. *J Physiol.* (1995) 489(Pt 3):917–24. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1995.sp021104

manuscript. Additionally, RX carried out data processing and feature comparison, interpreted the results and prepared the first draft paper. YW completed EEG and EMG pre-processing. KW helped calculate ERD patterns. YW, SZ, and CH carried out the experiment. DM provided interpretation of the results and worked up the draft paper into the final version. All authors gave final approval for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Key Research and Development Program of China under grant (No. 2017YFB1300300), National Natural Science Foundation of China (No.81630051, 91520205, 61603269, 81601565, 81571762, and 31500865), and Tianjin Key Technology R&D Program (No. 15ZCZDSY00930).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all the participants and Dr. Bin Gu for his help on the experimental platform.

- Kristeva-Feige R, Fritsch C, Timmer J, Lücking C-H. Effects of attention and precision of exerted force on beta range EEG-EMG synchronization during a maintained motor contraction task. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2002) 113:124–31. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(01)00722-2
- Kristeva R, Patino L, Omlor W. Beta-range cortical motor spectral power and corticomuscular coherence as a mechanism for effective corticospinal interaction during steady-state motor output. *Neuroimage* (2007) 36:785–92. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.03.025
- Omlor W, Patino L, Hepp-Reymond MC, Kristeva R. Gamma-range corticomuscular coherence during dynamic force output. *Neuroimage* (2007) 34:1191–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.10.018
- Witte M, Patino L, Andrykiewicz A, Hepp-Reymond MC, Kristeva R. Modulation of human corticomuscular beta-range coherence with low-level static forces. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2007) 26:3564–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05942.x
- Chakarov V, Naranjo JR, Schulte-Monting J, Omlor W, Huethe F, Kristeva R. Beta-range EEG-EMG coherence with isometric compensation for increasing modulated low-level forces. *J Neurophysiol.* (2009) 102:1115–20. doi: 10.1152/jn.91095.2008
- Tuncel D, Dizibuyuk A, Kiymik MK. Time frequency based coherence analysis between EEG and EMG activities in fatigue duration. J Med Syst. (2008) 34:131–8. doi: 10.1007/s10916-008-9224-y
- Yang Q, Fang Y, Sun CK, Siemionow V, Ranganathan VK, Khoshknabi D, et al. Weakening of functional corticomuscular coupling during muscle fatigue. *Brain Res.* (2009) 1250:101–12. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2008.10.074
- Mendez-Balbuena I, Huethe F, Schulte-Monting J, Leonhart R, Manjarrez E, Kristeva R. Corticomuscular coherence reflects interindividual differences in the state of the corticomuscular network during low-level static and dynamic forces. *Cereb Cortex* (2012) 22:628–38. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr147
- Maezawa H. Cortico-muscular communication for motor control of the tongue in humans: a review. J Oral Biosci. (2016) 58:69–72. doi: 10.1016/j.job.2016.03.001
- Mima T, Toma K, Koshy B, Hallett M. Coherence between cortical and muscular activities after subcortical stroke. *Stroke* (2001) 32:2597–601. doi: 10.1161/hs1101.098764
- Rossiter HE, Eaves C, Davis E, Boudrias MH, Park CH, Farmer S, et al. Changes in the location of cortico-muscular coherence following stroke. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2013) 2:50–5. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2012.11.002
- 22. Larsen LH, Zibrandtsen IC, Wienecke T, Kjaer TW, Christensen MS, Nielsen JB, et al. Corticomuscular coherence in the acute and

subacute phase after stroke. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2017) 128:2217–26. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2017.08.033

- Lai MI, Pan LL, Tsai MW, Shih YF, Wei SH, Chou LW. Investigating the effects of peripheral electrical stimulation on corticomuscular functional connectivity stroke survivors. *Topics Stroke Rehabil.* (2016) 23:154–62. doi: 10.1080/10749357.2015.1122264
- Pan LH, Yang WW, Kao CL, Tsai MW, Wei SH, Fregni F, et al. Effects of 8-week sensory electrical stimulation combined with motor training on EEG-EMG coherence and motor function in individuals with stroke. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:9217. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-27553-4
- Carvalhaes C, de Barros JA. The surface Laplacian technique in EEG: theory and methods. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2015) 97:174–88. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2015.04.023
- Rosenberg JR, Amjad AM, Breeze P, Brillinger DR, Halliday DM. The Fourier approach to the identification of functional coupling between neuronal spike trains. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* (1989) 53:1–31. doi: 10.1016/0079-6107(89)90004-7
- Triwiyanto T, Wahyunggoro O, Nugroho HA, Herianto H. Muscle fatigue compensation of the electromyography signal for elbow joint angle estimation using adaptive feature. *Comput Elec Eng.* (2018) 71:284–93. doi: 10.1016/j.compeleceng.2018.07.026
- Karthick PA, Ramakrishnan S. Surface electromyography based muscle fatigue progression analysis using modified B distribution time-frequency features. *Biomed Signal Proces.* (2016) 26:42–51. doi: 10.1016/j.bspc.2015.12.007
- Delorme A, Makeig S. EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of singletrial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. J Neurosci Methods (2004) 134:9–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2003.10.009
- Sota K, Uchiyama Y, Ochi M, Matsumoto S, Hachisuka K, Domen K. Examination of factors related to the effect of improving gait speed with functional electrical stimulation intervention for stroke patients. *PM R.* (2018) 10:798–805 doi: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2018.02.012
- Street T, Taylor P, Swain I. Effectiveness of functional electrical stimulation on walking speed, functional walking category, and clinically meaningful changes for people with multiple sclerosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2015) 96:667–72. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2014.11.017
- 32. Yi W, Qiu S, Wang K, Qi H, Zhao X, He F, et al. Enhancing performance of a motor imagery based brain-computer interface by incorporating electrical stimulation-induced SSSEP. J Neural Eng. (2017) 14:026002. doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/aa5559
- 33. Qiu S, Feng J, Xu J, Xu R, Zhao X, Zhou P, et al. Sonomyography analysis on thickness of skeletal muscle during dynamic contraction induced by neuromuscular electrical stimulation: a pilot study. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2017) 25:59–67. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2016.2556687
- Kamp D, Krause V, Butz M, Schnitzler A, Pollok B. Changes of corticomuscular coherence: an early marker of healthy aging? *Age* (2013) 35:49–58. doi: 10.1007/s11357-011-9329-y
- Perez MA, Soteropoulos DS, Baker SN. Corticomuscular coherence during bilateral isometric arm voluntary activity in healthy humans. *J Neurophysiol.* (2012) 107:2154–62. doi: 10.1152/jn.00722.2011
- Mima T, Hallett M. Corticomuscular coherence: a review. J Clin Neurophysiol. (1999) 16:501–11.
- Johnson AN, Shinohara M. Corticomuscular coherence with and without additional task in the elderly. J Appl Physiol. (1985). (2012) 112:970–81. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01079.2011

- Omlor W, Patino L, Mendez-Balbuena I, Schulte-Monting J, Kristeva R. Corticospinal beta-range coherence is highly dependent on the pre-stationary motor state. J Neurosci. (2011) 31:8037–45. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4153-10.2011
- Pavlides C, Miyashita E, Asanuma H. Projection from the sensory to the motor cortex is important in learning motor skills in the monkey. *J Neurophysiol.* (1993) 70:733–41. doi: 10.1152/jn.1993.70.2.733
- Murphy TH, Corbett D. Plasticity during stroke recovery: from synapse to behaviour. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2009) 10:861–72. doi: 10.1038/nrn2735
- 41. Fox K, Stryker M. Integrating Hebbian and homeostatic plasticity: introduction. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2017) 372:20160413. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0413
- Nakayashiki K, Saeki M, Takata Y, Hayashi Y, Kondo T. Modulation of eventrelated desynchronization during kinematic and kinetic hand movements. J Neuroeng Rehabil. (2014) 11:90. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-11-90
- Vidaurre C, Pascual J, Ramos-Murguialday A, Lorenz R, Blankertz B, Birbaumer N, et al. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation induced brain patterns to decode motor imagery. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2013) 124:1824–34. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2013.03.009
- 44. Jasper H, Penfield W. Electrocorticograms in man: Effect of voluntary movement upon the electrical activity of the precentral gyrus. Archiv für Psychiatrie und Nervenkr. (1949) 183:163–74. doi: 10.1007/BF010 62488
- Bechtold L, Ghio M, Lange J, Bellebaum C. Event-related desynchronization of mu and beta oscillations during the processing of novel tool names. *Brain Lang.* (2018) 177–8:44–55. doi: 10.1016/j.bandl.2018.01.004
- 46. Mang CS, Clair JM, Collins DF. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation has a global effect on corticospinal excitability for leg muscles and a focused effect for hand muscles. *Exp Brain Res.* (2011) 209:355–63. doi: 10.1007/s00221-011-2556-8
- Mang CS, Bergquist AJ, Roshko SM, Collins DF. Loss of short-latency afferent inhibition and emergence of afferent facilitation following neuromuscular electrical stimulation. *Neurosci Lett.* (2012) 529:80–5. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2012.08.072
- Quandt F, Hummel FC. The influence of functional electrical stimulation on hand motor recovery in stroke patients: a review. *Exp Transl Stroke Med.* (2014) 6:9. doi: 10.1186/2040-7378-6-9
- Muthalib M, Re R, Zucchelli L, Perrey S, Contini D, Caffini M, et al. Effects of increasing neuromuscular electrical stimulation current intensity on cortical sensorimotor network activation: a time domain fNIRS study. *PloS ONE* (2015) 10:e0131951. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 31951

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Xu, Wang, Wang, Zhang, He and Ming. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Position as Well as Velocity Dependence of Spasticity—Four-Dimensional Characterizations of Catch Angle

Yi-Ning Wu¹, Hyung-Soon Park², Jia-Jin Chen³, Yupeng Ren⁴, Elliot J. Roth⁵ and Li-Qun Zhang^{6,7*}

¹ Department of Physical Therapy and Kinesiology, University of Massachusetts Lowell, Lowell, MA, United States, ² Department of Mechanical Engineering, Korean Advanced Institute of Science and Technology, Daejeon, South Korea, ³ Department of Biomedical Engineering, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan, ⁴ Rehabtek LLC, Glenview, IL, United States, ⁵ Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁶ Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Science, Department of Orthopaedics, University of Maryland, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁷ Department of Bioengineering, University of Maryland, College Park, MD, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ping Zhou, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States

Reviewed by:

Lining Zhang, PLA General Hospital, China Amanda Fang Lin, Rosalind Franklin University of Medicine and Science, United States

> *Correspondence: Li-Qun Zhang I-zhang@som.umaryland.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 28 June 2018 Accepted: 25 September 2018 Published: 26 October 2018

Citation:

Wu Y-N, Park H-S, Chen J-J, Ren Y, Roth EJ and Zhang L-Q (2018) Position as Well as Velocity Dependence of Spasticity—Four-Dimensional Characterizations of Catch Angle. Front. Neurol. 9:863. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00863 We investigated the muscle alterations related to spasticity in stroke quantitatively using a portable manual spasticity evaluator.

Methods: Quantitative neuro-mechanical evaluations under controlled passive elbow stretches in stroke survivors and healthy controls were performed in a research laboratory of a rehabilitation hospital. Twelve stroke survivors and nine healthy controls participated in the study. Spasticity and catch angle were evaluated at 90°/s and 270°/s with the velocities controlled through real-time audiovisual feedback. The elbow range of motion (ROM), stiffness, and energy loss were determined at a slow velocity of 30°/s. Four-dimensional measures including joint position, torque, velocity and torque change rate were analyzed jointly to determine the catch angle.

Results: The catch angle was dependent on the stretch velocity and occurred significantly later with increasing velocity (p < 0.001), indicating position dependence of spasticity. The higher resistance felt by the examiner at the higher velocity was also due to more extreme joint position (joint angle) since the spastic joint was moved significantly further to a stiffer elbow position with the higher velocity. Stroke survivors showed smaller ROM (p < 0.001), higher stiffness (p < 0.001), and larger energy loss (p = 0.005). Compared to the controls, stroke survivors showed increased reflex excitability with higher reflex-mediated torque (p < 0.001) and at higher velocities (p = 0.02).

Conclusion: Velocity dependence of spasticity is partially due to joint angle position dependence with the joint moved further (to a stiffer position where higher resistance was felt) at a higher velocity. The "4-dimensional characterization" including the joint angle, velocity, torque, and torque change rate provides a systematic tool to characterize catch angle and spasticity quantitatively.

Keywords: quantitative evaluation, spasticity, muscle, stroke, catch angle

52

4-D for Spasticity Characterization

INTRODUCTION

Spasticity commonly occurs to patients with neurological disorders, such as stroke, spinal cord injuries, cerebral palsy, and multiple sclerosis (1-3). Spasticity is commonly defined as "a motor disorder characterized by a velocity-dependent increase in tonic stretch reflexes (muscle tone) with exaggerated tendon jerks, resulting from hyperexcitability of the stretch reflex, as one component of the upper motor neuron syndrome" (4). Various measures have been used to assess muscle alterations associated with spasticity. In the clinical setting, spastic muscle is usually evaluated by grading the resistance to a passive stretch felt by a clinician using the Ashworth scale, modified Ashworth scale (MAS), and the Tardieu scale (5, 6). The felt resistance could be caused by a combination of neural and peripheral origins (i.e., biomechanical factors such as soft tissues or muscle properties). Although clinical measures are convenient to use, they can be subjective, less sensitive and qualitative rather than quantitative to varying degrees. Previous studies raised questions about reliability of the MAS assessment of spasticity (7-10). On the other hand, the Tardieu scale has been suggested as an alternative to the MAS (6). Tardieu scale is conducted using various stretch velocities rather than using only one velocity in MAS while determining the angle where resistance felt (i.e., catch angle). It is argued that the MAS does not differentiate between spasticity and contracture, while the Tardieu scale is not confounded by the presence of contracture (11). However, with either scale, determinations of the catch angle (12, 13) and range of motion (ROM) are influenced by stretch velocities and stretch force and subject to errors in reading the joint angle during assessments.

A quantitative assessment with controlled passive stretches is needed to improve the reliability of the clinical measures. Well-controlled quantitative measures, based on motorized mechanical perturbations and electrophysiological approaches, are mostly used in laboratory settings (5, 14–16), but size and ease-of-use issues limit their applications in clinical settings (17–19). Several portable devices have also been developed and spasticity evaluations were performed by deriving viscous neuro-mechanical properties of the limb from passive movement kinematics and joint reaction torques (19–22). However, those measurements did not translate easily to the common clinical assessments of ROM and catch angle. Reflex threshold measured in joint angle during passive movement has been used effectively to evaluate spasticity by investigating the onset of muscle activation to applied disturbance (23–25).

In spite of the current development of spasticity quantification, in clinical setting thus far, clinicians evaluate spasticity based on how much resistance they feel as well as where they feel the reactive resistance while manipulating the joint quickly. The relation with regard to velocity dependence between stretch-induced muscle activation onset and the resistance (catch) felt by the clinicians in the stroke survivors has not been investigated thoroughly. Furthermore, it is not clear whether catch angle is also joint angle position dependent. In other words, whether joint angle might play a role in the increasing resistance felt by clinicians at a higher velocity and being judged as velocity-dependent spasticity is uncertain. A comprehensive but simple way considering stretch velocities, reflex-mediated muscle torque and joint angle is needed to assist clinicians understand the muscle alteration due to neurological disorders and interventions. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to introduce an innovative and quantitative way to depict the spasticity according to the concept of Tardieu scale and further examined the contribution of joint angle position dependence to the catch felt by the examiner.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

Twelve chronic stroke survivors (53.0 \pm 8.5 years old, ten males and two females) who had a stroke more than 1 year (9.3 \pm 5.6 years) and nine healthy controls (51.4 \pm 24.9 years old, nine males) were included in this study. The stroke survivors with elbow flexors spasticity were recruited in the study. The subjects who had shoulder or elbow contractures were excluded from the participation. **Table 1** depicts the characteristics of the stroke survivors. The healthy controls had no history of neurophysiologic or musculoskeletal disorders. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Northwestern University. All subjects gave written informed consent before the experiment.

Instrumentation

The manual spasticity evaluator (MSE) used in this study was set up as a portable device to assess spastic muscles. A torque sensor (Transducer Techniques, CA, USA) and a hollow-shaft potentiometer (Vert-X51, Contelec AG, Switzerland) comprising MSE, were used to measure joint torques and joint positions respectively (26, 27). Adjustable braces and supports were used to position the forearm and upper arm properly with respect to the MSE (**Figure 1**). Two mechanical stops were used to restrict the moving range of device that prevents over-stretching of the spastic joint. Biceps and triceps muscles activations were monitored using surface EMG electrodes (Bagnoli-8, Delsys Inc., Boston, USA). The torque, position and EMG signals were

TABLE 1 Characteristics of subjects.						
Subject No.	Gender	Age (years)	Years since the onset	Hemiparetic side	MAS	
Sbj1	М	60	10	R	2	
Sbj2	Μ	38	9	R	2	
Sbj3	Μ	62	6	R	1	
Sbj4	М	38	7	R	1	
Sbj5	Μ	57	9	R	1	
Sbj6	М	58	26	L	3	
Sbj7	М	53	9	R	3	
Sbj8	М	50	6	R	3	
Sbj9	М	70	2	L	1	
Sbj10	F	54	9	R	3	
Sbj11	F	48	12	R	2	
Sbj12	М	48	6	R	3	



FIGURE 1 | Experimental setup. The participant sat next to the MSE with 75° shoulder abduction. The participant's upper arm and forearm were then strapped onto the supporting braces with the elbow flexion axis aligned with the MSE rotation axis. A torque sensor and a hollow-shaft potentiometer were used to measure the joint torque and joint position, respectively. Surface EMG electrodes were used to record EMG signals of biceps brachii and triceps brachii.

sampled at 1,000 Hz with a 16-bit resolution. A custom data acquisition program was used to provide real-time audio and visual feedback to help an examiner control the peak stretch velocity and the peak stretch torque (terminal torque) (26). When the examiner passively moved the subject's forearm, the target velocity and torque profile with boundary lines (e.g., $\pm 10\%$ of target velocity or target torque), as well as the instantaneous joint velocities (90°/sec and 270°/sec), the data acquisition program provided audio feedback for controlling peak velocities during passive stretching. At the slow velocity of 30°/sec, audio feedback was used to indicate that the designated torque limit had been reached and to stop the passive stretching. By doing so, the applied stretch force could be consistent while quantifying the spastic muscle each time.

A test-retest reliability investigation of the MSE was performed on the healthy controls by the same rater twice with 1 day apart. Excellent reproducibility was found in measures derived from fast stretching (ICC= 0.88) and from slow stretch (ICC= 0.89 for passive ROM, 0.84 for stiffness and 0.75 for energy loss). Excellent intra-rater reliability was also shown while using MSE in the pediatric population (28, 29).

Experimental Procedures

In a quiet room, a therapist assessed the spastic elbows of the stroke survivors using MAS (30). The therapist followed the procedure described previously (31) with the exception of the body position. In the current study, the subjects sat upright comfortably instead of lying down. The therapist stabilized the upper arm by holding it proximal to the elbow and moved the forearm in a quick passive motion (\sim 1 sec) throughout the available elbow range of motion from the end of flexion to maximal extension. During the experiment, the subject sat next to the MSE with the elbow flexion axis aligned with the rotation axis of the MSE. The shoulder was positioned at 75° of abduction and the forearm and upper arm were secured to the supporting braces. Surface EMG electrodes were placed on the biceps brachii and triceps brachii with the reference electrode placed on the lateral epicondyle.

In the clinical practice, the modified Tardieu R1 is the angle of the catch thought to be due to induced stretch reflex at an as fast as possible velocity. The passive ROM (R2) is graded under a slow velocity, which would not trigger the stretch reflex (12). In the current study, we chose 30° /sec as the slow velocity to measure R2 and chose two fast velocities (90 and 270° /sec) to detect the catch angle (R1) using MSE. The slow velocity of 30° /sec was chosen because it did not induce stretch reflex during manual tests that may confound the R2 measurement. Two high velocities (90 and 270° /sec) were chosen because 90° (right angle) and its multiples are relatively easier for the rater to perceive during manual tests.

Initially, the torque and position offset were recorded with the subject's elbow in the neutral position, defined as the position where subjects felt the most comfortable, not being stretched or restrained (79.6° \pm 10.9° elbow flexion for stroke survivors, and $75.0^{\circ} \pm 6.5^{\circ}$ elbow flexion for healthy controls with full extension defined as 0° elbow flexion). To determine the passive ROM and stiffness of the elbow, we then moved the elbow at 30°/sec until reaching a pre-defined torque (3 Nm) or a mechanical stop. Three trials of passive stretch separated by 1 min were performed at each of 90°/s and 270°/sec to evaluate the velocity-dependence of spasticity and catch angle. With practice, the examiner was able to control the peak velocity of passive stretch to match the target velocity as shown on the display ($\pm 10\%$ of target velocity). One stretch cycle was defined from full flexion to full extension then back to full flexion. Since spasticity may be altered by repeated stretching (32), the elbow was not stretched more than three cycles in each trial. We also instructed the subjects relax during the tests. If voluntary muscle contractions to assist the stretch were detected by the examiner and shown as intermittent or continuous EMG activities of triceps brachii muscles, and/or EMG activities of the biceps brachii preceding the stretch initiation, the trial was discarded. The examiner would then let the subject rest before stretching the joint again.

The MAS scores, the biomechanical measures and MSEmeasured R1 and R2 were taken by the same examiner.

Data Analysis and Statistics

Biomechanical Measurement: Torque and position signals were filtered with a low-pass cutoff frequency of 50 Hz. The derivative of torque with respect to time, $d\tau(t)/dt$ was calculated from the acquired torque signals. All the biomechanical measures captured at 30°/sec were determined within the torque limits of 3 Nm, including the passive ROM [also described as the R2 angle (12)], elastic stiffness (K), energy loss, and elbow flexor torque at several joint angles. Stiffness, K, was defined as the slope of the torqueangle relationship of ascending arm at 70° of elbow flexion, a common range among the subjects. The energy loss was the area between the ascending and descending limbs of the torque-angle curve during rotation (5). Since different subjects had different ROMs and limb inertias, the energy loss was normalized by the transverse inertia and the individual's range of motion. The transverse inertia was estimated from the length of the forearm, the perimeter of the elbow, and maximum forearm and wrist circumference (33, 34). Joint angle position dependence of the resistance torque was evaluated at three selected elbow flexion angles (45° , 60° , and 75°) in the two groups and normalized by the body weight and height (35). The angles were near the end of stretch and around the common range (70°).

EMG Signal Processing: The EMG signals were filtered with a passband of 10–450 Hz. To determine the onset of muscle activations (reflex-mediated responses) for verifying the catch angle, EMG signals were presented in a linear envelope (LE) form: with the filtered EMG data full-wave rectified and then low-pass filtered at 10 Hz. The onset of the reflex EMG was determined when the amplitude of the EMG LE was larger than the mean plus three standard deviations (SD) of the background EMG (36). The background EMG was measured during the quiescent period before the passive stretch. The elbow flexion angle corresponding to the reflex EMG onset was thus determined.

Catch Angle Determination and Characterization of spastic muscles: Catch angle is where a sudden occurrence of increased muscle activations in response to a quick passive stretch, which leads to an abrupt stop or increased resistance (torque) before the joint rotation reaches the end of ROM (37). This behavior can be captured using MSE as shown in Figure 2: the elbow flexor torque increased with elbow flexors being stretched (flexion angle decreased in Figures 2A,B). When the passive stretch triggered a stretch reflex (EMG firing shown in Figure 2C), the elbow flexors contracted strongly causing the abruptly increased torque rate $(d\tau(t)/dt)$ as indicated by the second positive peak in Figure 2D where the catch angle was determined. Figure 2E shows that the examiner responded to the abruptly increased resistance with a decreased velocity to avoid over-stretching the joint (value of velocity changed toward zero). We then developed a systematic way to determine R1. Since $d\tau(t)/dt$ was affected considerably by the inertia during the initial acceleration (the first peak of $d\tau(t)/dt$), the local minimum of velocity was selected as the first landmark (the dashed vertical line in Figure 2E), which occurred shortly after the catch. Next, the joint angle corresponding to the peak $d\tau(t)/dt$ in the 300-ms window preceding this landmark was determined as the catch, R1 (26). The ratio R1/R2 was derived through dividing the angular displacement between R1 and flexion angle by the overall ROM, to represent the portion, which is free from the catch. A four-dimensional display, including the variables of joint angle, velocity, torque (τ) , and $d\tau(t)/dt$, was developed to illustrate the events involved in the catch that provides a more comprehensive quantification of spastic muscles group around the tested joint (Figure 2F) at various stretch velocities. The width of the shaded area in Figure 2F represents velocity. Note the increased width as the high velocity was maintained. The torque increased as the elbow was moved into extension indicated by the dashed arrow. When a catch occurred, $d\tau(t)/dt$ increased abruptly and reached a local maximum (the relatively hot color of the $d\tau(t)/dt$ line). The abruptly increased resistance and the examiner's reaction to the catch resulted in a



response in the biceps (vertical line in \mathbf{C}). Sequentially, the stretch induced a relex response in the biceps (vertical line in \mathbf{C}). The operator felt the sudden increase in resistance (vertical line in \mathbf{D}) during the "catch," and responded by decreasing the stretch velocity (vertical line in \mathbf{E}). A four-dimensional display (**F**) was developed to illustrate the aforementioned events.

quick velocity reduction to a local minimum (choke, the narrow shaded area).

Statistics: Since the data was not normally distributed, nonparametric statistics (Friedman test) were used for comparisons of catch angles at different stretch velocities with a significance level of p < 0.05. To investigate differences in the biomechanical measures (ROM, stiffness, torque at three joint positions, energy loss) and the velocity-dependent properties of muscle compared between the control and CVA groups, a Mann-Whitney U-test with a significance level of p < 0.05 was conducted. Spearman correlation was used for correlating the MAS with all biomechanical measures as well as the catch angle. Correlation was significant at p < 0.05. The intra-class correlation coefficient was chosen as the test statistic to evaluate the test-retest reliability. The two-way mixed model of intra-class correlation coefficient ≥ 0.75 indicated significant reproducibility (38). SPSS software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois) was used to perform all statistical analysis.

RESULTS

4-D Characterization of Catch Angle

Figures 3A,B show the representative result of spasticity and catch angle evaluations at velocity of 90°/s and 270°/s respectively. **Figure 3C** shows the representative curve in a healthy control, the $d\tau$ (t)/dt remained at a constant lower value (below 10 Nm/s) throughout the available range of motion. In addition, for healthy controls the joint resistance was much lower when compared to stroke survivors (p < 0.05).

Dependence of R1 on Stretch Velocity and Velocity-Dependent Properties of Spastic Muscles

During the passive elbow extension, the catch angle in stoke survivors was significantly smaller (elbow more extended, p < 0.001) with increasing stretch velocity (**Figure 4A**). This indicates that the catch angle occurred later at faster stretch velocities. Furthermore, the R1/R2 was significantly higher at higher stretch velocities (**Figure 4B**, p < 0.001). As expected, catch was not observed in any healthy controls. In the representative case shown in **Figures 3A,B**, catch occurred at 78.2° and 58.8° elbow flexion at the stretch velocities of 90°/s and 270°/s, respectively.

As a feature of spasticity, the peak resistance torque during a stretch increased with the increasing stretch velocity in the stroke survivors (p < 0.005, **Figure 5**). Healthy controls also showed increased peak resistance at the velocity of 270° /s when compared to the velocity of 90° /s (p = 0.005). The slope of the relationship between the peak torque and the stretch velocity was significantly higher in stroke ($9.34 \text{ nu} \times 10^{-5} \pm 4 \times 10^{-5}$ Nkg⁻¹deg⁻¹s) than that in healthy controls ($4.99 \times 10^{-5} \pm 2.95 \times 10^{-5}$ Nkg⁻¹deg⁻¹s; p = 0.02).

Biomechanical Measures of the Spastic Muscles

ROM measured at a controlled torque of 3 Nm was significantly reduced in the stroke survivors as compared to that of the healthy controls ($74.2^{\circ} \pm 21.5^{\circ}$ vs. $107.6^{\circ} \pm 8.7^{\circ}$, p < 0.001; **Figure 6A**). During extension with a 3 Nm torque limit, the stroke survivors stopped earlier at larger flexion angles ($30.0^{\circ} \pm 17.6^{\circ}$) compared to healthy controls ($10.2^{\circ} \pm 10.8^{\circ}$; p < 0.01). **Figure 7** shows the examples of restricted ROMs for the severely spastic (MAS=3), mildly spastic (MAS=1) and healthy controls that were $36^{\circ}-93^{\circ}$, $3^{\circ}-104^{\circ}$, and $-1^{\circ}-106^{\circ}$ elbow flexion, respectively.



PIGURE 3 [Four-dimensional characterization of the spastic muscles. Four variables: elbow flexion angle, elbow flexion torque, velocity, and torque change rate $d\tau$ (t)/dt, during the passive stretch were plotted simultaneously for a representative stroke survivor at 90°/sec (**A**), at 270°/sec (**B**), and a healthy control at 270°/sec (**C**). The X-axis and Y-axis correspond to the elbow flexion angle and torque, respectively. The resistance torque generated by the stretched flexor muscles is positive. The dashed arrow indicates the direction of movement. Velocity is proportional to the width of the gray shaded area. The color of the line gives $d\tau$ (t)/dt, with the hot color (red) corresponding to a high rate of $d\tau$ (t)/dt. The two small arrows in (A) indicate the local maximum of $d\tau$ (t)/dt where the catch occurred and local minimum of velocity resulting from the examiner's reaction to the abruptly increased torque, respectively.

Stiffness measured at a prescribed elbow flexion angle of 70° was significantly larger in stroke survivors when compared to healthy controls (**Figure 6C**; 0.058 \pm 0.028 Nm/deg vs. 0.017 \pm 0.008 Nm/deg, p < 0.001). The stiffness for the severely spastic, mildly spastic and healthy controls was 0.162 Nm/deg, 0.042



Nm/deg, and 0.014 Nm/deg respectively (Figure 7, slope of the lines).

Stroke survivors lost more energy (24.14 ± 8.07) Jdeg⁻¹kg⁻¹m⁻²) than healthy controls (12.66 ± 5.38) Jdeg⁻¹kg⁻¹m⁻²; p = 0.005; **Figure 6B**). In addition, stroke survivors showed higher torque compared to healthy controls at 45°, 60°, and 75° of elbow flexion (stroke vs. healthy: 0.0116 \pm 0.001 Nkg⁻¹ vs. 0.0062 \pm 0.0008 Nkg⁻¹, 0.0088 \pm 0.0031 Nkg⁻¹ vs. 0.0045 \pm 0.00084 Nkg⁻¹, and 0.0069 \pm 0.0021 Nkg⁻¹ vs. 0.0035 \pm 0.001 Nkg⁻¹, respectively; **Figure 6D**).

Correlations Between the MAS, R1 and Biomechanical Measures

Table 2 shows the correlations among the variables evaluated. The catch angle showed significant correlations with ROM (r = -0.685, p = 0.014) and with energy loss (r = -0.679, p = 0.047). The MAS showed significant correlations with ROM (r = -0.897, p = 0.001), as well as stiffness of the joint (r = 0.828, p = 0.006). Reflex-mediated EMG responses at different stretch velocities did not show any significant correlations with MAS, R1 or biomechanical measures (p > 0.05).

DISCUSSION

This study demonstrates 4-D plot, a comprehensive, and systematic way, to investigate the group of spastic muscles around the elbow. Spasticity-related biomechanical characteristics, including joint ROM, joint torque, stiffness and energy loss, at various controlled velocities can also be acquired at the same single setting. During a controlled slow stretch, the MSE assesses biomechanical properties of the joint including the ROM, stiffness and energy loss using a controlled slow stretch and determine the catch angle at controlled fast stretch velocities.

Convenient spasticity quantification has been a challenge. In order to evaluate stretch reflex responses accurately, the way to elicit spasticity should be standardized. Many factors including the pre-activation of muscles, position of the joints involved, and applied stretch torque and velocity, as well as the experience of clinicians may result in different outcomes and interpretations. Clinical measures, such as the MAS or Tardieu scales, have been used to identify the catch angle during passive stretch. However, the angles determined using these scales may not be accurate; they generally occur later than a biomechanicallydetected catch and suffer from poor inter-rater reliability (39). As shown in Figures 2, 3, the examiner reacted to the abruptly increased joint resistance by slowing or stopping the passive stretch. However, the catch occurred up to 300 ms prior to this slowing or stopping point. Therefore, peak $d\tau(t)/dt$, instead of the stopping point, should be used as the indicator of the catch angle. In the current study, the instantaneous velocity change along with $d\tau(t)/dt$ were used to determine the catch angle reliably and to minimize potential human error. As one can see in Figures 2, 3, the human's reaction characterized as local minimum of speed (choke) was further away from the catch determined by $d\tau(t)/dt$. The discrepancy between human's reaction and the true catch implies the potential human errors in the subjective clinical measures of "catch angle." As seen in the examples in Figures 2, 3, the differences ranged from 3 to 8° . In a clinical setting, the catch angle reading is usually from eyeballing of a goniometer moving with the joint, which may introduce even a larger error in determining the catch angle. It should be noted that another peak of torque change rate, which occurred earlier during the passive stretch, was when an examiner overcame the resistance from the limb inertia and was not related to catch angle.

Velocity-dependent increase in muscle tone is a key attribute to spasticity as shown in the current study as well that the stretch velocity has obvious effects on the normalized peak torque of catch (larger slope in **Figure 5**). However, the velocity dependence of spasticity might be partially due to joint angle position dependence. The delayed catch angle associated with fast velocities in our study showed the joint angle position dependence of the increased resistance. At a faster stretch velocity, the joint was quickly stretched further into an angle position where higher resistance existed. Assuming reflexmediated torque developed 60 ms after the stretch reflex was triggered, the joint would have been moved 10.8° further in 60 ms at 270°/s as compared to the stretch at 90°/s ((270°/s-90°/s) × 0.06 s = 10.8°). The extra 10.8° moved the joint to a stiffer position, which might make the examiner feel higher resistance at







FIGURE 6 | Comparisons of passive properties of elbow flexors between the healthy controls (n = 9) and stroke survivors (n = 12). Patients post stroke showed reduced ROM (**A**), higher energy loss (**B**), increased stiffness (**C**), and increased resistance torque at several angles (**D**), represented as mean \pm SE (standard error of mean). Asterisks (*) indicate significant difference (p < 0.05) between the two groups (**D**). Mann-Whitney U test with significance level of P < 0.05 was used to determine the differences.

a faster velocity. Similar results were reported that greater catch angles were associated with higher applied angular velocities (28, 40). Velocity-dependence of the catch angle further confirms that a standardized method to evaluate spastic muscles is essential

since the interpretation of catch angle can be confounded by the stretch velocities.

In the current study, passive properties were measured under real-time feedback control by moving the elbow slowly without

TABLE 2 Spearman correlation coefficient p (and p-value) between the
parameters.

		MAS	R1	EMG	ROM	EL	К
MAS	ρ	1.000					
	р						
R1	ρ	0.539	1.000				
	р	0.054					
EMG	ρ	-0.223	0.405	1.000			
	р	0.282	0.160				
ROM	ρ	-0.897**	-0.685*	0.050	1.000		
	р	0.001	0.014	0.449			
EL	ρ	0.091	0.679*	0.086	-0.067	1.000	
	р	0.408	0.047	0.436	0.432		
K	ρ	0.828**	0.613	-0.319	-0.934**	-0.371	1.000
	р	0.006	0.072	0.269	0.001	0.234	

MAS, modified Ashworth Scale; R1, catch angle; EMG, electromyography onset; EL, energy loss; K, stiffness. ^{*}indicates P < 0.05 ^{**}indicates P < 0.01.

eliciting a reflex response. The lack of a reflex response was corroborated by silence in the EMG signals of the stretched muscle. Significant changes in the passive properties of the spastic elbow of stroke survivors were observed when compared to healthy controls, including increased stiffness and flexors resistance, decreased ROM, and increased energy loss (Figure 6). Similar changes were also found in the spastic ankle of stroke survivors with hemiparesis (5). In general, the changes in stiffness and ROM were consistent with what have been reported previously (14, 41, 42). Since the supporting braces fixed to the MSE might hinder the ROM near the end of flexion, the value of elbow ROM shown in current study was smaller than the observations in previous studies (43-45). In addition, Figure 7 also shows that the reduced ROM was not only in one end, the stroke survivors may lose the range toward flexion or extension that can be relevant to daily functions.

The correlation between passive stiffness and MAS demonstrates that the MAS is more closely related to the passive stiffness of the joint than to joint spasticity, even though it has been commonly used for assessing spasticity in both clinical and laboratory settings. MAS only includes as single stretch velocity and is scored by the amplitude of joint resistance that potentially make MAS reflect passive stiffness over spasticity. Because the felt joint resistance could be from either spastic responses and/or passive stiffness (46, 47) and without various stretch velocities those could not be distinguished. The consequence of this ambiguous assessment may mislabel patients who have increased passive stiffness alone as having spasticity and being treated with inappropriate interventions. Damiano et al. indicated that evaluating patients at different velocities may help to distinguish passive stiffness from spasticity (46), which we adopted in our developed method for spasticity quantification. Administering the Tardieu scale using the MSE could provide proper spasticity characterization under various controlled velocities. The intra-rater reliability of clinical assessments can be improved using the MSE that contains accurate sensors and



provides real-time audiovisual feedback instead of the examiner's subjective manipulation and scoring.

LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The brace of the system we used might prevent the all range of motion toward the end of flexion due to the contact of muscle bulks and brace. When there was no compromise using this system to assess the elbow flexors spasticity, one should interpret the passive flexion ROM with cautions. The sample size of the current study is relatively small. A larger size of sample should be considered in a future study.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Northwestern University Institutional Review Board with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Northwestern University Institutional Review Board.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Y-NW, L-QZ, H-SP, and YR designed and carried out the experiment. Y-NW and L-QZ performed the data analysis.

REFERENCES

- Brown P. Pathophysiology of spasticity. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (1994) 57:773–7. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.57.7.773
- Rymer WZ, Katz RT. Mechanical quantification of spastic hypertonia. *Phys* Med Rehabil State Art Rev. (1994) 8:455–63.
- Sheean GL, Murray NM, Rothwell JC, Miller DH, Thompson AJ. An electrophysiological study of the mechanism of fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (1997) 120 (Pt 2):299–315. doi: 10.1093/brain/120.2.299
- Lance JW. Symposium synopsis. In: Feldman R. G, Young R. R, Koella W. P, editors. Chicago: Yearbook Meidcal (1980). p. 485–94.
- Chung SG, Van Rey E, Bai Z, Roth EJ, Zhang LQ. Biomechanic changes in passive properties of hemiplegic ankles with spastic hypertonia. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2004) 85:1638–46. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2003.11.041
- Haugh AB, Pandyan AD, Johnson GR. A systematic review of the Tardieu Scale for the measurement of spasticity. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2006) 28:899–907. doi: 10.1080/09638280500404305
- Pandyan AD, Johnson GR, Price CI, Curless RH, Barnes MP, Rodgers H. A review of the properties and limitations of the Ashworth and modified Ashworth Scales as measures of spasticity. *Clin Rehabil.* (1999) 13:373–83. doi: 10.1191/026921599677595404
- Bakheit AM, Maynard VA, Curnow J, Hudson N, Kodapala S. The relation between Ashworth scale scores and the excitability of the alpha motor neurones in patients with post-stroke muscle spasticity. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2003) 74:646–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.5.646
- Cooper A, Musa IM, van Deursen R, Wiles CM. Electromyography characterization of stretch responses in hemiparetic stroke patients and their relationship with the Modified Ashworth scale. *Clin Rehabil.* (2005) 19:760–6. doi: 10.1191/0269215505cr8880a
- Kumar RT, Pandyan AD, Sharma AK. Biomechanical measurement of post-stroke spasticity. Age Ageing (2006) 35:371-5. doi: 10.1093/ageing/ afj084
- Patrick E, Ada L. The Tardieu Scale differentiates contracture from spasticity whereas the Ashworth Scale is confounded by it. *Clin Rehabil.* (2006) 20:173– 82. doi: 10.1191/0269215506cr9220a
- Boyd R, Graham HK. Objective measurement of clinical findings in the use of botulinum toxin type A for the management of children with CP. *Eur J Neurol.* (1999) 6:S23–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.1999.tb00031.x
- Mehrholz J, Wagner K, Meissner D, Grundmann K, Zange C, Koch R, et al. Reliability of the modified Tardieu Scale and the modified Ashworth Scale in adult patients with severe brain injury: a comparison study. *Clin Rehabil.* (2005) 19:751–9. doi: 10.1191/0269215505cr8890a
- Dietz V, Trippel M, Berger W. Reflex activity and muscle tone during elbow movements in patients with spastic paresis. *Ann Neurol.* (1991) 30:767–79. doi: 10.1002/ana.410300605
- Lee HM, Huang YZ, Chen JJ, Hwang IS. Quantitative analysis of the velocity related pathophysiology of spasticity and rigidity in the elbow flexors. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2002) 72:621–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.72.5.621
- Condliffe EG, Clark DJ, Patten C. Reliability of elbow stretch reflex assessment in chronic post-stroke hemiparesis. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2005) 116:1870–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2005.02.030
- Given JD, Dewald JPA, Rymer WZ. Joint dependent passive stiffness in paretic and contralateral limbs of spastic patients with hemiparetic stroke. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiat. (1995) 59:271–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.59.3.271
- 18. Schmit BD, Dhaher Y, Dewald JPA, Rymer WZ. Reflex torque response to movement of the spastic elbow: theoretical analyses and implications

Y-NW, H-SP, YR, and L-QZ wrote the manuscript with support from J-JC and ER.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by grants from the NSF (award no. IIP-0750515) and NIH (award no. R01-HD044295).

for quantification of spasticity. Ann Biomed Eng. (1999) 27:815–29. doi: 10.1114/1.234

- Lee HM, Chen JJ, Ju MS, Lin CC, Poon PP. Validation of portable muscle tone measurement device for quantifying velocity-dependent properties in elbow spasticity. J Electromyogr Kinesiol. (2004) 14:577–89. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2004.02.002
- Zhang L-Q, Wang G, Nishida T, Xu D, Sliwa JA, Rymer WZ. Hyperactive tendon reflexes in spastic multiple sclerosis: measures and mechanisms of action. Arch Phys Med Rehab. (2000) 81:901–9. doi: 10.1053/apmr.20 00.5582
- Zhang LQ, Chung SG, Bai Z, Xu D, van Rey EM, Rogers MW, et al. Intelligent stretching of ankle joints with contracture/spasticity. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng*, (2002) 10:149–57. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2002.802857
- 22. Chen JJ, Wu YN, Huang SC, Lee HM, Wang YL. The use of a portable muscle tone measurement device to measure the effects of botulinum toxin type a on elbow flexor spasticity. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2005) 86:1655–60. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2005.03.019
- Levin MF, Selles RW, Verheul MH, Meijer OG. Deficits in the coordination of agonist and antagonist muscles in stroke patients: implications for normal motor control. *Brain Res.* (2000) 853:352–69. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(99)02298-2
- Allison SC, Abraham LD. Sensitivity of qualitative and quantitative spasticity measures to clinical treatment with cryotherapy. *Int J Rehabil Res.* (2001) 24:15–24. doi: 10.1097/00004356-200103000-00003
- Calota A, Feldman AG, Levin MF. Spasticity measurement based on tonic stretch reflex threshold in stroke using a portable device. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2008) 119:2329–37. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008.07.215
- Peng Q, Shah P, Selles RW, Gaebler-Spira DJ, Zhang LQ. Measurement of ankle spasticity in children with cerebral palsy using a manual spasticity evaluator. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Bi.ol Soc* (2004) 7:4896–9. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2004.1404354
- Park HS, Peng Q, Zhang LQ. A portable tele-assessment system for remote evaluations of impaired elbows in neurological disorders. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2008) 16:245–54. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2008.920067
- Wu YN, Ren Y, Goldsmith A, Gaebler D, Liu SQ, Zhang LQ. Characterization of spasticity in cerebral palsy: dependence of catch angle on velocity. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2010) 52:563–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2009. 03602.x
- Peng Q, Park HS, Shah P, Wilson N, Ren Y, Wu YN, et al. Quantitative evaluations of ankle spasticity and stiffness in neurological disorders using manual spasticity evaluator. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2011) 48:473–81. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2010.04.0053
- Bohannon RW, Smith MB. Interrater reliability of a modified Ashworth scale of muscle spasticity. *Phys Ther*. (1987) 67:206–7. doi: 10.1093/ptj/67.2.206
- Gregson JM, Leathley M, Moore AP, Sharma AK, Smith TL, Watkins CL. Reliability of the Tone Assessment Scale and the modified Ashworth scale as clinical tools for assessing poststroke spasticity. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (1999) 80:1013–6. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(99)90053-9
- Nuyens GE, De Weerdt WJ, Spaepen AJ Jr, Kiekens C, Feys HM. Reduction of spastic hypertonia during repeated passive knee movements in stroke patients. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2002) 83:930–5. doi: 10.1053/apmr.2002.33233
- Hinrichs RN. Regression equations to predict segmental moments of inertia from anthropometric measurements: an extension of the data of Chandler et al. (1975). J Biomech. (1985) 18:621–4. doi: 10.1016/0021-9290(85)90016-8
- Challis JH, Kerwin DG. Calculating upper limb inertial parameters. J Sports Sci. (1992) 10:275–84. doi: 10.1080/02640419208729926

- Kang SH, Lee SJ, Ren Y, Zhang LQ. Real-time knee adduction moment feedback training using an elliptical trainer. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2014) 22:334–43. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2013.2291203
- Di Fabio RP. Reliability of computerized surface electromyography for determining the onset of muscle activity. *Phys Ther.* (1987) 67:43–8. doi: 10.1093/ptj/67.1.43
- Scholtes VA, Becher JG, Beelen A, Lankhorst GJ. Clinical assessment of spasticity in children with cerebral palsy: a critical review of available instruments. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2006) 48:64–73. doi: 10.1017/S0012162206000132
- 38. Rosner B. Fundamentals of Biostatistics. Duxbury, MA (1999).
- Johnson GR. Outcome measures of spasticity. Eur J Neurol. (2002) 9 (Suppl. 1):10–16. doi: 10.1046/j.1468-1331.2002.0090s1010.x
- Mackey AH, Walt SE, Lobb G, Stott NS. Intraobserver reliability of the modified Tardieu scale in the upper limb of children with hemiplegia. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2004) 46:267–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2004. tb00481.x
- Dietz V, Berger W. Normal and impaired regulation of muscle stiffness in gait: a new hypothesis about muscle hypertonia. *Exp Neurol.* (1983) 79:680–7. doi: 10.1016/0014-4886(83)90032-8
- Lee WA, Boughton A, Rymer WZ. Absence of stretch reflex gain enhancement in voluntarily activated spastic muscle. *Exp Neurol.* (1987) 98:317–35. doi: 10.1016/0014-4886(87)90245-7
- Allander E, Bjornsson OJ, Olafsson O, Sigfusson N, Thorsteinsson J. Normal range of joint movements in shoulder, hip, wrist and thumb with special reference to side: a comparison between two populations. *Int J Epidemiol.* (1974) 3:253–61. doi: 10.1093/ije/3.3.253

- Ahlberg A, Moussa M, Al-Nahdi M. On geographical variations in the normal range of joint motion. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* (1988) 234:229–31. doi: 10.1097/00003086-198809000-00040
- 45. Gunal I, Kose N, Erdogan O, Gokturk E, Seber S. Normal range of motion of the joints of the upper extremity in male subjects, with special reference to side. J Bone Joint Surg Am. (1996) 78:1401–4. doi: 10.2106/00004623-199609000-00017
- 46. Damiano DL, Quinlivan JM, Owen BF, Payne P, Nelson KC, Abel MF. What does the Ashworth scale really measure and are instrumented measures more valid and precise? *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2002) 44:112–8. doi: 10.1017/S0012162201001761
- Singer BJ, Dunne JW, Singer KP, Allison GT. Velocity dependent passive plantarflexor resistive torque in patients with acquired brain injury. *Clin Biomech.* (2003) 18:157–65. doi: 10.1016/S0268-0033(02) 00173-0

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Wu, Park, Chen, Ren, Roth and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Motor Unit-Driven Identification of Pathological Tremor in Electroencephalograms

Aleš Holobar^{1*}, Juan A. Gallego², Jernej Kranjec¹, Eduardo Rocon², Juan P. Romero^{3,4}, Julián Benito-León^{5,6,7}, José L. Pons⁸ and Vojko Glaser¹

¹ Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, University of Maribor, Maribor, Slovenia, ² Neural and Cognitive Engineering Group, Centre for Automation and Robotics, Spanish National Research Council, Arganda del Rey, Spain, ³ Neurorehabilitation and Brain Damage Research Group, Experimental Sciences School, Universidad Francisco de Vitoria, Madrid, Spain, ⁴ Brain Damage Unit, Hospital Beata María Ana, Madrid, Spain, ⁵ Department of Neurology, University Hospital 12 de Octubre, Madrid, Spain, ⁶ Center of Biomedical Network Research on Neurodegenerative Diseases, Madrid, Spain, ⁷ Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Complutense University of Madrid, Madrid, Spain, ⁸ Neural Rehabilitation Group, Cajal Institute, Spanish National Research Council, Madrid, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ping Zhou, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States

Reviewed by:

Kemal Sitki Turker, Koç University, Turkey Amit N. Pujari, University of Hertfordshire, United Kingdom Andrés Úbeda, University of Alicante, Spain

> *Correspondence: Aleš Holobar ales.holobar@um.si

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 29 June 2018 Accepted: 28 September 2018 Published: 29 October 2018

Citation:

Holobar A, Gallego JA, Kranjec J, Rocon E, Romero JP, Benito-León J, Pons JL and Glaser V (2018) Motor Unit-Driven Identification of Pathological Tremor in Electroencephalograms. Front. Neurol. 9:879. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00879 **Background:** Traditional studies on the neural mechanisms of tremor use coherence analysis to investigate the relationship between cortical and muscle activity, measured by electroencephalograms (EEG) and electromyograms (EMG). This methodology is limited by the need of relatively long signal recordings, and it is sensitive to EEG artifacts. Here, we analytically derive and experimentally validate a new method for automatic extraction of the tremor-related EEG component in pathological tremor patients that aims to overcome these limitations.

Methods: We exploit the coupling between the tremor-related cortical activity and motor unit population firings to build a linear minimum mean square error estimator of the tremor component in EEG. We estimated the motor unit population activity by decomposing surface EMG signals into constituent motor unit spike trains, which we summed up into a cumulative spike train (CST). We used this CST to initialize our tremor-related EEG component estimate, which we optimized using a novel approach proposed here.

Results: Tests on simulated signals demonstrate that our new method is robust to both noise and motor unit firing variability, and that it performs well across a wide range of spectral characteristics of the tremor. Results on 9 essential (ET) and 9 Parkinson's disease (PD) patients show a \sim 2-fold increase in amplitude of the coherence between the estimated EEG component and the CST, compared to the classical EEG-EMG coherence analysis.

Conclusions: We have developed a novel method that allows for more precise and robust estimation of the tremor-related EEG component. This method does not require artifact removal, provides reliable results in relatively short datasets, and tracks changes in the tremor-related cortical activity over time.

Keywords: pathological tremor, EEG decomposition, surface EMG decomposition, Parkinsonian tremor, essential tremor

62

INTRODUCTION

The role of cerebral cortex in the generation of pathological tremor has been widely studied in essential as well as in Parkinsonian tremor. Accumulated evidence suggests that tremor-related cortical activity exists in both types of tremor (1–5). Moreover, because of the significant coupling between the cortical activity and the activity in the affected muscles, motor cortex is thought to contribute to tremor generation (2, 3, 6–15).

To the best of our knowledge, all of the existing studies assessed corticomuscular coupling by computing the coherence between cortical activity, recorded with EEG or magnetoencephalograms (MEG), and an estimate of muscle activity derived from the surface EMG (2, 3, 6-13, 15, 16). Since the coherence function reveals a linear relationship between two signals at a given frequency (17), coherence at the tremor frequency is assumed to indicate tremor-related EEG activity. Although robust to noise at different frequencies, coherence only provides an indirect measure of corticomuscular coupling, and does not enable tracking changes in tremor properties over a short time scale. Furthermore, it requires off-line processing of relatively long EEG and EMG recordings, which need to be cleaned of artifacts beforehand. This limits the comparison of the tremor-related cortical activity across conditions and diseases.

Besides the coherence function, the cortical tremor component could also be potentially identified using blind source separation (BSS) algorithms. For example, Delorme et al. (18) identified, using independent component analysis (ICA) techniques, a number of components in the EEG activity of healthy subjects performing a working memory task. However, no group has demonstrated the feasibility of separating the tremor component from other brain activity. Notably, all the ICA/BSS algorithms proposed so far build on general assumptions about the EEG properties such as independence of the identified components, and would not exploit the specific characteristics of tremor, such as the relationship between sensorimotor cortical activity and muscle activity. As a result, they would suffer from large inter-trial and inter-subject variability in convergence toward the specific (tremor-related) EEG component.

With the exception of Gallego et al. (15), where we used cumulative motor unit spike trains (CST) to characterize the neural drive to the muscle, the authors of all of the studies mentioned above used the rectified surface EMG as an estimator of muscle activity. However, recent studies have shown that the CST of several (e.g., ≥ 5) motoneurons that innervate a muscle provide a more accurate representation of the synaptic inputs to a motoneuron pool than the EMG envelope (19-21). In addition, rectification of the surface EMG may or may not enhance the detection of synaptic inputs to the pool depending on the muscle contraction level (22). Indeed, as shown in Farina et al. (22) rectification is preferable over the raw EMG only at low contraction levels. Therefore, methods based on the CST rather than on the traditional surface EMG analysis are likely to identify tremor-related cortical activity more reliably.

In this study, we present and validate a novel method to identify tremor-related cortical activity. This method builds on the assumption that the tremor-related EEG component is stochastically phase-locked to the motor unit firings in a tremulous muscle. This implies close to linear relationship between the cortical activity and the firings of the pool of motor units that form a muscle (15, 21, 23). This relationship has been experimentally demonstrated before by the existence of EEG-EMG coherence at the tremor frequency (2, 3, 6–13, 15, 16, 24).

In our method, motor unit spike trains are identified from non-invasively recorded multichannel surface EMG recordings using the Convolution Kernel Compensation (CKC) technique (25–27). These firings are then used to construct the phaselocked estimator of the tremor-related activity in EEG. By using simulated data, we show that our method tracks reliably the tremor activity for a wide range of physiologically realistic conditions. We then apply this method to recordings from nine essential tremor (ET) and nine Parkinson's disease (PD) patients, and show that the method outperforms the traditional coherence approach when detecting tremor-related cortical activity.

MULTICHANNEL EMG-DRIVEN IDENTIFICATION OF TREMOR-RELATED ACTIVITY

We first assume that EEG signals are linear mixtures of brain oscillations (rhythms) and noise (**Figure 1**). Then, using this data model, we build a linear minimum mean square error (LMMSE) estimator of the cortical tremor activity that exploits the large synchronization of motor unit firings in pathological tremor.

Data Model

Assume the mixing model depicted in **Figure 1**, and denote the *M* EEG channels by $y(n) = [y_1(n), y_2(n) \dots y_M(n)]^T$, where the *n*-th sample of the *i*-th channel appears in the *i*-th row of y(n). The model inputs, $s_j(n)$, represent the brain rhythms in the EEG. For example, in a normal condition, these inputs would reflect the alpha, beta or gamma rhythms. As in other BSS/ICA EEG studies, artifacts, such as blinking artifacts, would also be considered a model input. In the case of pathological tremor, one or more of these inputs reflects tremor activity.

The mixing model in Figure 1 can be expressed in a matrix form as.

 $\mathbf{y}(\mathbf{n}) = \mathbf{A}\bar{\mathbf{s}}(n) + \boldsymbol{\omega}(\mathbf{n}) \tag{1}$

Where

$$\bar{\mathbf{s}}(n) = [s_1(n), s_1(n-1) \dots s_1(n-L+1), s_2(n) \dots s_2(n-L+1) \dots s_J(n-L+1)]^T$$
(2)

contains blocks of *L* samples from *J* sources and the noise vector $\boldsymbol{\omega}(n) = \left[\omega_1(n), \omega_2(n) \dots \omega_M(n)\right]^T$ is modeled as a zero-mean



FIGURE 1 Proposed mixing model of the EEG. CST is coupled to the tremor EEG component $s_1(n)$ via an unknown function f(n). The other sources $[s_2(n)$ to $s_N(n)]$ represent the non-tremoric brain rhythms in the EEG. The impulse responses a_{mj} project the *j*-th source $s_j(n)$ to the *m*-th EEG channel $y_m(n)$, whereas $\omega_m(n)$ denotes the additive noise in the *m*-th EEG channel.

ergodic Gaussian process, spatially and temporarily independent w of the activity in s(n). The mixing matrix

$$\mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{a}_{11} \cdots & \mathbf{a}_{1J} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{a}_{M1} & \cdots & \mathbf{a}_{MJ} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3)

contains stationary impulse responses $\mathbf{a}_{mj} = [a_{mj}(0) \cdots a_{mj}(L-1)]$ that convolve the *j*-th input source and add the result to the *m*-th EEG channel.

The model described in Equation (1) is typically underdetermined, with more inputs than measurements. However, low energy inputs can always be modeled as physiological noise and, thus, included in $\omega(n)$. We can also extend $\mathbf{y}(n)$ by adding *F*-1 delayed repetitions of each EEG channel:

$$\overline{y}(n) = [y_1(n), y_1(n-1) \dots y_1(n-F+1), y_2(n) \dots y_2(n-F+1) \dots y_M(n-F+1)]^T$$
(4)

This increases the number of outputs in model (1) and, more importantly, compensates potentially different time delays of same source in different EEG channels (see EMG-Driven Decomposition of EEG section for details). This is important because the same rhythm may be present at different EEG electrodes at close but different time lags (this assumption is further confirmed by the results in Results section). The extended input vector \overline{s} and mixing matrix A now change to:

$$\overline{\mathbf{s}}(n) = [s_1(n) \dots s_1(n-L-F+2), s_2(n) \dots s_2(n-L-F+2), \dots s_J(n-L-F+2)]^T \quad (5)$$

$$\overline{\mathbf{A}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A}_{11} & \cdots & \mathbf{A}_{1J} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{A}_{M1} & \cdots & \mathbf{A}_{MJ} \end{bmatrix} \quad (6)$$

with

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{mj} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{a}_{mj} & \cdots & \boldsymbol{0} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \boldsymbol{0} & \cdots & \boldsymbol{a}_{mj} \end{bmatrix}$$

For the purpose of mathematical derivations in **Appendix**, we will further represent the EEG recordings y(n) as analytic signals. Note that this does not alter the assumed mixing model, and can be readily fulfilled by applying Hilbert transform to the EEG signals.

EMG-Driven Decomposition of EEG

By temporarily neglecting the impact of noise ω (*n*), the LMMSE estimator of the input *s_i*(*n*) is given by (25)

$$\hat{s}_{j}(n) = \mathbf{c}_{s_{j}\overline{\mathbf{y}}}^{H} \mathbf{C}_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}}^{-1} \overline{\mathbf{y}}(n) = \mathbf{c}_{s_{j}\overline{\mathbf{s}}}^{H} \overline{\mathbf{A}}^{H} \left(\overline{\mathbf{A}} \mathbf{C}_{\overline{\mathbf{s}}} \overline{\mathbf{A}}^{H}\right)^{-1} \overline{\mathbf{A}}\overline{\mathbf{s}}(n)$$
$$= \mathbf{c}_{s_{j}\overline{\mathbf{s}}}^{H} \mathbf{C}_{\overline{\mathbf{s}}}^{-1} \overline{\mathbf{s}}(n), \qquad (7)$$

where superscript ^H denotes conjugate transpose, $c_{s_j\overline{y}} = E(s_j(n)\mathbf{y}(n))$ is the cross-correlation vector between $s_j(n)$ and $\mathbf{y}(n)$, and $c_{s_j\overline{s}} = E(s_j(n)\overline{s}(n))$ is the cross-correlation vector between $s_j(n)$ and $\overline{s}(n)$. Matrices $C_{\overline{s}}$ and $C_{\overline{y}}$ denote the correlation matrices of $\overline{s}(n)$ and $\overline{y}(n)$, respectively. This LMMSE estimator is Bayesian optimal in the minimum square error sense, also in the presence of noise, but requires a priori knowledge of the cross-correlation vector $c_{s_j\overline{y}}$. In experimental conditions $c_{s_j\overline{y}}$ is not known and needs to be estimated from the measurements.

To obtain an estimate of $c_{s_j \overline{y}}$, we developed a method that is based on the assumption that, in an affected muscle, the motor unit firings are phase-locked to the tremor-related cortical activity. This assumption follows from the observations

of significant coherence (linear relationship) between the EEG and the rectified EMG (1–10, 13, 14, 16) or, more directly, between the EEG and the motor unit CST (15). Remarkably, the number of motor units needed to represent population behavior during tremor is not very large, which in practice will favor the implementation of the proposed method. For example, in Negro and Farina (21) and Gallego et al. (15), the coherence between the CST and the EEG was nearly maximal with only five motor units and did not increase significantly when more motor units were added to the CST.

To obtain an estimate of $c_{s_j \overline{y}}$, we first define the firing pattern of the *r*-th tremor-affected motor unit:

$$t_{r}(n) = \sum_{k=0}^{K_{r}} \delta\left(n - k \frac{f_{s}}{f_{r}} - d_{r} - \Delta d_{rk}\right), \qquad r = 1, ..., R,$$
(8)

where $\delta(\tau)$ denotes the unit-sample impulse, d_r is the common time lag (in samples) of the pulses in $t_r(n)$ due to the transmission from motor cortex, Δd_{rk} is the intrinsic motor unit firing time variability (in samples), and is frequently defined as the *k*-th realization of Gaussian random variable $\Delta d_{rk} \sim N(0, \sigma_{\Delta d_r}), f_r$ is the motor unit firing frequency, f_s is the sampling frequency and K_r is the number of firings in the observed time interval. Note that, in order to simplify analytical derivations, we ignored the doublets in the motor unit firing pattern (8). This has small impact on the results presented herein, as doublets can always be modeled as two different instances of the *k*-th motor unit firing with different Δd_{rk} values. Furthermore, as shown in Results section, when respecting its physiologically induced range, Δd_{rk} has almost negligible impact on the proposed tremor estimation.

The cross-correlation between the EEG component $s_j(n)$ and **y**(n) can be estimated as (see derivation in the **Appendix**)

$$\hat{\mathbf{c}}_{s_{j}\overline{\mathbf{y}}} \approx \frac{\alpha}{N} \sum_{r=1}^{R} \sum_{\eta=1}^{N} t_{r}(\eta) \,\overline{\mathbf{y}}(\eta) \tag{9}$$

where *N* is the number of signal samples and factor α is defined in the **Appendix**). Due to the amplitude ambiguity of source components extracted by BSS (28), the scalar factor α can be neglected and the EEG-component that is phased-locked to the firings of the *J* motor units expressed as

$$\hat{s}_{j}(n) = \hat{\mathbf{c}}_{s_{j}\overline{\mathbf{y}}}^{H} \mathbf{C}_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}}^{-1} \overline{\mathbf{y}}(n)$$
(10)

By knowing $\hat{s}_j(n)$ cross-correlation vector $\hat{c}_{s_j\overline{y}}$ in (9) may be recalculated as

$$\hat{\mathbf{c}}_{s_{j}\overline{\mathbf{y}}} \approx \mathcal{F}^{-1}\left(g\left(\hat{S}_{j}\left(f\right)\right)\right)\overline{\mathbf{y}}(\eta) \tag{11}$$

where $\hat{S}_j(f) = \mathcal{F}(\hat{s}_j(n))$ is Fourier transform of $\hat{s}_j(n)$ and g(x) = x * |x| denotes the element-wise product of element x with its absolute value. Equations (10, 11) are then iteratively recalculated until the convergence is reached. In our study, iterations were stopped when the second norm of $\hat{s}_j(n)$ changed for <0.1%. These iterations emphasize the spectral peaks in the extracted EEG component and suppress the wideband frequency components with low energies.

Note that (9) is only true when none of the other oscillatory inputs in s(n) is a higher harmonic of the input $s_j(n)$. In the opposite case, (10) would identify both the tremor-related EEG component and its higher harmonics as one joint input (see explanations in the **Appendix**).

The presented method still needs a good approximation of the motor unit firing times, $\hat{t}_r(n)$, in order to accurately estimate $\hat{c}_{s_j\bar{y}}$. This can be obtained from high-density surface EMG recordings using the CKC decomposition technique (25, 27, 29–31), which has already been demonstrated to be highly robust to high levels of motor unit synchronization (27).

SIMULATIONS AND EXPERIMENTAL RECORDINGS

The presented method was validated on a set of synthetic signals and on experimental recordings from 18 tremor-affected patients.

Simulations

First, we tested the proposed method in a simple model that generated EEG-like oscillations as mixtures of sinusoidal sources with time-varying amplitudes. Our goal was to test the method's ability to accurately reconstruct such EEG-like sources from their convolutive mixtures, and to study its sensitivity to its three main parameters: extension factor F in (4), motor unit firing variability Δd_{rk} and signal-to-noise ratio (SNR).

The simulated signals comprised 10 (J = 10) mutually orthogonal sinusoids $s_j(n)$ and their first higher harmonics as input signals:

$$s_j(n) = \mathbf{a}(\mathbf{n}) \cdot \left(B \cdot \sin\left(2\pi f_j n - \phi_j\right) + H_1 \cdot \sin\left(4\pi f_j n - \phi_j\right) \right),$$
(12)

where a(n) is an amplitude modulator generated by filtering white noise with a second order low-pass Butterworth filter with cut-off frequency of 1 Hz. The amplitude B was set equal to 1, whereas the amplitude of the first harmonic, H_1 , was varied across simulations and was set to 0, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, and 1. This way we simulated the experimentally observed ratios between the basic tremor frequency and its first harmonic (9, 13, 32). The frequency f_j of the oscillatory inputs was set to 5+j/2 Hz with $j = 1, 2 \dots 10$, and the phase ϕ_j was randomly selected from the interval $[0, 2\pi]$. The sampling frequency was set to 1024 Hz and each simulation lasted 30 s. We assumed that the first oscillatory input, $s_1(n)$, represented the tremor-related component we wanted to detect.

Next, we simulated the spike trains of ten motor units, $t_r(n)$ with $r = 1, 2 \dots 10$, by finding the local maxima of the first generated oscillatory source, $s_1(n)$. We imposed a corticospinal delay $d_r = 10$ ms in Equation (8) to simulate the physiological delays (due the transmission from motor cortex to the output of the motoneuron pool) between the tremor-related EEG component $s_1(n)$ and the simulated motor unit firing patterns $t_r(n)$. Finally, the firing variability Δd_{rk} of each individual motor unit $t_r(n)$ was modeled as Gaussian random variable $\Delta d_{rk} \sim N(0, \sigma_{\Delta d_r})$ (33, 34) (see **Appendix**). The standard deviation $\sigma_{\Delta d_r}$

was set to 0, 10, and 20% of the average inter-spike interval in t_r (*n*), respectively (35–38). Ten Monte Carlo simulation runs were performed for each value of H_1 and $\sigma_{\Delta d_r}$, resulting in a total of 180 (10 × 6 × 3) simulation runs.

We computed 15 synthetic channels y(n) in Equation (1), with the mixing matrix A having dimensions 15×50 . The length of the impulse responses $\mathbf{a}_{mj}(l)$ in (3) was set to L = 5samples. To simulate different delays in the representation of the oscillatory inputs $s_i(n)$ across the 15 channels, each element \mathbf{a}_{mi} had one randomly selected element set to a non-zero random value from a normal distribution N(0, 1), whereas the remaining four elements were set to zero. In each simulation run, five different realizations of zero-mean random Gaussian noise were added to the measurements, with the SNR ranging from 0 to 20 dB in steps of 5 dB. This resulted in 900 (180 \times 5) simulated sets of signals. Note that our simple generative model does not realistically represent actual EEG signals; our goal was to use the simulation results to identify the range of parameter values that was adequate for the experimental data analysis. All the simulations were performed in Matlab version 8.6.0.267246 (R2015b).

Experimental Recordings

We recorded data from nine ET patients (four females and five males; age, mean \pm SD: 70 \pm 6 years, range 61–79 years) and nine PD patients (three females and six males; age, mean \pm SD: 64 ± 14 years, range 44–88 years) at Hospital 12 de Octubre, Madrid, Spain. In the ET patients, tremor severity ranged from mild (two patients) to severe (three patients), with a mean score of 36 ± 12 (mean \pm SD; range 20–51) according to the Fahn-Tolosa-Marin scale (39). In the PD patients, tremor severity also ranged from mild (five patients) to severe (two patients), with a mean score of 12 ± 6 (mean \pm SD; range 5–23) according to the UPDRSIII scale (40). All the participants included in the study gave their written informed consent after full explanation of the procedure. The study, which was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Helsinki declaration of 1975, was approved by the ethical standards committee on human experimentation at the University Hospital "12 de Octubre" (Madrid).

The experimental protocol comprised three repetitions of a 30 s long postural task, during which patients kept their arms outstretched, parallel to the ground for 30 s. During these tasks, we measured EEG, multichannel surface EMG, and wrist kinematics. EEG was recorded with 32 passive Au or active Ag/AgCl electrodes (depending on the session) placed on a cap that fulfilled the extended 10/20 system (g.Tec GmbH, Graz, Austria). Electrodes were placed in the following positions: AFz, F3, F1, Fz, F2, F4, FC5, FC3, FC1, FCz, FC2, FC4, FC6, C5, C3, C1, Cz, C2, C4, C6, CP5, CP3, CP1, CPz, CP2, CP4, CP6, P3, P1, Pz, P2, and P4. The ground was placed on the AFz position, with linked earlobes used as a reference. Before positioning the electrodes the skin was slightly abraded with abrasive paste (Meditec-Every, Parma, Italy) and conductive gel (Meditec-Every, Parma, Italy) was put under the electrodes. The recorded signals were amplified (gUSBAmp, g.Tech GmbH, Graz, Austria), band-pass (0.5-60 Hz) and notch filtered (50 Hz), to remove power line interference, and sampled at 256 Hz with 24 bit resolution.

Right wrist kinematics were recorded with inertial measurement units (IMUs) comprising three-axis accelerometers, magnetometers and gyroscopes (Tech MCS, Technaid S.L., Madrid, Spain). These sensors were fixed with surgical tape over the hand dorsum and the distal third of the forearm (on the dorsal side, close to the wrist), respectively, with one of their axes aligned to that of the wrist. Data were sampled at 100 Hz by a 12-bit A/D converter and low pass filtered (<20 Hz). Wrist kinematics was assessed as the difference between the measured accelerations in the axis parallel to the wrist (41).

Surface EMG signals were recorded from the right wrist flexors and extensors with 13 \times 5 electrode grids (LISiN-OT Bioelettronica, Torino, Italy, 8 mm interelectrode distance). The electrode grids were centered over flexor carpi radialis and extensor digitorum communis, respectively. Before the placement of the electrode grid, the skin was lightly abraded using abrasive paste (Meditec-Every, Parma, Italy) and cleansed afterward. Electrical conductivity was ensured by filling each of the electrodes in the grids with conductive gel (Meditec-Every, Parma, Italy). A soaked bracelet placed around one of the wrists was used as reference. The surface EMG signals were amplified as bipolar recordings along the direction of the fibers, band-pass filtered (3 dB bandwidth, 10-750 Hz), and sampled at 2,048 Hz by 12-bit A/D converter (LISiN-OT Bioelettronica, Torino, Italy). We synchronized the EEG, EMG, and IMU recordings using a common clock signal, which was fed into each acquisition systems. The rising edge of the first and last clock signal pulses were identified using a purposely-developed Matlab script. Data were then resampled to 2,048 Hz using a routine that incorporated an anti-aliasing filter.

Data Analysis

In the experimental recordings, individual motor unit firing patterns were identified from the multichannel surface EMG using the CKC algorithm (25, 27, 29). The pulse-to-noise ratio metric (PNR) (42) was used to assess the accuracy of firing estimation for each identified motor unit. Only reliably identified motor units (PNR > 30 dB; accuracy of motor unit firing estimation >90%) were used for further analysis (42), whereas all the remaining motor units were discarded.

We estimated the tremor EEG component with Equation (7), using the firings of all the identified (experimental recordings) or simulated (simulations) motor units to estimate the cross-correlation $\hat{c}_{s_j\bar{y}}$ between the oscillatory components and the EEG signals, as defined in Equation (10). We tested different extension factors, from F = 1 to F = 15. Due to the amplitude ambiguity (see **Appendix**), the estimate $\hat{s}_1(n)$ was further normalized to yield a unit norm. Finally, Equations (10, 11) were iteratively applied until the convergence criterion was reached (the second norm of $\hat{s}_j(n)$ changed for <0.1%).

The delay between the motor unit CST and the estimated tremor EEG component $\hat{s}_1(n)$ was estimated as the argument of the cross spectrum at the basic tremor frequency f_b (17, 43).

In the simulations, we further assessed the accuracy of our method by computing the normalized mean square error (NMSE; Equation 13) and the cross-correlation coefficient (CC) between the simulated and estimated tremor inputs, $\hat{s}_1(n)$ and $s_1(n)$, after both signals were aligned in time:

$$NMSE = \frac{\sum_{n=1}^{N} (s_1(n) - \hat{s}_1(n))^2}{\sum_{n=1}^{N} (s_1(n))^2} \cdot 100$$
(13)

In the experimental data, we compared the coherence between the extracted tremor component and the CST in each muscle to the coherence between the CST and the Laplacian-filtered EEG (15) (without any artifact rejection applied). In all these cases the CST was smoothed by convolving it with a 25 ms long Gaussian window. The 99% confidence limit of the coherence function was obtained as (17):

$$1 - (0.01)^{1/(L-1)} \tag{14}$$

where L is the number of disjoint 1-s segments used in the spectral estimation.

Finally, we computed the relative power H1/(H1+B) of the first tremor harmonic with respect to the basic tremor frequency in the estimated tremor EEG component, $\hat{s}_1(n)$.

Due to their non-Gaussian distribution (Lilliefors test, p > 0.05), the non-parametric Kruskal–Wallis test was used to compare the differences between the ET and PD patient groups, whereas the Wilcoxon signed rank test was used for paired comparisons. The significance level was set to p < 0.05 and p < 0.01, respectively (see Results section for details).



FIGURE 2 | Estimation of the simulated tremor component. (A) Representative example showing that the estimated tremor component (blue line) was similar to the simulated source (red line). In this example, simulation parameters were SNR = 10 dB and $\sigma_{\Delta d_F}$ = 10%. (B,C) impact of different values of the extension factor *F* on the estimated cross-correlation coefficient (CC), the NMSE between estimated and reference tremor component, and the H1/(H1+B) ratio. Results are averaged over 10 simulation runs. Mean values are depicted as thick blue lines, standard deviations as black dashed lines. In the H1/(H1+B) ratio plots, the simulated reference values are depicted with red dashed lines.



RESULTS

Simulated Data Analysis

Figure 2A shows a representative example of detection of the tremor component in the simulated signals, demonstrating that the proposed method accurately extracts the tremor-related component from the synthetic signals. Figures 2B,C show the correlation between the estimated and simulated sources, the NMSE and the estimated H1/(H1+B) ratio as a function of extension factor *F*, for two different SNR and $\sigma_{\Delta d_r}$ values. Note the high correlation and small NMSE between the simulated and the estimated tremor-related component, and the accuracy with which the ratio H1/(H1+B) was detected when extension factor was set to F = 3 or higher. For a SNR of 20 dB, extension factors from F = 2 to F = 5 were optimal, whereas for lower SNRs, extension factors from F = 4 to F = 9 were optimal (Figure 2C). In both cases the estimated H1/(H1+B) ratio was largely independent from the extension factor in the interval F = 3 to F = 10. All metrics degraded slightly when the model looked too many samples back in the past (F > 10). Based on these results and on the coherence analysis of experimental data (Figure 6), we selected an extension factor F = 8 for further analyses. Note that **Figure 6** indicates that our results would hold across a broad range of values of F, from F = 5 to F = 10.

 $Figures \, 3A,B$ summarize the NMSE, CC and H1/(H1+B) ratio as functions of the SNR and motor unit firing time

variability $\sigma_{\Delta d_r}$ at two different simulated H1/(H1+B) ratios. In both cases, the NMSE decreased and the CC increased as the SNR increased, whereas they did not change significantly with $\sigma_{\Delta d_j}$, which suggests that the simulated intrinsic variability in motor unit firing did not affect the source estimation. The estimated H1/(H1+B) ratio did not change significantly with the SNR or $\sigma_{\Delta d_r}$ and was always very close to the simulated H1/(H1+B) ratio. Namely, when averaged over all simulated SNRs, $\sigma_{\Delta d_r}$ and H1/(H1+B) ratios, the difference between the simulated and estimated H1/(H1+B) ratio was 0.01 ± 0.05 .

The delay between the estimated and simulated sources, $\hat{s}_i(n)$ and $s_i(n)$ was largely independent of the SNR, $\sigma_{\Delta d_r}$, and the simulated H1/(H1+B) ratios, averaging 0.4 ± 1.4 ms across all combinations of parameters. When a 10 ms corticospinal delay was imposed between the motor unit firings and their cortical drive $s_i(n)$, the estimated delay averaged 11.0 \pm 1.6 ms. This implies a 1.0 ± 1.6 ms difference with the simulated 10 ms delay. Despite this estimate being quite accurate, we want to note that the current simulations do not generate signals as complex as the recorded EEGs. Nor did the simulations incorporate the delays due to propagation of the motor unit action potentials along the muscle fibers or due to EMG decomposition with CKC (25–27). All these factors contribute to the unknown global delay between 0 and \sim 15 ms and cannot be easily estimated in experimental conditions. Thus, we do not expect the experimental estimates of corticospinal delay to be as accurate as those obtained based on the model.



FIGURE 4 | Example of tremor data from an essential tremor patient performing the postural task. (A) Wrist acceleration; (B) identified motor unit firings for the wrist extensors (red squares) and flexors (blue squares) along with the corresponding smoothed CST (red and blue solid lines; the blue trace is inverted for representation purposes). Each square denotes a single motor unit firing. Firings of different motor units are depicted with different vertical offset; (C) power spectrum of the smoothed CST (red solid line for wrist extensors and blue solid line for wrist flexors) compared to that of the wrist acceleration data (black solid line).

TABLE 1 | Summary of the properties of the motor units, identified by multichannel EMG decomposition.

	EXT R	FLE R
No. MUs	9.0 ± 5.2 (2-23)	5.4 ± 2.8 (2-13)
No. firings	200 ± 108 (37–531)	107 ± 72 (36–341)
PNR (dB)	35.0 ± 4.3 (30.1–51.2)	33.0 ± 4.2 (30.1–51.2)
No. MUs	9.8 ± 6.1 (1-23)	6.0 ± 5.0 (1–33)
No. firings	255 ± 126 (36–502)	147 ± 108 (36–414)
PNR (dB)	34.2 ± 4.0 (30.1–50.5)	34.7 ±4.2 (30.1–49.8)
	No. MUs No. firings PNR (dB) No. MUs No. firings PNR (dB)	EXT R No. MUs 9.0 ± 5.2 (2-23) No. firings 200 ± 108 (37-531) PNR (dB) 35.0 ± 4.3 (30.1-51.2) No. MUs 9.8 ± 6.1 (1-23) No. firings 255 ± 126 (36-502) PNR (dB) 34.2 ± 4.0 (30.1-50.5)

The table shows the number of identified motor units with PNR > 30 dB, their number of firings, and the PNR, for right wrist extensors (EXT R) and flexors (FLE R) of 9 the ET and 9 PD patients. Results are reported as mean \pm SD (range).

Experimental Recordings

Figure 4 shows an example of EMG decomposition in a representative ET patient, along with the smoothed CST. Table 1

summarizes the number of motor units that were detected from the surface EMG with PNR > 30 dB and then used for the identification of the tremor EEG component. On average, 7.7 \pm 5.2 and 8.6 \pm 6.3 motor units per contraction were identified for the ET and PD patients, respectively. The average number of firings per motor unit was 160 \pm 100 for the ET and 218 \pm 130 for the PD patients (**Table 1**). In each contraction, all the accurately identified motor units per muscle were used to estimate the tremor EEG component (see **Appendix**). Since we recorded EMGs from the wrist extensors and flexors of the right arm, two estimates of tremor EEG components were extracted per each task repetition.

Figure 5 shows a representative example of the estimated tremor EEG component. **Figure 5A** depicts the estimated tremor EEG component and how it relates to the smoothed CST, both in the time (left plots) and the frequency domain (right plot). The estimated EEG component exhibits clear tremorrelated activity with peaks both at the basic frequency and the first harmonic of that observed in the pooled motor unit firings and the wrist kinematics. **Figure 5B** shows time-frequency domain contour plots of the extracted EEG component, the smoothed CST and the wrist kinematics, as reference. In the presented case, the tremor-related EEG activity preceded the



EEG component, smoothed CST of right wrist flexor (CST FLE R) and right wrist acceleration. Warmer colors represent higher power.

pooled motor unit activity and the observed wrist movements, which manifested simultaneously, but this was not always the case.

We investigated how the number of EEG samples in the time domain (extension factor *F*) influenced the accuracy of the estimation of the tremor-related cortical activity. To this end, we computed the coherence between the tremor EEG component and the smoothed CST for increasing values of *F* (from F = 1 to F = 15). As shown in **Figure 6A**, the coherence first increased, but it saturated around extension factor F = 8, in agreement with the simulations with lower SNR ratios. Note, however, that the increase in coherence as more EEG samples were included was not significant after F = 5. **Figure 6B** demonstrates that the proposed method significantly outperforms the classical coherence between Laplacian-filtered EEG and spatially averaged rectified EMG, low pass filtered at 15 Hz.

Figure 7 shows an example of how the proposed method performs compared to the traditional approach of computing the coherence between an estimate of muscle activity (in this case the smoothed CST) and the spatially filtered EEG signals.

We calculated the coherence function for the entire recordings (1 s windows with 50% overlapping), and found no significant coherence values in any EEG channel. In contrast, the coherence between the CST and the EEG component extracted using the proposed method (extension factor: F = 8) was significant. These findings generalized to the all the tested ET and PD patients (**Figure 6B**). Our proposed method thus outperforms classic coherence approaches.

In 52% of cases studied (28 of 54), the tremor-related EEG component preceded the CST by 11.0 ± 6.4 ms, whereas in the remaining 48% of cases, the CST preceded the extracted EEG component by 11.0 ± 5.9 ms. All the delays were clustered on the interval between -30 ms and + 30 ms, and we observed no significant difference between the delays in PD and ET patients (P > 0.05, Kruskal–Wallis test). These latency values are in agreement with previous studies (7–10, 13), notwithstanding the limitation listed in the Discussion section.

Finally, a significant difference was observed in the H1/(B+H1) ratio of the extracted tremor EEG between PD and ET patients (**Figure 8**), also in agreement with previous studies (9, 13).



DISCUSSION

In this study, we derived and validated a new method for the extraction of the tremor-related EEG activity in the case of pathological tremor. The method builds on the physiological coupling between the tremor-related cortical activity and the neural drive to the muscle (the output of the motoneurons that innervate a muscle). In particular, our method combines the motor unit spike trains identified in the decomposition of high-density surface EMG recordings to build an estimator of the tremor-related EEG component. We applied it to EEG recordings to demonstrate its feasibility, but it could also be used for analyzing magnetoencephalographic (MEG) data.

The proposed method was tested on simulated data and on recordings from 9 PD and 9 ET patients. In the simulations, our method detected the simulated tremor component with great accuracy, as indicated by the low NMSE and high cross-correlation values. The small difference between the simulated and estimated H1/(B+H1) ratio (**Figures 2**, **3**, global average error of 0.006 \pm 0.053 for simulated H1/B, ranging from 0 to 1) further demonstrates the fidelity of the estimated tremor

component. Our method also yielded very accurate estimates of the delay between the motor unit population activity and the simulated EEG (the average error was 1.0 ± 1.6 ms for a simulated delay of 10 ms).

In the experimental data, the extracted tremor EEG component exhibited clear similarities with the recorded kinematics and motor unit population activity, both in the time and frequency domains. The ground truth about the estimated EEG tremor component is not available in experimental conditions. However, we believe our method performed well because the estimated EEG component exhibited significantly larger coherence with the identified population of motor units than the spatially filtered EEG signals, which is the standard approach (1-10, 13, 16). This observation indicates that the proposed method is likely to help studying the neural mechanisms of tremor. Indeed, our method always identified tremor-related activity in the EEG, while in many of the investigated cases (34 of 54) we did not find significant coherence between the spatially filtered EEG signals and the identified population of motor units. Note that this observation is in agreement with reports that several tens of second long recordings are needed to obtain robust results in standard


FIGURE 7 | Comparison of the proposed method for the detection of tremor-related cortical activity (F = 8) with the traditional coherence approach in experimental recordings. The top right plot shows the spectrum of the smoothed CST form right wrist extensor of an ET patient performing the postural task (EXT). The top left plot shows the coherence between the CST and the tremor EEG component as estimated by the proposed method, while the remaining 12 plots show the coherence between the Laplacian filtered EEG signals and the CST. The label on top of each plot indicates the central EEG electrode. Red dashed lines represent the 99% confidence limit. Note the increase in coherence yielded by our method compared to the traditional coherence approach. Coherence calculated by traditional approach was not significant in any of the electrodes.

coherence analysis (2, 6–10, 13), whereas our datasets were only 30 s long.

Movement artifacts are an important potential confound when studying corticospinal coupling using coherence techniques. We performed two complementary analyses to discard the presence of movement artifacts. First, we tested whether the tremor components were present across many spatially filtered EEG channels, as it would be the case if they resulted from movement artifacts. We calculated the coherence between the CST and each spatially filtered EEG channel. As reported above, in 34 out of 54 cases we did not find significant coherence between the spatially filtered EEG signals and the identified population of motor units. In the remaining 20 cases, significant coherence at the tremor frequency or at its higher harmonics was observed on one or two EEG channels only. As a second control, we examined whether the EEG-CST delays depended on the basic tremor frequency. Finding a significant association between these two parameters would indicate a potential mechanical coupling. Our results ruled out this possibility: the EEG-CST delays lied within the -30 to 30 ms interval. These values did not overlap with the range of delays potentially indicating an artifact (from \sim 45 to 100 ms; interval defined by the maximum and minimum tremor frequencies, 11 and 5 Hz, respectively). Therefore, our control analyses indicate that the identified tremor component is unlikely to originate from movement artifacts. Note that these extensive tests are necessary every time the presented methodology is used as, similar to the classical coherence analysis, the movement artifacts could completely mask any tremor-related activity in cortex.

The only parameter that needs to be chosen in our method is the extension factor F in Equation (4). In simulated conditions,



the optimal extension factor was dependent on the SNR (of the input sources in the simulated EEG signals) with the optimal values between F = 2 and F = 5 for SNR of 20 dB, whereas larger values, between F = 4 and F = 9, proved to be optimal in the case of lower SNRs (Figure 2). We decided to choose extension factor F = 8 for subsequent analyses. This choice was confirmed during the analysis of the experimental signals, because the coherence between the estimated tremor-related EEG component and the smoothed CST reached the plateau region at F = 8, whereas the overall increase in coherence was not significant after F = 5(Figure 6A). The observation that in all the cases studied F = 1yielded significantly worse results (lower coherence), indicates that the extension of the convolutive model (1) helps in coping with either the existence of different delays in the representation of brain rhythms across different EEG channels, or with the convolutive nature of EEG mixtures. Since the computational complexity of the proposed method increases with the square of the extension factor F, it is to our advantage that the preferred value of *F* is relatively small.

Regarding the neurophysiological results of this study, we found that the relative power of the first tremor harmonic compared to the basic tremor frequency is greater in PD than ET patients, regardless of the investigated muscle (Figure 8). This is in agreement with other studies using EEG-EMG coherence (9, 13). The observed delay between the estimated tremor EEG component and the pooled motor unit firings also agrees with previously reported values. Several studies in ET and PD patients reported a bidirectional interaction between the primary sensorimotor area of cortex and the affected muscles, with an efferent and afferent delay between 10 and 30 ms (7-10, 13). In our dataset, the EEG activity preceded the motor unit firings in half of the cases, and in the other half followed it. This is likely due to the fact that the primary motor and sensory cortices are next to each other and the limited spatial resolution of the EEG makes their activities hard to disentangle. We want to emphasize that these results were obtained using significantly shorter datasets (30 s vs. the typically \geq 60 s long signals employed in other studies), and avoiding the need of manually discarding epochs with artifacts.

Results in **Figure 6B** suggest that the strength of our method derives from the direct use of the CST in the identification of the tremor-related cortical activity. One of the reasons for this is that the CST provide a more accurate representation of the common synaptic input to the muscles than rectified EMG as it eliminates the influence of frequency components introduced by the motor unit action potentials (22, 44). In the case of tremor, the CST has most of its power at the frequency of the tremor and its harmonics (15, 45). Thus, our approach averages out artifacts and other non-physiological factors (42).

Our corticospinal latency results are consistent with previous studies (7-10, 13). However, they must be interpreted with caution. The convolutive mixing models used to represent the EMG and EEG recordings, which are critical for accurate source separation (25, 27, 42), may introduce a temporal uncertainty to the reconstructed spike trains and tremor-related EEG components. We estimate this uncertainty to be about $\pm 5 \text{ ms}$ for each reconstructed source. Moreover, the propagation of the motor unit action potentials along the muscle fibers from the innervation zone to the uptake electrodes may introduce additional few ms delay. This could potentially further decrease the accuracy of EEG-CST delay estimation. In the current study, we used arrays of several tens of surface electrodes, whereas many previous studies were based on bipolar EMG recordings. The propagation of the motor unit action potentials may differ substantially across these two setups, and may also be muscle specific. Thus, the delays estimated in our study cannot easily be compared to the ones in other studies.

The availability of our method to automatically assess the accuracy with which each motor unit spike train is identified is also of critical importance because this accuracy is then reflected in the extracted tremor-related EEG component (see **Appendix**). Our group demonstrated in Holobar et al. (42) that motor units

with PNR > 30 dB exhibit accuracy > 90% in identification of their firing patterns and in this study, we carefully utilized this knowledge to increase the accuracy of EEG component identification. In the future, we will investigate the minimal number of EEG channels required for accurate detection of tremor-related EEG activity, since it is likely that not all the EEG channels included in this study contribute significantly to tremor identification.

The proposed method is also computationally efficient. The most time consuming step is its first stage (surface EMG decomposition), which typically requires a few minutes of processing time on regular PC for 30 s long measurements. EEG decomposition in Equations (10, 11) is performed quickly.

The method does require multichannel EMG recordings from a muscle, increasing the experimental costs. However, multichannel EMG acquisition demonstrated significant progress in the recent years and became an important source of information in neurophysiology, neurology, sport sciences, prosthetics and ergonomics, to name just a few major scientific fields. Thus, it is likely that the price of multichannel acquisition systems will decrease in the near future.

We limited our study to the EEG decomposition of pathological tremor. The latter is a specific neurological disorder that is characterized by clear spectral peaks in acquired EEG, EMG, and inertial data. It is currently unclear to what extent the presented methodology is applicable to investigations of other types of pathological tremor (e.g., dystonic or cerebellar tremor) or to other disorders, such as multiple sclerosis, stroke and traumatic brain injuries and overactive thyroid, especially as tremor frequently accompanies these disorders. All these questions need to be systematically addressed in separate studies.

In conclusion, we have presented a novel method for estimating tremor-related cortical activity. This method uses pooled motor unit firings to directly extract the tremor component from cortical recordings. Based on the presented results, we believe that our method constitutes a significant step forward in the current state-of-the-art as: (a) it is the first method that directly extracts the tremor component from EEG recordings; (b) it successfully tracks time changes in the tremorrelated cortical activity and has a potential for online tremor detection.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AH, JG, ER, JR, JB-L, JP, and VG participated in conceptualization and data acquisition. AH, JK, and VG participated in formal analysis and methodology. AH, ER, JB-L and JP participated in project administration and resources. All authors contributed to writing the original draft and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript and agreed for all aspects of the work.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Commission of the European Union, within Framework 7, under Grant Agreement number ICT-2011.5.1-287739 NeuroTREMOR: A novel concept for support to diagnosis and remote management of tremor and by Slovenian research agency (contracts J2-7357 and P2-0041). JG received funding from the Commission of the European Union (FP7-PEOPLE-2013-IOF-627384). ER received funding from the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness (grant ESSENTIAL, DPI2015-72638-EXP). JR was supported by the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness (grant DPI2015-68664-C4-3-R (MINECO/FEDER), NeuroMOD Therapy development and evaluation of motor and cognitive impact for Parkinson's disease rehabilitation). JP received funding from the Commission of the European Union (EXTEND project, 779982).

REFERENCES

- Elble RJ. Origins of tremor. Lancet (2000) 355:1113-4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02054-7
- Hellwig B, Häussler S, Schelter B, Lauk M, Guschlbauer B, Timmer J, et al. Tremor-correlated cortical activity in essential tremor. *Lancet* (2001) 357:519– 23. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04044-7
- Volkmann J, Joliot M, Mogilner A, Ioannides AA, Lado F, Fazzini E, et al. Central motor loop oscillations in parkinsonian resting tremor revealed by magnetoencephalography. *Neurology* (1996) 46:1359–70. doi: 10.1212/WNL46.5.1359
- Deuschl G, Elble RJ. The pathophysiology of essential tremor. *Neurology* (2000) 54(11 Suppl 4):S14–20.
- Helmich RC, Toni I, Deuschl G, Bloem BR. The pathophysiology of essential tremor and Parkinson's tremor. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2013) 13:378. doi: 10.1007/s11910-013-0378-8
- Hellwig B, Haussler S, Lauk M, Guschlbauer B, Koster B, Kristeva-Feige R, et al. Tremor-correlated cortical activity detected by electroencephalography. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2000) 111:806–9. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(00)0 0248-0
- Timmermann L, Gross J, Dirks M, Volkmann J, Freund HJ, Schnitzler A. The cerebral oscillatory network of parkinsonian resting tremor. *Brain* (2003) 126:199–212. doi: 10.1093/brain/awg022

- Raethjen J, Govindan RB, Kopper F, Muthuraman M, Deuschl G. Cortical involvement in the generation of essential tremor. J Neurophysiol. (2007) 97:3219–28. doi: 10.1152/jn.00477.2006
- Raethjen J, Govindan RB, Muthuraman M, Kopper F, Volkmann J, Deuschl G. Cortical cor-relates of the basic and first harmonic frequency of Parkinsonian tremor. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* (2009) 120:1866–72. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2009.06.028
- Schnitzler A, Münks C, Butz M, Timmermann L, Gross J. Synchronized brain network associated with essential tremor as revealed by magnetoencephalography. *Mov Disord.* (2009) 24:1629–35. doi: 10.1002/mds.22633
- Mendez-Balbuena I, Naranjo JR, Wang X, Andrykiewicz A, Huethe F, Schulte-Mönting J, et al. The strength of the corticospinal coherence depends on the predictability of modulated isometric forces. *J Neurophysiol.* (2013) 109:1579– 88. doi: 10.1152/jn.00187.2012
- Omlor W, Patino L, Mendez-Balbuena I, Schulte-Mönting J, Kristeva R. Corticospinal beta-range coherence is highly dependent on the pre-stationary motor state. *J Neurosci.* (2011) 31:8037–45. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4153-10.2011
- Muthuraman M, Heute U, Arning K, Anwar AR, Elble R, Deuschl G, et al. Oscillating central motor networks in pathological tremors and voluntary movements. What makes the difference? *Neuroimage* (2012) 60:1331–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.088

- 14. Ibáñez J, González de la Aleja J, Gallego JA, Romero JP, Saíz-Díaz RA, Benito-León J, et al. Effects of alprazolam on cortical activity and tremors in patients with essential tremor *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e93159. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093159
- Gallego JA, Dideriksen JL, Holobar A, Ibáñez J, Pons JL, Louis ED, et al. Influence of common synaptic input to motor neurons on the neural drive to muscle in essential tremor. *J Neurophysiol.* (2015) 113:182–91. doi: 10.1152/jn.00531.2014
- Gross J, Kujala J, Hamalainen M, Timmermann L, Schnitzler A, Salmelin R. (2001). Dynamic imaging of coherent sources: studying neural interactions in the human brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 98:694–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.98.2.694
- Rosenberg JR, Amjad AM, Breeze P, Brillinger DR, Halliday DM. The Fourier approach to the identification of functional coupling between neuronal spike trains. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* (1989) 53:1–31. doi: 10.1016/0079-6107(89)90004-7
- Delorme A, Palmer J, Onton J, Oostenveld R, Makeig S. Independent EEG sources are dipolar. *PLoS ONE* (2012). 7:e30135. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030135
- Úbeda A, Del Vecchio A, Sartori M, Yavuz US, Negro F, Felici F, et al. Corticospinal coherence during frequency-modulated isometric ankle dorsiflexion. In: *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on NeuroRehabilitation (ICNR2016)*. Segovia (2016). p. 135–40.
- Farina D, Negro F, Dideriksen JL. The effective neural drive to muscles is the common synaptic input to motor neurons. *J.Physiol.* (2014) 49:1–37. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.273581
- Negro F, Farina D. Linear transmission of cortical oscillations to the neural drive to muscles is mediated by common projections to populations of motor neurons in humans. J Physiol. (2011) 589:629–37. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2010.202473
- Farina D, Negro F, Jiang N. Identification of common synaptic inputs to motor neurons from the rectified electromyogram. J Physiol. (2013) 15:2403–18. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.246082
- Dideriksen JL, Negro F, Enoka RM, Farina D. Motor unit recruitment strategies and muscle properties determine the influence of synaptic noise on force steadiness. *J Neurophysiol.* (2012) 107:3357–69. doi: 10.1152/jn.00938.2011
- Hellwig B, Schelter B, Guschlbauer B, Timmer J, Lucking CH. Dynamic synchronisation of central oscillators in essential tremor. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2003) 114:1462–7. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(03)00116-0
- Holobar A, Zazula, D. Multichannel blind source separation using convolution kernel compensation. *IEEE Trans Signal Process*. (2007) 55:4487– 96. doi: 10.1109/TSP.2007.896108
- Holobar A, Minetto MA, Botter A, Negro F, Farina D. Experimental analysis of accuracy in the identification of motor unit spike trains from highdensity surface EMG. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2010) 18:221–9. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2010.2041593
- Holobar A, Glaser V, Gallego JA, Dideriksen JL, Farina D. Non-invasive characterization of motor unit behaviour in pathological tremor *J Neural Eng.* (2012) 9:056011. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/9/5/056011
- Hyvärinen A, Karhunen J, Oja E. Independent Component Analysis. New York, NY; Chichester; Weinheim; Brisbane; Singapore; Toronto, ON: John Wiley & Sons (2001).
- Holobar A, Farina D, Gazzoni M, Merletti R, Zazula D. Estimating motor unit firing patterns from high-density surface EMG. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2009) 120:551–62. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008.10.160
- Glaser V, Holobar A, Zazula D. Real-time motor unit identification from highdensity surface EMG. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2013) 21:949–58. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2013.2247631
- Holobar A, Farina D. Blind source identification from the multichannel surface electromyogram, *Physiol Meas.* (2014) 35:R143–65. doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/35/7/R143

- Dideriksen JL, Gallego JA, Holobar A, Rocon E, Pons JL, Farina D. One central oscillatory drive is compatible with experimental motor unit behaviour in essential and Parkinsonian tremor. *J Neural Eng.* (2015) 12:046019. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/12/4/046019
- Fuglevand AJ, Winter DA, Patla AE. Models of recruitment and rate coding organization in motor-unit pools. J Neurophysiol. (1993) 70:2470–88. doi: 10.1152/jn.1993.70.6.2470
- Farina D, Mesin L, Martina S, Merletti R. A surface EMG generation model with multilayer cylindrical description of the volume conductor. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng.* (2004) 51:415–26. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2003. 820998
- Clamann HP. Statistical analysis of motor unit firing patterns in a human skeletal muscle. *Biophys J.* (1969) 9:1233–51. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3495(69)86448-9
- Matthews PB. Relationship of firing intervals of human motor units to the trajectory of post-spike after-hyperpolarization and synaptic noise. J Physiol. (1996) 492:597–628. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1996.sp021332
- Moritz CT, Barry BK, Pascoe MA, Enoka RM. Firing rate variability influences the variation in force fluctuations across the working range of a hand muscle. *J Neurophysiol.* (2005) 93:2449–59. doi: 10.1152/jn.01122.2004
- Dideriksen JL, Enoka RM, Farina D. A model of surface electromyogram in pathological tremor. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng.* (2011) 58:2178–85. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2011.2118756
- Fahn S, Tolosa E, Marin C. Clinical rating scale for tremor. In: Jankovic J and Tolosa E, editors. *Parkinson's Disease and Movement Disorders*. Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer (1993) 225–34.
- Martínez-Martín P, Gil-Nagel A, Gracia LM, Gómez JB, Martínez-Sarriés J, Bermejo F. Unified Parkinson's disease rating scale characteristics and structure. the cooperative multicentric group. *Mov Disord.* (1994) 9:76–83.
- Gallego JA, Rocon E, Roa JO, Moreno JC, Pons JL. Real-time estimation of pathological tremor parameters from gyroscope data. *Sensors* (2010) 10:2129– 49. doi: 10.3390/s100302129
- Holobar A, Minetto MA, Farina D. Accurate identification of motor unit firing patterns from high-density surface EMG and validation with a novel signal-based performance metric. J Neural Eng. (2014) 11:016008. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/11/1/016008
- 43. Halliday DM, Rosenberg JR, Amjad AM, Breeze P, Conway BA, Farmer SF. A framework for the analysis of mixed time series/point process data -Theory and application to the study of physiological tremor, single motor unit firings and electromyograms. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* (1995) 64:237–78. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6107(96)00009-0
- 44. Farina D, Merletti R, Enoka RM. The extraction of neural strategies from the surface EMG: an update. J Appl Physiol. (2014) 117:1215–30. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00162.2014
- 45. Gallego JA, Dideriksen JL, Holobar A, Ibáñez J, Glaser V, Romero JP, et al. The phase difference between neural drives to antagonist muscles in essential tremor is associated with the relative strength of supraspinal and afferent input. *J Neurosci.* (2015) 10:8925–37. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0106-1 5.2015

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Holobar, Gallego, Kranjec, Rocon, Romero, Benito-León, Pons and Glaser. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIX Estimation of $c_{s_j(n),\overline{s}}$ in the Case of

Phase-locked Motor Unit Firings

Assume that tremor-related EEG component in its analytic form can be expressed as a complex exponential function:

$$s_{j}(n) = e^{i\left(2\pi \frac{f_{j}}{f_{s}}n + \varphi_{j}\right)}$$
(A1)

Where *i* is imaginary unit, f_j and ϕ_j are the frequency and the phase of s_j , respectively, and f_s is the sampling frequency. Then the cross-correlation $\mathbf{c}_{s_j,s_\lambda}(d)$ can be approximated by the following sample mean:

$$\mathbf{c}_{s_j,s_\lambda}(d) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} s_j(n) s_\lambda^H(n+d)$$

$$= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} e^{i\left(2\pi \frac{f_j}{f_s}n+\varphi_j\right)} e^{-i\left(2\pi \frac{f_\lambda}{f_s}(n+d)+\varphi_\lambda\right)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{N} e^{i\left(\varphi_j-\varphi_\lambda-2\pi \frac{f_\lambda}{f_s}d\right)} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} e^{i2\pi n \frac{f_j-f_\lambda}{f_s}}$$
(A2)

As well-known from Fourier analysis, the sum over *N* in (A2) converges to zero when $N \to \infty$ and $f_j \neq f_{\lambda}$. When $f_j = f_{\lambda}$ (A2) yields

$$\mathbf{c}_{s_j,s_j}(d) = e^{-i2\pi \frac{f_j}{f_s}d} \tag{A3}$$

Define now the *r*-th motor unit spike train as

$$t_r(n) = \sum_{k=0}^{K_r - 1} \delta\left(n - k \frac{f_s}{f_r} - d_r - \Delta d_{rk}\right) \tag{A4}$$

where d_r is the common time lag (phase) of the pulses in $t_r(n)$, Δd_{rk} is the *k*-th realization of Gaussian random variable $\Delta d_{rk} \sim N(0, \sigma_{\Delta d_r})$, f_r is frequency of motor unit firings, and K_r is the number of firings in the observed time interval. Then

$$\mathbf{c}_{t_{r},s_{j}}(d) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=0}^{K_{r}-1} e^{-i\left(2\pi \frac{f_{j}}{f_{s}}\left(k\frac{f_{s}}{f_{r}}+d_{r}+\Delta d_{rk}+d\right)+\varphi_{j}\right)}\right)}$$
$$= \frac{1}{N} e^{-i\left(2\pi \frac{f_{j}}{f_{s}}(d_{r}+d)+\varphi_{j}\right)} \sum_{k=0}^{K_{r}-1} e^{-i2\pi k \frac{f_{j}}{f_{r}}} \cdot e^{-i2\pi \frac{f_{j}}{f_{s}}\Delta d_{rk}}(A5)$$

When EEG tremor is coupled to motor unit firings, we have $i = \int_{j=1}^{j} f_{j}$

$$f_j = af_r$$
 for $a \in \mathbb{Z}$. Thus, $e^{-i2\pi k} f_r = 1$, $\forall k$, and (A4) simplifies to

$$\mathbf{c}_{t_r,s_j}\left(d\right) = \left(\frac{1}{N}e^{-i\left(2\pi\frac{f_j}{f_s}d_r + \varphi_j\right)}\right) \left(\sum_{k=0}^{K_r-1}e^{-i2\pi\frac{f_j}{f_s}\Delta d_{rk}}\right)e^{-i2\pi\frac{f_j}{f_s}d}(A6)$$

Since $\Delta d_{rk} \sim N(0, \sigma_{\Delta d_r})$ and $\sigma_{\Delta d_r}$ is relatively small with respect to f_s , the imaginary component of the sum in (A6) converges to f_i .

zero, so that $\sum_{k=0}^{K_r-1} e^{-i2\pi \frac{f_j}{f_s} \Delta d_{rk}} = \beta \leq K_r$ when $K_r \to \infty$, where β is a real number. When EEG tremor is not coupled to motor unit firings, i.e., $f_j \neq af_r$ for $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, (A5) converges to zero when $K_r \to \infty$. Therefore, for sufficiently large K_r (A5) and (A6) yield:

$$c_{t_r,\mathbf{s}}\left(d\right) \approx \alpha \mathbf{c}_{s_j,\mathbf{s}}\left(d\right) \tag{A7}$$

with $\alpha = \frac{\beta}{N}e^{-i\left(2\pi\frac{f_j}{f_s}d_r+\varphi_j\right)}$. In practice, The higher the number of motor unit firings K_r , the better the estimate (A6). We can increase K_r by increasing the length of the signal's time support,

increase K_r by increasing the length of the signal's time support, but this comes at the cost of long signal acquisitions. In the case of pathological tremor, motor unit firing patterns are highly synchronized and active motor units share approximately the same tremor-related firing rate $f_r = f_T$, $\forall r$ and initial delays $d_r = d_T$, $\forall r$ (see **Figure 4**). In such case, the CST of *R* motor units can be modeled by

$$CST(n) = \sum_{r=1}^{R} t_r(n) = \sum_{r=1}^{R} \sum_{k=0}^{K_r - 1} \delta\left(n - k \frac{f_s}{f_T} - d_T - \Delta d_{rk}\right) (A8)$$

This increases the number of motor unit firings in (A5) to

$$\mathbf{c}_{CST,s_j}(d) = \left(\frac{1}{T}e^{-i\left(2\pi\frac{f_j}{f_s}d_T + \varphi_j\right)}\right) \left(\sum_{r=1}^R \sum_{k=0}^{K_r - 1} e^{-i2\pi\frac{f_j}{f_s}\Delta d_{rk}}\right)$$
$$e^{-i2\pi\frac{f_j}{f_s}d} \tag{A9}$$

and, thus, improves the estimate (A6).

In noise-free conditions (A6), (A8) and (7) fully justify the approximation (9). In the presence of noise, however, further analytical derivations of the noise residual are required to verify whether the proposed estimator (10) is truly an LMMSE estimator and, thus, Bayesian optimal. Nevertheless, the results on both synthetic and experimental signals confirm the effectiveness of the proposed tremor estimation.





How Physical Activities Affect Mental Fatigue Based on EEG Energy, Connectivity, and Complexity

Rui Xu^{1,2}, Chuncui Zhang^{1,2}, Feng He^{1,2*}, Xin Zhao^{1,2}, Hongzhi Qi^{1,2}, Peng Zhou^{1,2}, Lixin Zhang^{1,2} and Dong Ming^{1,2*}

¹ Lab of Neural Engineering & Rehabilitation, Department of Biomedical Engineering, College of Precision Instruments and Optoelectronics Engineering, Tianjin University, Tianjin, China, ² Tianjin International Joint Research Center for Neural Engineering, Academy of Medical Engineering and Translational Medicine, Tianjin University, Tianjin, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xu Zhang, University of Science and Technology of China, China

Reviewed by:

Zehong Cao, University of Technology Sydney, Australia Chin-Teng Lin, National Chiao Tung University, Taiwan Bo Yao, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, China

*Correspondence:

Dong Ming richardming@tju.edu.cn Feng He heaven@tju.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 30 June 2018 Accepted: 09 October 2018 Published: 31 October 2018

Citation:

Xu R, Zhang C, He F, Zhao X, Qi H, Zhou P, Zhang L and Ming D (2018) How Physical Activities Affect Mental Fatigue Based on EEG Energy, Connectivity, and Complexity. Front. Neurol. 9:915. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00915 Many studies have verified that there is an interaction between physical activities and mental fatigue. However, few studies are focused on the effect of physical activities on mental fatigue. This study was to analyze the states of mental fatigue based on electroencephalography (EEG) and investigate how physical activities affect mental fatigue. Fourteen healthy participants participated in an experiment including a 2-back mental task (the control) and the same mental task with cycling simultaneously (physical-mental task). Each experiment consisted of three 20 min fatigue-inducing sessions repeatedly (mental fatique for mental tasks or mental fatique plus physical activities for physical-mental tasks). During the evaluation sessions (before and after the fatigue-inducing sessions), the states of the participants were assessed by EEG parameters. Wavelet Packet Energy (WPE), Spectral Coherence Value (SCV), and Lempel-Ziv Complexity (LZC) were used to indicate mental fatigue from the perspectives of activation, functional connectivity, and complexity of the brain. The indices are the beta band energy E_{β} , the energy ratio $E_{\alpha/\beta}$, inter-hemispheric SCV of beta band SCV_{β} and LZC. The statistical analysis shows that mental fatigue was detected by E_{β} , $E_{\alpha/\beta}$, SCV_{β} , and LZC in physical-mental task. The slopes of the linear fit on these indices verified that the mental fatigue increased more fast during physical-mental task. It is concluded form the result that physical activities can enhance the mental fatigue and speed up the fatigue process based on brain activation, functional connection, and complexity. This result differs from the traditional opinion that physical activities have no influence on mental fatigue, and finds that physical activities can increase mental fatigue. This finding helps fatigue management through exercise instruction.

Keywords: coherence, complexity, EEG, mental fatigue, physical activities

INTRODUCTION

Mental fatigue is defined as a "state of reduced mental alertness that impairs performance" (1, 2). It is believed to exist in the nervous system and affect the mental activities of people, such as the motivation and attention (3). It often occurs when working on cognitively demanding tasks for a prolonged period of time (3, 4) and causes difficulties for people in maintaining task performance at an adequate level (5). Furthermore, in some cases, mental fatigue can lead to vital consequences for

77

people, such as drivers, pilots and surgeons. A naturalistic driving study found that mental fatigue causes 12% of car crashes and 10% of near-misses (6, 7). Sleepiness is usually tied to mental fatigue. Another study of French drivers showed that 46% of the drivers experiencing near-misses reported related sleepiness and 5.2% of the car accidents were caused by sleepiness (8). Fatigue can affect the drivers' performance regarding EEG and functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) (9, 10). Mental fatigue is also a contributing factor for some medical conditions, such as cardiovascular diseases (11), hypothyroidism (12), and fibromyalgia (13). Therefore, it is of great importance to find out the mechanism (3, 14) and the assessment (15, 16) of mental fatigue. However, the level of mental fatigue is difficult to identify. Usually, mental fatigue is detected by significant change of fatigue indices.

Physical activities usually come with physical fatigue. Physical fatigue (or muscle fatigue) is another kind of fatigue which is caused by physical activities and defined as the inability to maintain a required force level after prolonged use of muscle (17). It is a complex, multifactorial phenomenon influenced by the characteristics of the task being performed (18). Physical fatigue is believed to be developed gradually soon after the onset of the sustained physical activity (19). The common protocol to quantify muscle fatigue is to interrupt the fatiguing session with short maximal contraction to estimate the decline in the maximal fore capacity. Additionally, EMG may be used as an indicator of muscle fatigue.

The studies on mental fatigue have been limited by the cognitive tasks (3, 4, 14, 20), such as N-back tasks, serial-7 subtraction arithmetic tasks, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test, and forward digit span. These tasks are all with high-intensity mental activities, which can effectively induce mental fatigue. Additionally, there are almost no physical activities except for the necessary responses of the cognitive tasks. It seems that an isolation exists between mental fatigue and physical activities. A recent study used simulated driving task to induce mental fatigue, and classified mental states based on generalized

partial directed coherence of EEG (21). There are only few studies on the interaction between mental fatigue and physical activities. It is verified that mental fatigue decreased exercise tolerance through higher perception of effort (22). Tanaka et al. investigated the effect of mental fatigue on physical activities using alpha-band event-related synchronization (ERD) of magnetoencephalography (MEG) and found that the mental fatigue suppresses activities in the right anterior cingulate cortex during physical fatigue (23). Similar results were also found by Mehta et al. that mental fatigue impaired motor performance and muscle capacity when exploring the prefrontal cortex activation with fNIRS (17). Additionally, Simth et al. analyzed the time-motion data of mentally-fatigued athletes, and observed a reduction in low-intensity activity velocity, which was deduced to be mediated by an increased perception of effort rather than cardiovascular or metabolic mechanisms (24). Therefore, it is commonly accepted that mental fatigue impairs physical performance, probably by increasing the effort perception. However, how the physical activities affect the mental fatigue is still unclear. Finding out the effect of physical activities on mental fatigue will help deeply understand mental fatigue, and on the other hand, it will benefit the prevention of mental fatigue.

EEG is a promising method to estimate mental fatigue (25). EEG energy has been proposed to be a valid and reliable indicator of mental fatigue (26). The EEG energy ratio was proposed in order to consider the variation of EEG energy in more than one frequency band and it can be used as a fatigue indicator during driving (27, 28). The energy ratio of α/β was believed to be a more reliable fatigue detection index than the energy index, since it showed a clear fatigue-increasing process as the ratio between the slow and fast wave activities increased (28, 29). More recently, α/β was also used to detect the fatigue variability between watching 2D and 3D TV (30). Another important parameter is the spectral coherence value (SCV) of EEG. The SCV is often used to investigate the functional connectivity of two signals. It has been regarded as an effective indicator of mental fatigue recently. The inter-hemispheric SCV of beta band decreases after



FIGURE 1 | Experimental design. (A) Flowchart of the experiment. (B) An illustration of the two-back task. NT, non-target; T, target. (C) The photo of the one participant during the experiment.

a long-term cognitive task (31), which may indicate the weakened cooperation of these brain regions during mental fatigue (32). Mental fatigue is also reported to decrease brain complexity (33, 34). The decrease of brain complexity can be interpreted as the decrease of brain's capability to continue a task. Brain complexity can be assessed by many parameters or methods, such as the inherent fuzzy entropy method (35-37) and Lempel Ziv Complexity (LZC). LZC was first proposed by Lempel and Ziv to assess the system's complexity (38). It has been widely used to identify the complexity in EEG (39). It was noted that LZC was more sensitive than the conventional spectral parameters of EEG to reflect the mental activity (40), which distinguished the schizophrenia, the depression and the healthy controls. More recently, this method was also used to recognize the poststroke depression (41). Therefore, LZC can be used to detect the brain complexity and should be able to reflect the mental states.

Cycling is a very common exercise in daily life. Cyclingbased movement can provide a safe and effective way for walking training and lower limb coordination training (42). Usually cycling studies related to fatigue are limited to peripheral fatigue, estimated by Electrocardiogram (ECG) and Electromyogram (EMG) parameters (43, 44). In the present study, the mental fatigue was generated by the n-back tasks. The n-back task is a working memory task, which activate higher-order cognition, such as language, reasoning and problem-solving (45). The reliability and validity of n-back task to cause mental fatigue have been confirmed (14, 23, 46). Physical activities (cycling) were added with the 2-back task to generate mental fatigue during activities.

Most studies focused on mental fatigue only, neglecting the effect of physical activities. This interaction will help us control fatigue and diseases with fatigue syndromes. The purpose of this study is to investigate how physical activities change mental fatigue based on EEG and to compare the sensitivity of different mental fatigue indicators. As physical fatigue increases, the nervous system will make more efforts to maintain the motor task. Therefore, we expect that physical activities will strengthen mental fatigue by occupying more neural resources. This paper is organized as follows: In section Materials and Methods, the experimental design is presented, and data processing methods on mental fatigue detection are introduced. section Results shows the results of the calculation and analysis. Then the obtained results are discussed in section Discussion. Conclusions are drawn in section Conclusions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Fourteen healthy participants (9 females and 5 males; mean age: 22.4 \pm 1.6) without any chronic fatigue syndrome or motor

FABLE 1 Experimental power of 14 participants.														
Participant no.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
Experimental Power (W)	30	45	35	40	30	40	45	40	40	25	35	35	30	35

dysfunction, participated in the experiment. The experiment protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Tianjin University and the participants have signed a consent form before experiment.

Experimental Design

The experiment was undertaken in the EEG lab of Tianjin University. It consisted of a mental task and a physical mental task as in Figure 1A. There are 2 min rest sessions before and after the fatigue-generated sessions for data acquisition. During the mental task, the participant was seated in a chair in front of the computer. The mental task included three 2-back sessions based on 26 upper-case letters. The letters occurred on the screen randomly, which was generated by Psychtoolbox within Matlab. During this task, each letter was presented for 0.5 s at the center of the screen every 3 s as shown in Figure 1B. Participants had to judge whether the presenting letter was the same as the one that had appeared two presentations before. If it was the same (target stimulus), they were to press the left button with their right index finger; if it was different (non-target stimulus), they were to press the right button with their right middle finger. The participants were instructed to perform the task trials as quickly and as correctly as possible during the show of this letter. The participants were trained with the 2-back session before the experiment in order to fully and correctly understand



the experiment. The 2-back session lasted for 20 min and was repeated for 3 times. The ratio of the numbers of target stimulus and non-target stimulus was 1:2.

A cycling part was added to the mental task described before to form the physical-mental task. A spinning bike (Yowza B300, Yowza Fitness, US) with a power measure was used for cycling. The maximum cycling power of every participant was measured before experiment: the participant first cycled for 2 min at 30 W and the power was increased at 10 W/min until the participant failed to maintain cycling (when the spinning speed is <60 rounds/min). This power was the maximum cycling power for the participant. The experimental power (shown in **Table 1**) was chosen as 40% of the maximum power, which is feasible for the participants to maintain for the whole course of the experiment. The participant cycled at the experimental power and completed the 2-back session simultaneously. The physical-mental task lasted for 20 min and was repeated 3 times.

The participants refrained from intense mental and physical activities, consumed a normal diet and beverages (excluding caffeinated beverages), and maintained normal sleeping hours on the day before the experiment. The mental task and physical-mental task were separated by 3 days to exclude the cross interference and the order of the two tasks were randomly arranged.

Data Acquisition

The resting EEG data were recorded four times during the mental or physical mental task when the participant (with eyes open) was seated without any obvious mental or physical activities as in **Figure 1C**: one (t0) before the task and the other three (t1, t2, and t3) after each fatigue-inducing session (shown in **Figure 1A**). In this way, the mental fatigue caused by mental or physical-mental tasks remained and there was no EMG disturbance in t0, t1, t2, and t3.

EEG data were collected with a Neuroscan SynAmps2 amplifier (sampling rate: 1,000 Hz). The electrodes were placed on the scalp according to the extension of the international 10–20 electrode positioning system (47) with the reference at right mastoid. Eye movements and blinks were monitored by recording the horizontal and vertical Electrooculogram (EOG) with two bipolar pairs of electrodes. The EEG data in F3, F4, FZ, C3, C4, CZ, P3, P4, PZ, T3, T4, T5, T6, O1, O2, and OZ



were analyzed in this study. These channels were selected as the representing channels from the frontal, central, parietal, temporal and occipital individually. The channels of F3, F4, FZ, C3, C4, CZ, P3, P4, and PZ are determined based on a coherence analysis during mental fatigue (31), and T3, T4, T5, T6, O1, O2, and OZ are supplemented for temporal and occipital areas.

Data Processing

The purpose of the pre-processing was to obtain clear EEG data and to increase the computing speed of feature extraction. The EEG data were re-referenced to bilateral mastoids, downsampled to 500 Hz and filtered at $0.5 \sim 45$ Hz with a 4th-order Butterworth zero-phase digital filter. The EOG interference was removed using Independent Component Analysis (EEGLAB) (48). As the EOG artifacts are in larger amplitude than pure EEG and separated by several seconds randomly, the ICA component with these artifacts can be picked out and deleted using EEGLAB. In order to obtain the steady EEG data during t0, t1, t2, and t3, the 1 min data starting from 30 s after the onset of resting EEG recording were extracted and analyzed.

The energy, interhemispheric SCV and complexity features were then calculated based on the processed EEG data.

Wavelet Packet Energy

TABLE 2 | E_a for mental and physical mental tasks

Wavelet Packet Decomposition (WPD) is generalized from the Wavelet Decomposition (WD). The advantage of WPD is that

Channel	Menta	al task	Physical mental task			
	Before	After	Before	After		
FP1	0.11 ± 0.07	0.12 ± 0.09	0.12 ± 0.07	0.11 ± 0.06		
FP2	0.12 ± 0.05	0.11 ± 0.05	0.13 ± 0.09	0.11 ± 0.06		
F7	0.11 ± 0.08	0.10 ± 0.06	0.13 ± 0.11	0.09 ± 0.08		
F8	0.11 ± 0.07	0.10 ± 0.07	0.11 ± 0.07	0.09 ± 0.07		
F3	0.11 ± 0.06	0.14 ± 0.06	0.14 ± 0.08	0.11 ± 0.06		
F4	0.12 ± 0.05	0.13 ± 0.06	0.15 ± 0.09	0.12 ± 0.07		
FZ	0.11 ± 0.05	0.13 ± 0.05	0.13 ± 0.07	0.12 ± 0.06		
C3	0.12 ± 0.06	0.13 ± 0.06	0.14 ± 0.08	$\textbf{0.10} \pm \textbf{0.06}$		
C4	0.12 ± 0.06	0.12 ± 0.05	0.15 ± 0.08	0.11 ± 0.06		
CZ	0.11 ± 0.05	0.13 ± 0.06	0.13 ± 0.07	0.11 ± 0.07		
P3	0.13 ± 0.06	0.13 ± 0.06	0.16 ± 0.10	$\textbf{0.11} \pm \textbf{0.06}$		
P4	0.11 ± 0.06	0.12 ± 0.05	0.15 ± 0.09	0.11 ± 0.07		
PZ	0.11 ± 0.05	0.12 ± 0.06	0.15 ± 0.09	$\textbf{0.10} \pm \textbf{0.06}$		
T3	0.16 ± 0.13	0.14 ± 0.09	0.18 ± 0.12	$\textbf{0.11} \pm \textbf{0.10}$		
T4	0.17 ± 0.13	0.16 ± 0.09	0.17 ± 0.12	0.11 ± 0.08		
Т5	0.19 ± 0.10	0.16 ± 0.09	0.19 ± 0.12	0.11 ± 0.09		
Т6	0.14 ± 0.09	0.14 ± 0.08	0.16 ± 0.11	0.11 ± 0.09		
01	0.23 ± 0.14	0.20 ± 0.12	0.24 ± 0.17	0.17 ± 0.14		
O2	0.18 ± 0.09	0.20 ± 0.12	0.24 ± 0.19	0.15 ± 0.12		
OZ	0.20 ± 0.11	0.19 ± 0.11	0.25 ± 0.17	$\textbf{0.16} \pm \textbf{0.12}$		

The values in bold are significantly different.

both the detail and approximation coefficients are decomposed (49), that is, precise frequency information is obtained for high frequencies. Daubechies ("db10") was used as the mother wavelet in this study. The 60 s resting EEG were decomposed by an 8-level WPD ($28 \approx fs/2$, fs = 500 Hz).

After WPD, the wavelet packet coefficients (WPC) of 256 frequency bins were obtained. The WPE across frequencies were calculated as:

$$WPE(f_i) = \|WPC_i\|_2, i = 0, 1, ..., 255$$
(1)

where $|| ||_2$ is 2-norm computation, *i* is the node number of the 8th level, f_i is the corresponding frequency of the *i*th node.

$$f_i = \frac{i+1}{256} \cdot \frac{f_s}{2} \tag{2}$$

The power of EEG data is subdivided into four frequency bands: delta ($0.5 \sim 4$ Hz), theta ($4 \sim 8$ Hz), alpha ($8 \sim 16$ Hz), and beta ($16 \sim 32$ Hz) bands. The EEG energies and energy ratios of different frequency bands are important in indicating mental fatigue (28, 29). The energy ratio is more reliable than the band energy, and it considers the energy variation of more than one band. As the energy of delta and theta rhythms is not very sensitive to mental fatigue (50), the relative energy of resting EEG in beta band E_{β} and the energy ratio of alpha and beta bands $E_{\alpha/\beta}$ were calculated as in Equations 3, 4.

$$E_{\beta} = \frac{\sum_{j=16}^{32} WPE(f_{j})}{\sum_{j=1}^{46} WPE(f_{j})}$$
(3)

$$E_{\partial/\beta} = \frac{\sum_{j=8}^{16} WPE(f_j)}{\sum_{j=16}^{32} WPE(f_j)}$$
(4)

Spectral Coherence Value

The SCV of EEG can be used to estimate the relationship between two channels of EEG at any given frequency. If x and y are EEG data of two different channels, the SCV of x and y is estimated as

$$SCV_{x,y}(f) = \frac{|S_{xy}(f)|^2}{S_{xx}(f) \cdot S_{yy}(f)}$$
 (5)

where Sxx and Syy are the power spectral densities of x and y and Sxy the cross spectrum of x and y. The 60 s data was segmented into 59 segments by a Hamming window of 2 s with an overlap of 1 s. The cross- and auto-spectrum were obtained by the average spectrum of these 59 segments.

In order to estimate the interhemispheric functional connectivity, the SCV of EEG signals in F3-F4, C3-C4, P3-P4, T3-T4, T5-T6, and O1-O2 electrode pairs were calculated. The beta band SCV was obtained by Equation 6.

$$SCV_{\beta} = \sum_{f=16\text{Hz}}^{32\text{Hz}} SCV(f)$$
(6)

Lempel-Ziv Complexity

The detailed method is described in the work of Nagarajan et al. (51). The complexity c(N) was normalized to N/log_2N resulting in

$$\lambda = c(N) / \frac{N}{\log_2 N} \tag{7}$$

The 60 s data was segmented into 20 segments. For each segment, the number of points N = 1,500.

For each segment, the data was binarised by comparison of each data point x(i) (i = 1, 2, ..., N) with its median value M_d in the following way:

$$s(i) = \begin{cases} 0, \ x(i) \le M_d \\ 1, \ x(i) > M_d \end{cases}$$
(8)

The normalized complexity λ_j^k for segment *k* channel *j* was obtained according to Equation 7. The LZC value λ_j for each channel *j* was the average of λ_i^k of 20 segments.

Data Analysis

The energy parameters of E_{β} and $E_{\alpha/\beta}$, interhemispheric beta band SCV and LZC were compared to indicate mental fatigue. The signed rank test was used to detect the significant difference between the states before and after mental or physical-mental task in each channel or channel pair.

In order to estimate the varying trend of the parameters, the linear fit of the parameters of channels or electrode pairs with



significant difference was performed to fit a linear polynomial curve. These parameters are the sum of the average values in the channels with significance, i.e., E_{β} in C3, P3, PZ, T3, T5, and OZ, $E_{\alpha/\beta}$ in C3, P3, and T4, SCV_{β} in P3-P4, and *LZC* in

TABLE 3 | $E_{\alpha/\beta}$ for mental and physical mental tasks.

Channel	Menta	al task	Physical mental task		
	Before	After	Before	After	
FP1	1.30 ± 0.69	1.41 ± 0.74	1.30 ± 1.06	1.80 ± 1.14	
FP2	1.17 ± 0.73	1.29 ± 0.49	1.25 ± 1.05	1.66 ± 1.09	
F7	1.19 ± 0.82	1.06 ± 0.40	1.21 ± 1.19	1.65 ± 0.97	
F8	1.25 ± 0.79	1.22 ± 0.51	1.33 ± 1.22	1.65 ± 0.93	
F3	1.36 ± 0.61	1.27 ± 0.43	1.35 ± 1.04	1.88 ± 1.01	
F4	1.41 ± 0.63	1.33 ± 0.42	1.37 ± 1.03	1.80 ± 0.93	
FZ	1.60 ± 0.72	1.51 ± 0.50	1.49 ± 1.08	2.01 ± 1.20	
C3	1.79 ± 0.84	2.10 ± 1.11	1.59 ± 1.12	2.60 ± 1.33	
C4	1.81 ± 0.71	1.87 ± 0.71	1.63 ± 1.06	2.22 ± 0.79	
CZ	1.71 ± 0.66	1.57 ± 0.42	1.55 ± 1.01	1.97 ± 1.01	
P3	1.68 ± 0.73	1.91 ± 0.45	1.46 ± 1.00	$\textbf{2.18} \pm \textbf{0.80}$	
P4	1.71 ± 0.63	1.92 ± 0.67	1.55 ± 1.03	2.18 ± 1.01	
PZ	1.73 ± 0.66	1.91 ± 0.65	1.61 ± 1.00	2.21 ± 1.04	
ТЗ	1.17 ± 0.72	1.23 ± 0.58	1.14 ± 1.13	1.53 ± 0.80	
T4	1.17 ± 0.77	1.19 ± 0.72	1.07 ± 1.13	1.49 ± 0.66	
Т5	1.27 ± 0.81	1.38 ± 0.35	1.19 ± 1.02	1.66 ± 0.62	
Т6	1.24 ± 0.62	1.62 ± 0.80	1.37 ± 1.02	1.80 ± 1.14	
O1	1.08 ± 0.75	1.14 ± 0.40	1.15 ± 1.14	1.20 ± 0.55	
02	1.10 ± 0.67	1.21 ± 0.49	1.18 ± 1.16	1.16 ± 0.67	
OZ	1.19 ± 0.80	1.18 ± 0.33	1.16 ± 1.15	1.25 ± 0.57	

The values in bold are significantly different.



F8, P3, T3, and T5. As the variation of each channel is also important to provide more accurate information, these indices for each channel with significance are also calculated over time of the tasks.

RESULTS

Data Processing

As the EOG artifacts are very strong in FP1 and FP2 (they are the nearest electrode positions to the eyes), the EEG in FP1 of one participant is shown in **Figure 2** to illustrate the efficacy of the filtering in our study. The red rectangle indicates where the EOG artifact occurs. **Figure 2B** shows that the common filtering can only remove the noise in certain frequencies, and it can not wipe off EOG artifacts. However, EOG artifacts can be removed successfully by ICA as shown in **Figure 2C**.

EEG Energy

The average of the beta band energy for all the channels of 14 participants in mental and physical-mental tasks is shown in **Figure 3**, **Table 2**. For the mental task, there is no significant difference in E_{β} **Figure 3A**, but in **Figure 3B**, E_{β} decreased significantly after physical mental task in Central (C3, p = 0.017), Parietal (P3, p = 0.025, and PZ, p = 0.030), Temporal (T3, p = 0.020, and T5, p = 0.007), and Occipital (OZ, p = 0.042) areas. **Figures 4**, **Table 3** show the energy ratio of alpha and beta bands $E_{\alpha/\beta}$ for all the channels. Significant increase of $E_{\alpha/\beta}$ only occurs in Central (C3, p = 0.025), Parietal (P3, p = 0.049), and Temporal (T4, p = 0.035) areas after physical mental task (**Figure 4B**).

In view of the average values, the E_{β} in all the channels has an obvious decrease after physical mental task (**Figure 3B**), while only E_{β} in 8 channels decreases slightly in mental tasks (**Figure 3A**). $E_{\alpha/\beta}$ has a similar variability trend that $E_{\alpha/\beta}$ increases obviously in most channels after physical mental task (**Figure 4B**).

Interhemispheric SCV

In order to estimate the interhemispheric connectivity of the brain, we computed the SCV_{β} between the two symmetric channels. The SCV_{β} values remains similar before and after mental task (**Figure 5A**, **Table 4**). However, there is a significant decrease in Parietal (P3-P4, p = 0.042) area after physical mental task (**Figure 5B**). The interhemispheric connectivity decreased significantly after physical mental task, but no significance was found after mental task.

Lemple-Ziv Complexity

The mean LZC of all the participants for all the channels are shown in **Figure 6**, **Table 5**. There is no significant decrease between LZC before and after the mental task, while after physical-mental task there exist significant decreases in Frontal (F8, p = 0.049), Parietal (P3, p = 0.042), and Temporal (T3, p = 0.019, and T5, p = 0.035) areas. To be noted that, the LZC average values before and after mental task are quite similar in **Figure 6A**, but the values decrease after physical mental task in all the channels in **Figure 6B**. This indicates that the brain

complexity was significantly influenced by the physical mental task.

Linear Fit

During the experiment, the resting EEG were collected for t0, t1, t2, and t3 of the tasks. The features of these periods are shown

TABLE 4 | SCV_{β} for mental and physical mental tasks.

Channel	Ment	al task	Physical mental task			
	Before	After	Before	After		
F3-F4	17.34 ± 5.28	18.17 ± 6.37	18.14 ± 6.52	17.31 ± 5.97		
C3-C4	15.16 ± 6.11	15.66 ± 7.36	16.23 ± 6.75	13.90 ± 7.02		
P3-P4	16.30 ± 5.65	16.50 ± 6.67	16.25 ± 6.76	12.87 ± 5.48		
T3-T4	3.50 ± 5.32	5.39 ± 6.96	6.11 ± 9.74	4.90 ± 5.45		
T5-T6	5.18 ± 5.11	7.12 ± 8.78	7.09 ± 8.26	5.44 ± 5.63		
01-02	13.61 ± 5.44	15.84 ± 7.48	14.95 ± 7.89	14.38 ± 5.78		

The values in bold are significantly different.

and fitted in **Figure 7**. The slopes of these features indicate the variability rate of these features when the task is proceeding. It is shown that the slopes of E_{β} (**Figure 7A**), SCV_{β} (**Figure 7C**), and LZC (**Figure 7D**) in physical mental task are smaller than those in mental tasks, while the slope of $E_{\alpha/\beta}$ (**Figure 7B**) in physical mental task. This shows that the variability of these features caused by physical mental task is larger than that caused by mental task.

The indices in each channel with significance are shown in **Figure 8** (A, C, E, and G for mental tasks, and B, D, F, and H for physical mental tasks). It has been indicated that the significant change between values in t0 and t3 only occurs in physical mental tasks. This result shows that all the channels varies in a similar trend, and there is a larger drop or increase in t1 than t3.

DISCUSSION

This study investigated the effect of physical activities on mental fatigue through specifically designed experiments and different EEG parameters. These EEG features, including beta



TABLE 5	LZC for	mental	and	physical	mental	tasks
---------	---------	--------	-----	----------	--------	-------

Channel	Menta	al task	Physical mental task		
	Before	After	Before	After	
FP1	0.29 ± 0.06	0.29 ± 0.06	0.28 ± 0.06	0.27 ± 0.07	
FP2	0.29 ± 0.06	0.29 ± 0.05	0.28 ± 0.08	0.27 ± 0.07	
F7	0.29 ± 0.08	0.28 ± 0.04	0.29 ± 0.09	0.25 ± 0.08	
F8	0.29 ± 0.07	0.28 ± 0.07	0.29 ± 0.09	$\textbf{0.25} \pm \textbf{0.07}$	
F3	0.28 ± 0.05	0.30 ± 0.04	0.29 ± 0.07	0.27 ± 0.07	
F4	0.28 ± 0.05	0.30 ± 0.05	0.29 ± 0.08	0.27 ± 0.06	
FZ	0.27 ± 0.04	0.29 ± 0.04	0.28 ± 0.06	0.26 ± 0.06	
C3	0.28 ± 0.04	0.29 ± 0.04	0.29 ± 0.07	0.26 ± 0.06	
C4	0.28 ± 0.04	0.29 ± 0.05	0.29 ± 0.08	0.26 ± 0.06	
CZ	0.27 ± 0.04	0.28 ± 0.04	0.28 ± 0.06	0.26 ± 0.07	
P3	0.29 ± 0.06	0.29 ± 0.04	0.30 ± 0.08	$\textbf{0.27} \pm \textbf{0.07}$	
P4	0.29 ± 0.05	0.29 ± 0.04	0.30 ± 0.08	0.27 ± 0.07	
PZ	0.29 ± 0.05	0.29 ± 0.04	0.29 ± 0.07	0.26 ± 0.06	
T3	0.31 ± 0.08	0.31 ± 0.08	0.32 ± 0.10	$\textbf{0.27} \pm \textbf{0.09}$	
T4	0.33 ± 0.09	0.33 ± 0.07	0.32 ± 0.10	0.27 ± 0.08	
T5	0.33 ± 0.06	0.32 ± 0.07	0.33 ± 0.10	$\textbf{0.28} \pm \textbf{0.09}$	
Т6	0.32 ± 0.07	0.31 ± 0.06	0.32 ± 0.10	0.28 ± 0.09	
01	0.37 ± 0.09	0.35 ± 0.08	0.35 ± 0.11	0.32 ± 0.12	
O2	0.37 ± 0.08	0.35 ± 0.08	0.37 ± 0.11	0.32 ± 0.11	
OZ	0.36 ± 0.09	0.35 ± 0.09	0.37 ± 0.11	0.32 ± 0.11	

The values in bold are significantly different.

band energy, energy ratio, SCV, and LZC, estimate the fatigue states from the perspectives of brain activation, interhemispheric connectivity and brain complexity. From our results, the mental fatigue causes a significant index change in physical mental task, and physical activities speed up the fatigue process. This result reveals the effect of physical activities on mental fatigue, which differs from the traditional opinion that physical activities have no influence on mental fatigue, and help instruct exercise for people with fatigue.

Indices of Mental Fatigue

The E_{β} and $E_{\alpha/\beta}$ calculated in this study has been previously used to measure mental fatigue (28, 30). The significant increase of these indices was found with mental fatigue in this study, which confirmed the findings by Eoh et al. (28) and Chen et al. (30). Jap et al. had paid more attention on energy ratios as they combined the power of different frequency bands (29) and provided a measure for greater magnitude of changes in brain activity throughout driving (52). The significant decreases were shown in physical-mental task. It was convinced that the mental fatigue occurred in both tasks, but these parameters were not so sensitive that there was no significant difference in mental task.

Zhang et al. estimated the cortical functional connectivity in Frontal, Central, and Parietal regions during mental fatigue and found that the SCV_{β} decreased in Parietal regions (31). Similar results were also found in the present study (**Figure 5**). Beta band EEG is the main EEG wave reflecting excitatory state of the brain cortex, which is associated with increased alertness

and excitement. Therefore, the decreased SCV_{β} of beta band are related to mental fatigue. The significant decreases occurred in P3-P4 electrode pair after physical-mental task. It was deduced that the mental fatigue after physical mental task caused a significant decrease in SCV_{β} .

Brain complexity was validated to decrease as the mental fatigue level increased (33). The decrease of brain complexity may be explained by neurons' functional isolation with greater autonomy of brain components (53). In this study, LZC decreased significantly in Frontal, Parietal, and Temporal regions in the physical-mental task. However, there was no significant changes of LZC in mental task. It seemed that LZC was very sensitive to the brain complexity variation caused by physical activities and this variation was distributed almost in the whole scalp.

SCV is commonly used to characterize the synchronization and functional coupling of two signals. A study has provided evidence that it is an effective and reliable way to quantify brain response to mental fatigue (31). Additionally, the complexity is another perspective to estimate mental state. LZC has excellent performance in analysis of mental disorders (41), oppositely it should be sensitive to mental fatigue when the brain is less activated.

Interaction of Mental and Physical Activities

It is well known that mental fatigue has an impact on cognitive performances (3, 5) and physical performances (22, 23), and it even causes muscle fatigue (54). However, to the authors' knowledge, how physical activities affect mental fatigue has not been thoroughly investigated. The research that EEG-EMG coherence can predict muscle fatigue (55) demonstrates that muscle fatigue affects the brain and muscle activities at the same time. Mashiko et al. found that playing a rugby football match can cause mental fatigue (56), which is consistent to the result of the present study. However, the method they used for the evaluation of mental fatigue was the Profile of Mood State (POMS) test. An interesting study investigated the brain activities during exercise in different temperatures (57). The main finding is the hyperthermia-associated mental fatigue assessed by the shift in EEG power distribution. However, there was no pure physical task in the study as the control.

This present study firstly investigated the mental fatigue in mental and physical-mental tasks with E_{β} , $E_{\alpha/\beta}$, SCV_{β} , and LZC, and estimated the variation of the parameters during the task using linear fit. The result indicated that the physical activities (cycling) are able to produce mental fatigue, causing significant differences in E_{β} , $E_{\alpha/\beta}$, SCV_{β} , and LZC. The result of the linear fit in **Figure 7** demonstrates that both mental and physical-mental tasks can increase $E_{\alpha/\beta}$ and decrease E_{β} , SCV_{β} and LZC, but the variation is more rapid in physical-mental task. Therefore, the physical activities speed up the fatigue process. It is deduced that the control of the movement is a kind of mental activity that can cause mental fatigue. As with physical fatigue increased, the participant should make more effort to complete the task. More attention was naturally paid on cycling. The task with attention



is often used to generate mental fatigue, and attention is highly related to mental fatigue (58). Therefore, the significant changes of these indices may be related to subjective effort and attention for physical activities.

An interesting phenomenon is shown in **Figure 8**, where an obvious decrease or increase occurs in t1, and the variation is retarded in the following t2 and t3. It is deduced that as the task is proceeding, the participant becomes familiar with this task, and finds an easier way to complete the task with fewer neurons joining in. Therefore, the mental fatigue increases slowly in t2 and t3.

Limitations and Future Work

Although some valuable findings are obtained, there are still several limitations in this study. The study only compared the parameters in mental and physical-mental tasks. In order to determine the effect of physical activities only, a physical task without 2-back task should be analyzed in future studies. EEG connectivity was also estimated by isolated effective coherence (59, 60). The connectivity with direction may be a new attempt to explore the mental fatigue states.

CONCLUSIONS

This study has investigated the energy parameter E_{β} and $E_{\alpha/\beta}$, connectivity parameter (SCV_{β}) and complexity parameter (LZC) to indicated fatigue in mental and physical-mental tasks. Different from the traditional view that mental fatigue is caused by mental tasks, the present study works on mental fatigue affected by physical activities. According to the statistical results, the participants are more fatigued after physical-mental task than after mental task. The linear fit results also show that physical activities speed up the fatigue significantly. The result of this study provides a new perspective of the cause of mental fatigue. Further, this may help explain why the mental fatigue can impair physical performances: the mental fatigue leads to a decrease in the ability of the



motor control. Therefore, this study helps understand the mechanism of the interaction between mental fatigue and physical activities.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to conception and design of the study and were involved in drafting and critically revising the manuscript. Additionally, RX, CZ, and FH carried out the experimental work and data processing. RX prepared the first draft paper. XZ, HQ, PZ, and LZ provided interpretation of the experimental results. DM and RX worked up the draft paper into the final version. All authors gave final approval for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Key Research and Development Program of China under grant (No.

2017YFB1300300), National Natural Science Foundation of China (No.81630051, 91520205, 61603269, 81601565, 81571762, and 31500865), and Tianjin Key Technology R&D Program (No. 15ZCZDSY00930).

REFERENCES

- Grandjean E. Fitting the Task to the Man: Ergonomic Approach. 3rd ed. London: Taylor & Francis Ltd (1980). p. 386.
- Shen KQ, Li XP, Ong CJ, Shao SY, Wilder-Smith EP. EEG-based mental fatigue measurement using multi-class support vector machines with confidence estimate. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2008)119:1524–33. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008.03.012
- de Lange FP, Faber LG, Maurits NM, Lorist MM. Mental fatigue affects visual selective attention. *PloS ONE* (2012) 7:e48073. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048073
- van der Linden D, Frese M, Meijman TF. Mental fatigue and the control of cognitive processes: effects on perseveration and planning. *Acta Psychol.* (2003) 113:45–65. doi: 10.1016/S0001-6918(02)00150-6
- Boksem MA, Meijman TF, Lorist MM. Mental fatigue, motivation and action monitoring. *Biol Psychol.* (2006) 72:123–32. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2005.08.007
- Dingus TA, Klauer SG, Neale VL, Petersen A, Lee SE, Sudweeks JD, et al. *The 100-Car Naturalistic Driving Study, Phase II - Results of the 100-Car Field Experiment.* Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg and National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (2006). Report No: HS-810 593.
- Noy YI, Horrey WJ, Popkin SM, Folkard S, Howarth HD, Courtney TK. Future directions in fatigue and safety research. *Accid Anal Prev.* (2011) 43:495–7. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2009.12.017
- Sagaspe P, Taillard J, Bayon V, Lagarde E, Moore N, Boussuge J, et al. Sleepiness, near-misses and driving accidents among a representative population of French drivers. *J Sleep Res.* (2010) 19:578–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869.2009.00818.x
- Chuang CH, Cao Z, King JT, Wu BS, Wang YK, Lin CT. Brain electrodynamic and hemodynamic signatures against fatigue during driving. *Front Neurosci.* (2018) 12:181. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00181
- Lin CT, Liu YT, Wu SL, Cao Z, Wang YK, Huang CS, et al. EEGbased brain-computer interfaces: a novel neurotechnology and computational intelligence method. *IEEE Syst Man Cybernet Magaz.* (2017) 3:16–26. doi: 10.1109/MSMC.2017.2702378
- Koyama H, Fukuda S, Shoji T, Inaba M, Tsujimoto Y, Tabata T, et al. Fatigue is a predictor for cardiovascular outcomes in patients undergoing hemodialysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2010) 5:659–66. doi: 10.2215/CJN.081 51109
- Kiserud CE, Seland M, Holte H, Fossa A, Fossa SD, Bollerslev J, et al. Fatigue in male lymphoma survivors differs between diagnostic groups and is associated with latent hypothyroidism. *Acta Oncol.* (2015) 54:49–59. doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2014.948057
- Nes LS, Ehlers SL, Whipple MO, Vincent A. Self-regulatory fatigue: a missing link in understanding fibromyalgia and other chronic multisymptom illnesses. *Pain Pract* (2016) 17:460–9. doi: 10.1111/papr.12480
- 14. Tanaka M, Shigihara Y, Ishii A, Funakura M, Kanai E, Watanabe Y. Effect of mental fatigue on the central nervous system: an electroencephalography study. *Behav Brain Funct.* (2012) 8:48–55. doi: 10.1186/1744-9081-8-48
- Tyagi R, Shen K, Shao S, Li X. A novel auditory working-memory vigilance task for mental fatigue assessment. Safe Sci. (2009) 47:967–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ssci.2008.10.018
- Zhao C, Zhao M, Liu J, Zheng C. Electroencephalogram and electrocardiograph assessment of mental fatigue in a driving simulator. *Accid Anal Prev.* (2012) 45:83–90. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2011.11.019
- Mehta RK, Parasuraman R. Effects of mental fatigue on the development of physical fatigue: a neuroergonomic approach. *Hum Fact.* (2013) 56:645–56. doi: 10.1177/0018720813507279

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all the participants who participated in the experiment.

- Boyas S, Guevel A. Neuromuscular fatigue in healthy muscle: underlying factors and adaptation mechanisms. *Ann Phys Rehabil Med.* (2011) 54:88–108. doi: 10.1016/j.rehab.2011.01.001
- Enoka RM, Duchateau J. Muscle fatigue: what, why and how it influences muscle function. J Physiol. (2008) 586:11–23. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2007.139477
- Charbonnier S, Roy RN, Bonnet S, Campagne A. EEG index for control operators' mental fatigue monitoring using interactions between brain regions. *Expert Syst Appl.* (2016) 52:91–8. doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2016.01.013
- Dimitrakopoulos GN, Kakkos I, Dai Z, Wang H, Sgarbas K, Thakor N, et al. Functional connectivity analysis of mental fatigue reveals different network topological alterations between driving and vigilance tasks. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2018) 26:740–9. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2018.2791936
- Marcora SM, Staiano W, Manning V. Mental fatigue impairs physical performance in humans. J Appl Physiol. (2009) 106:857–64. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.91324.2008
- Tanaka M, Ishii A, Watanabe Y. Neural effect of mental fatigue on physical fatigue: A magnetoencephalography study. *Brain Res.* (2014) 1542:49–55. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2013.10.018
- Smith MR, Marcora SM, Coutts AJ. Mental fatigue impairs intermittent running performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2015) 47:1682–90. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000592
- Lal SKL, Craig A. A critical review of the psychophysiology of driver fatigue. Biol Psychol. (2001) 55:173–94. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0511(00)00085-5
- Lal SKL, Craig A. Driver fatigue: electroencephalography and psychological assessment. *Psychophysiology* (2002) 39:313–21. doi: 10.1017/S0048577201393095
- Brookhuis KA, de Waard D. The use of psychophysiology to assess driver status. *Ergonomics* (1993) 36:1099–110. doi: 10.1080/00140139308967981
- Eoh HJ, Chung MK, Kim S-H. Electroencephalographic study of drowsiness in simulated driving with sleep deprivation. *Int J Ind Ergonom.* (2005) 35:307–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ergon.2004.09.006
- Jap BT, Lal S, Fischer P, Bekiaris E. Using EEG spectral components to assess algorithms for detecting fatigue. *Expert Syst Appl.* (2009) 36:2352–9. doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2007.12.043
- Chen C, Li K, Wu Q, Wang H, Qian Z, Sudlow G. EEG-based detection and evaluation of fatigue caused by watching 3DTV. *Displays* (2013) 34:81–8. doi: 10.1016/j.displa.2013.01.002
- Zhang C, Yu X, Yang Y, Xu L. Phase synchronization and spectral coherence analysis of EEG activity during mental fatigue. *Clin EEG Neurosci.* (2014) 45:249–56. doi: 10.1177/1550059413503961
- Herrmann CS, Struber D, Helfrich RF, Engel AK. EEG oscillations: from correlation to causality. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2015) 103:12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2015.02.003
- Liu J, Zhang C, Zheng C. EEG-based estimation of mental fatigue by using KPCA–HMM and complexity parameters. *Biomed Signal Proces.* (2010) 5:124–30. doi: 10.1016/j.bspc.2010.01.001
- Azarnoosh M, Motie Nasrabadi A, Mohammadi MR, Firoozabadi M. Investigation of mental fatigue through EEG signal processing based on nonlinear analysis: symbolic dynamics. *Chaos Soliton Fract.* (2011) 44:1054– 62. doi: 10.1016/j.chaos.2011.08.012
- Cao Z, Lin CT. Inherent fuzzy entropy for the improvement of EEG complexity evaluation. *IEEE Transact Fuzzy Syst.* (2018) 26:1032–5. doi: 10.1109/TFUZZ.2017.2666789
- Cao Z, Lai KL, Lin CT, Chuang CH, Chou CC, Wang SJ. Exploring restingstate EEG complexity before migraine attacks. *Cephalalgia* (2017) 38:1296– 306. doi: 10.1177/0333102417733953
- 37. Lin CT, Chuang CH, Cao Z, Singh AK, Hung CS, Yu YH, et al. Forehead EEG in support of future feasible personal healthcare solutions: sleep management,

headache prevention, and depression treatment. *IEEE Access*. (2017) 5:10612–21. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2017.2675884

- Ziv J, Lempel A. On the complexity of finite sequences. *IEEE Trans Inform* Theory (1976) 22:75–81. doi: 10.1109/TIT.1976.1055501
- Ibanez-Molina AJ, Iglesias-Parro S, Soriano MF, Aznarte JI. Multiscale Lempel-Ziv complexity for EEG measures. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2015) 126:541– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2014.07.012
- Li Y, Tong S, Liu D, Gai Y, Wang X, Wang J, et al. Abnormal EEG complexity in patients with schizophrenia and depression. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2008) 119:1232–41. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008.01.104
- Zhang Y, Wang C, Sun C, Zhang X, Wang Y, Qi H, et al. Neural complexity in patients with poststroke depression: a resting EEG study. J Affect Disord. (2015) 188:310–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.09.017
- Brown DA, Nagpal S, Chi S. Limb-loaded cycling program for locomotor intervention following stroke. *Phys Ther.* (2005) 85:159–68. doi: 10.1093/ptj/85.2.159
- 43. Chen SW, Liaw JW, Chang YJ, Chan HL, Chiu LY. A Cycling movement based system for real-time muscle fatigue and cardiac stress monitoring and analysis. *PloS ONE* (2015) 10:e0130798. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130798
- 44. Wang L, Wang Y, Ma A, Ma G, Ye Y, Li R, et al. A comparative study of EMG indices in muscle fatigue evaluation based on grey relational analysis during all-out cycling exercise. *BioMed Res Int.* (2018) 2018:9341215. doi: 10.1155/2018/9341215
- Baddeley A. Working memory: theories, models, and controversies. Ann Rev Psychol. (2012) 63:1–29. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100422
- Shigihara Y, Tanaka M, Ishii A, Tajima S, Kanai E, Funakura M, et al. Two different types of mental fatigue produce different styles of task performance. *Neurol Psychiat Br.* (2013) 19:5–11. doi: 10.1016/j.npbr.2012.07.002
- Okamoto M, Dan H, Sakamoto K, Takeo K, Shimizu K, Kohno S, et al. Three-dimensional probabilistic anatomical craniocerebral correlation via the international 10–20 system oriented for transcranial functional brain mapping. *NeuroImage* (2004) 21:99–111. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.08.026
- Delorme A, Makeig S. EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of singletrial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. J Neurosci Methods (2004) 134:9–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2003.10.009
- Zhao L, Jia Y. Transcale control for a class of discrete stochastic systems based on wavelet packet decomposition. *Inform Sci.* (2015) 296:25–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ins.2014.10.039
- Fan X, Zhou Q, Liu Z, Xie F. Electroencephalogram assessment of mental fatigue in visual search. *Biomed Mater Eng.* (2015) 26(Suppl. 1):S1455–63. doi: 10.3233/BME-151444
- Nagarajan R, Szczepanski J, Wajnryb E. Interpreting non-random signatures in biomedical signals with Lempel–Ziv complexity. *Physica D* (2008) 237:359– 64. doi: 10.1016/j.physd.2007.09.007

- Jap BT, Lal S, Fischer P. Comparing combinations of EEG activity in train drivers during monotonous driving. *Expert Syst Appl.* (2011) 38:996–1003. doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2010.07.109
- Papadelis C, Kourtidou-Papadeli C, Bamidis PD, Maglaveras N, Pappas K. The effect of hypobaric hypoxia on multichannel EEG signal complexity. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2007) 118:31–52. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2006. 09.008
- Graham JD, Sonne MW, Bray SR. It wears me out just imagining it! Mental imagery leads to muscle fatigue and diminished performance of isometric exercise. *Biol Psychol.* (2014) 103:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2014. 07.018
- Yang Q, Siemionow V, Yao W, Sahgal V, Yue GH. Single-trial EEG-EMG coherence analysis reveals muscle fatigue-related progressive alterations in corticomuscular coupling. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2010) 18:97– 106. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2010.2047173
- Mashiko T, Umeda T, Nakaji S, Sugawara K. Position related analysis of the appearance of and relationship between post-match physical and mental fatigue in university rugby football players. *Br J Sports Med.* (2004) 38:617–21. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2003.007690
- Nielsen B, Hyldig T, Bidstrup F, González-Alonso J, Christoffersen GRJ. Brain activity and fatigue during prolonged exercise in the heat. *Pflügers Arch.* (2001) 442:41–8. doi: 10.1007/s004240100515
- Tanaka M, Ishii A, Watanabe Y. Neural effects of mental fatigue caused by continuous attention load: a magnetoencephalography study. *Brain Res.* (2014) 1561:60–6. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.03.009
- Pascual-Marqui RD, Biscay RJ, Bosch-Bayard J, Lehmann D, Kochi K, Kinoshita T, et al. Assessing direct paths of intracortical causal information flow of oscillatory activity with the isolated effective coherence (iCoh). *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2014) 8:448. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014. 00448
- Cao Z, Lin CT, Chuang CH, Lai KL, Yang AC, Fuh JL, et al. Resting-state EEG power and coherence vary between migraine phases. *J Headache Pain*. (2016) 17:102. doi: 10.1186/s10194-016-0697-7

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Xu, Zhang, He, Zhao, Qi, Zhou, Zhang and Ming. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Muscle Fatigue Post-stroke Elicited From Kilohertz-Frequency Subthreshold Nerve Stimulation

Yang Zheng, Henry Shin and Xiaogang Hu*

Joint Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, United States

Purpose: Rapid muscle fatigue limits clinical applications of functional electrical stimulation (FES) for individuals with motor impairments. This study aimed to characterize the sustainability of muscle force elicited with a novel transcutaneous nerve stimulation technique.

Method: A hemiplegic chronic stroke survivor was recruited in this case study. Clustered subthreshold pulses of 60- μ s with kilohertz (12.5 kHz) carrier frequency (high-frequency mode, HF) were delivered transcutaneously to the proximal segment of the median/ulnar nerve bundles to evaluate the finger flexor muscle fatigue on both sides of the stroke survivor. Conventional nerve stimulation technique with 600- μ s pulses at 30 Hz (low-frequency mode, LF) served as the control condition. Fatigue was evoked by intermittently delivering 3-s stimulation trains with 1-s resting. For fair comparison, initial contraction forces (approximately 30% of the maximal voluntary contraction) were matched between the HF and LF modes. Muscle fatigue was evaluated through elicited finger flexion forces (amplitude and fluctuation) and muscle activation patterns quantified by high-density electromyography (EMG).

Result: Compared with those from the LF stimuli, the elicited forces declined more slowly, and the force plateau was higher under the HF stimulation for both the affected and contralateral sides, resulting in a more sustainable force output at higher levels. Meanwhile, the force fluctuation under the HF stimulation increased more slowly, and, thus, was smaller after successive stimulation trains compared with the LF stimuli, indicating a less synchronized activation of muscle fibers. The efficiency of the muscle activation, measured as the force-EMG ratio, was also higher in the HF stimulation mode.

Conclusion: Our results indicated that the HF nerve stimulation technique can reduce muscle fatigue in stroke survivors by maintaining a higher efficiency of muscle activations compared with the LF stimulation. The technique can help improve the performance of neurorehabilitation methods based on electrical stimulation, and facilitate the utility of FES in clinical populations.

Keywords: transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, electromyography, muscle fatigue, stroke, kilohertz-frequency

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yingchun Zhang, University of Houston, United States

Reviewed by:

Cliff Klein, Guangdong Province Work Injury Rehabilitation Hospital, China Zhen Yuan, University of Macau, China

> *Correspondence: Xiaogang Hu xiaogang@unc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 11 September 2018 Accepted: 21 November 2018 Published: 04 December 2018

Citation:

Zheng Y, Shin H and Hu X (2018) Muscle Fatigue Post-stroke Elicited From Kilohertz-Frequency Subthreshold Nerve Stimulation. Front. Neurol. 9:1061. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01061

90

INTRODUCTION

Functional electrical stimulation (FES) can electrically activate muscle fibers with electrodes placed at the muscle belly, and can be used to promote functional improvement in paralyzed limbs due to neurological disorders (1, 2). Even though FES has shown some success in assisting individuals with neurological disorders, the clinical impact is hampered by a critical limitation which involves rapid muscle fatigue onset during repeated stimulations (3, 4). The increased muscle fatigability can arise from factors including the violation of the size principle of motor unit (MU) recruitment (5, 6) and the highly synchronized activation of muscle fibers. Furthermore, muscles from the paralyzed limbs are more fatigable compared with the muscles of the contralateral side or intact individuals due to central (7) or peripheral fatigue (8–10), which can further limit clinical applications of FES.

Previous studies have explored various techniques to reduce muscle fatigue. For example, prolonged force production has been observed by alternately stimulating muscle synergists (11) or using randomly modulated stimulation parameters to activate different muscle fibers separately (12-14). Similarly, multi-electrode stimulation techniques have been used to asynchronously activate different muscle portions (15-18). More recently, stimulation at the proximal segment of nerve bundles has been investigated (19, 20), in order to recruit a range of MUs, especially the more fatigue-resistant MUs. The nerve stimulation technique can result in less fatigable contractions (21) and more dexterous movements (22). In addition, the nerve bundle stimulation technique can activate afferent fibers with a low current amplitude and a high frequency (23), resulting in a more physiological recruitment order of MUs. However, the activations of different MUs are still highly synchronized, and the H-reflex activity is still secondary compared with the M-wave when large muscle forces are required.

In a previous study (24), clustered narrow pulses with a carrier frequency of kilohertz (high frequency, HF) targeting the proximal nerve bundles can lead to asynchronized activation of muscle fibers and reduced force fluctuations, compared with wide pulses delivered at a low frequency (LF). Furthermore, the HF stimulation technique can reduce muscle fatigue in healthy subjects (25). However, it is not known to what degree the HF stimulation technique can improve the force sustainability in paralyzed limbs of individuals with neurological disorders. Accordingly, a hemiplegic stroke survivor was recruited in the current case study. The elicited finger flexion forces and the EMG activity from the finger flexor muscles were compared between the HF and LF stimulation on both the affected (paretic) and contralateral sides.

METHODS

Experiment and Subject Subject Background

A 54-year-old chronic stroke survivor with severe motor impairment in the arm and hand was recruited. The subject suffered from an ischemic stroke in the left corona radiate 2 years prior to the testing. The Chedoke-McMaster Stroke Assessment of the hand component was 2, and the arm component was 3. No cognition impairment was reported. Two experimental sessions, with one on each side, were performed with an interval of 1 month. This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill with written informed consent from the subject. The subject gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the local IRB. Additional written informed consent was obtained from the subject for the publication of this case report.

Experiment Setup

The subject sat in an arm chair at a comfortable height with his back supported during the experiment. The hand was restrained, and the forearm was supported (**Figure 1A**). The individual fingers were secured to four miniature load cells (SM-200N, Interface), respectively for force measurements with a sample frequency of 1 kHz.

An 8 \times 16 channel high density EMG electrode pad (OT Bioelettronica) was placed at the finger flexor muscles to obtain the EMG activities (**Figure 1A**). The electrode diameter was 3 mm with an inter-electrode distance of 10 mm. The center of the electrode grid was aligned with the midline between the olecranon process and the styloid process. Monopolar EMG signals were amplified using EMG-USB2+ (OT Bioelettronica). The sample rate, gain and bandwidth of the amplifier were set at 5,120, 200, and 10–900 Hz, respectively.

Sixteen $(2 \times 8 \text{ array})$ gel-based skin-surface stimulation electrodes (10 mm in diameter) were placed beneath the short head of the biceps brachii along the ulnar/median nerves. A custom-made MATLAB user interface was used to control a stimulator (STG4008, Multichannel Systems) and a switch matrix (Agilent Technologies) to deliver the stimulation trains with different parameters to any pair of the 16 electrodes.

Stimulation Paradigm

The sample stimulation trains for the LF and HF mode are illustrated in **Figure 1B**. In the LF mode, biphasic pulses were delivered at 30 Hz. In the HF mode, narrow pulses with a 60- μ s pulse width were clustered in bursts with a 20- μ s pulse interval, leading to a carrier frequency of 12.5 kHz. Different clusters were also delivered at 30 Hz. A pilot test demonstrated that a single 60 μ s pulse evoked no EMG activity nor force responses.

The maximum voluntary contraction (MVC) of individual fingers was first obtained, when the subject maximally flexed the individual fingers against the load cell. Before the fatigue test, we first searched across all electrode pairs using the LF stimuli with a pulse duration of 600 μ s to identify the electrode pair that can elicit the strongest muscle contraction with no pain sensation. Then, the current amplitude was adjusted until 30% of MVC was obtained for at least one finger. In the subsequent experiment, the current amplitude and the electrode pair were the same between the two stimulation modes. Muscle fatigue was evoked by delivering 20 (for the affected side) or 30 (for the contralateral side) 3-s stimulation trains with 1-s intervals (**Figure 1C**). Since muscles of the contralateral side are generally



FIGURE 1 | The experimental apparatus includes the stimulation of the ulnar/median nerve bundles, and the recordings of high density EMG at the forearm flexor muscles and the finger flexion forces (A). Sample stimulation trains for the LF and HF stimulation mode (B). The stimulation train of a trial on the contralateral side in the HF mode (C). The EMG signal of a representative channel recorded on the contralateral side in the HF mode (D).

less fatigable than that of the affected side, additional stimulation trains were delivered to ensure that fatigue can be induced. Two trials with one stimulation mode in each trial were performed in a random order. The resulting trial order was that the LF mode was first tested on the affected side, and the HF mode was first tested on the contralateral side. The initial contraction forces from the two modes were matched such that 30% MVC was elicited in the same finger. A 10-min rest was provided between trials, which was sufficient for the subjects to recover from muscle fatigue with fully recovered forces under the stimulation protocol (26).

Data Analysis Finger Force

To compare the overall force output, the raw forces from all fingers were summated at individual sample points, and the force-time integral was calculated based on the summated force. To further quantify the decline of forces between the two modes, the raw force data from each 3-s stimulation train were first averaged for individual fingers. Then, the average forces from all fingers were summated to represent the contraction force level of individual stimulation trains. Next, the force level were fitted with an exponential function, i.e. $y = a + be^{rt}$, where *a* represents the





force plateau level, *b* is the absolute force decay, and $\tau < 0$ reflects the rate of force decline. A direct comparison of the τ value cannot accurately reflect the force decline rate because the force plateau under two different modes can be different. Therefore, we estimated the number of stimulation trains (termed as the 50%peak stimulation) for the force to decline below 50% of the initial force level. A larger 50%-peak stimulation represents a slower force decay rate.

To estimate the force variability, the forces were first bandpass filtered (20–40 Hz) to eliminate the low-frequency offset and the high-frequency noise. Then, the standard deviation of the filtered force was calculated to represent the magnitude of the force fluctuation for individual stimulation trains. As in our previous study (25), the summated force fluctuation across all fingers was further normalized by the absolute force level of individual stimulation trains to eliminate the effect of force decline.

EMG Activity

Within each 3-s stimulation train, the EMG segments 5 ms prior to and 35 ms after the stimulation onset were averaged to obtain the average EMG for individual channels. Stimulation artifacts were then identified with a threshold-crossing method based on the EMG, and the EMG segment between two consecutive stimulation artifacts were extracted to calculate the EMG area, estimated as the integral of the absolute EMG over time (**Figure 1D**). The start and end point of the EMG integral calculation remained the same across the two stimulation modes. The estimated EMG areas were then averaged across all 128 channels to represent the overall level of the EMG activity. To evaluate the efficiency of muscle force generation, the force-to-EMG area ratio (F–EMG ratio) was calculated.

Results

Figures 2A,B illustrate the summated force of all four fingers between the two stimulation modes for the affected and contralateral sides. Each impulsive force was elicited by a stimulation train, resulting in 20 and 30 force pulses for the affected and contralateral sides, respectively. With matched initial force levels, the force declined notably as successive LF stimulation trains were delivered. In contrast, the force declined more slowly and stayed at a higher level under the HF stimulation. Compared with the LF mode, the force-time integral under the HF stimulation was 24.38 and 45.63% larger in the affected and contralateral side, respectively, indicating more force outputs under the HF stimulation (**Table 1**).

The changes of the contraction force are illustrated in **Figures 2C,D** for the affected and contralateral sides, respectively. For all conditions, the force decreased exponentially with the stimulation train. The average R-squared value of the exponential fit across all conditions was 0.9432 ± 0.0386 . For both the affected and contralateral sides, the force decay was smaller and the force plateau was higher after successive HF stimulation trains, compared with that in the LF stimulation (**Table 1**). Under the LF stimuli, only 9 stimulation trains were needed for the force to decline below 50% of the initial force level for both the affected and contralateral sides. On the contrary,

	Affe	cted	Contralateral		
	HF	LF	HF	LF	
Force-time integral/Ns	68.83	55.34	367.06	252.05	
Force plateau/N	1.00	0.48	4.40	1.40	
Force decay/N	1.46	1.96	5.26	8.12	
50%-peak stimulation	14	9	>30	9	

the 50%-peak stimulation under the HF stimuli was 14 for the affected side and was even larger than 30 for the contralateral side (**Table 1**). Figures 2G,H illustrate the relative force decay between the affected and contralateral sides under different stimulation modes. Under the HF stimulation, the force had a higher plateau on the contralateral side compared with the affected side. Under the LF stimulation, on the contrary, the force declined continuously for both sides and the decay rate was similar between the two sides.

The normalized force fluctuation increased with successive stimulation trains (**Figures 2E,F**), which was consistent with our previous study (25). The increase of the normalized force fluctuation was larger under the LF stimulation compared with that under the HF stimulation for both the affected and contralateral sides.

The initial EMG activity distribution and the average EMG of the channel with the highest intensity from the first and the last 3-s stimulation train are shown in Figure 3. Similar contour lines between the two modes demonstrated that similar muscles or muscle portions were activated between the two modes for both sides. The amplitude of the EMG activity under the HF stimulation was smaller compared with the LF mode. The EMG activity intensity decreased substantially over time under the LF stimulation (Figures 3D,I) while the EMG activity under the HF stimulation did not show an obvious declining trend. The F-EMG ratio decreased in both stimulation modes, indicating a decreased efficiency of the muscle force generation after fatigue. However, the F-EMG ratio under the HF stimulation was consistently larger than that under the LF stimulation over time, indicating a consistently higher efficiency of force generation under the HF stimulation.

DISCUSSIONS

In this case study, a HF stimulation protocol was tested on a hemiplegic stroke survivor to verify whether it can reduce muscle fatigue compared with the conventional LF stimulation. The results showed that the elicited force declined more slowly and the force plateau was higher under the HF stimulation for both sides, resulting in a more sustainable force output at higher levels. The force fluctuation increased more slowly, and was smaller with successive HF stimulation trains compared with the LF stimuli, indicating a less synchronized activation of the muscle fibers. The efficiency of the muscle activation measured as the F-EMG ratio (27) was higher after successive HF stimulation trains. These results indicate that the HF stimulation has the potential



and the contralateral sides (J), respectively.

to reduce muscle fatigue in stroke survivors, compared with the LF stimulation, by maintaining a higher efficiency of muscle activations.

The faster fatigue onset during electrical nerve stimulation can arise from the differences between physiologically activated MUs and electrically excited MUs. First, the recruitment order differs between the two activations (5, 6). FES preferentially excites the larger axons with lower resistance that innervate the more fatigable muscle fibers (28), although a random recruitment order has also been observed (29). Second, the electrical activation of MUs are highly synchronized and the twitch forces are time-locked to the stimulation. This is contrary to voluntary contraction where different MUs discharge asynchronously at a range of different firing rates. Therefore, the highly synchronized and physiologically reversed recruitment of MUs during FES replace the normal physiological recruitment of MUs and their discharge regulation, resulting in a fast decline of the elicited forces.

The mechanisms underlying reduced muscle fatigue in the HF stimulation may be multifactorial. First, the HF stimulation can temporally disperse the activation of different motor units (24). Each narrow pulse can only induce a subthreshold depolarization of the axon membrane and different axons might need different numbers of subthreshold depolarizations to reach

the threshold, resulting in an enlarged delay between the onsets of action potentials of different axons. Since previous studies have demonstrated that asynchronized activations of different muscle fibers can delay the onset of muscle fatigue (15-17), the decreased synchronization level of motor units with the HF stimulation can thus be a possible mechanism for the higher fatigue-resistance. Second, the HF mode stimulation could elicit more H-reflex activities compared with the LF stimulation. At low levels of stimulation intensity, the Ia afferent fibers are preferentially activated due to their intrinsic properties and their larger diameters compared with the motor axons. Within each burst of the HF stimulation, the current was delivered intermittently. Since the Ia afferent fibers can be activated more easily than the motor axons, the HF stimulation burst could first activate Ia afferent fibers compared with the single wide pulse in the LF mode. As a result, a less number of action potentials may propagate antidromically along the motor axons, and more H-reflex activities (30) can be observed. H-reflex can lead to more physiological recruitment of the motor units. The initial EMG distribution showed similar patterns between the two stimulation modes, indicating similar muscles or muscle portions were activated. However, the H-reflex activity was still considered as a possible mechanism because the surface EMG grid can only capture the activities of superficial muscles and not the EMG

activities of deep muscles through the H-reflex pathway. Lastly, a potentially changed axon excitability can also lead to reduced force generation (31). Compared with the LF mode, the HF mode possibly leads to fewer axon drop-out due to a smaller increment of the axon threshold associated with fatigue.

Even though the HF stimulation can prolong the force output for both the affected and contralateral sides, the amount of increased force outcome on the affected side was smaller compared with the contralateral side (Table 1 and Figure 2G). The possible reason is that the muscle fibers of the paralyzed limbs after neurological disorders are innately more fatigable than muscle fibers on the contralateral side (7-10). An additional piece of support for this lies in the major differences in the decline of F-EMG ratio between the two sides. Although the F-EMG ratio after successive HF stimulations plateaued in the contralateral limb, which is consistent with our previous study (25), the affected limb showed continuous decline of F-EMG ratio. This difference can arise from a relatively higher force level of the affected side, given that the subject was severely impaired. The other possible explanation is the disrupted muscle force transmission to the tendon of the affected muscles following stroke (32). The transmission failure of the muscle

REFERENCES

- Sheffler LR, Chae J. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation in neurorehabilitation. *Muscle Nerve* (2007) 35:562–90. doi: 10.1002/mus.20758
- Ragnarsson K. Functional electrical stimulation after spinal cord injury: current use, therapeutic effects and future directions. *Spinal Cord* (2008) 46:255. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3102091
- Shields RK, Dudley-Javoroski S. Musculoskeletal plasticity after acute spinal cord injury: effects of long-term neuromuscular electrical stimulation training. J Neurophysiol. (2006) 95:2380–90. doi: 10.1152/jn.01181.2005
- Bickel CS, Gregory CM, Dean JC. Motor unit recruitment during neuromuscular electrical stimulation: a critical appraisal. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2011) 111:2399. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2128-4
- Henneman E, Somjen G, Carpenter DO. Functional significance of cell size in spinal motoneurons. J Neurophysiol. (1965) 28:560–80. doi: 10.1152/jn.1965.28.3.560
- Henneman E, Somjen G, Carpenter DO. Excitability and inhibitibility of motoneurons of different sizes. J Neurophysiol. (1965) 28:599–620. doi: 10.1152/jn.1965.28.3.599
- Riley N, Bilodeau M. Changes in upper limb joint torque patterns and EMG signals with fatigue following a stroke. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2002) 24:961–9. doi: 10.1080/0963828021000007932
- Young J, Mayer R. Physiological alterations of motor units in hemiplegia. J Neurol Sci. (1982) 54:401–12. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(82)90203-9
- Svantesson UM, Sunnerhagen KS, Carlsson US, Grimby G. Development of fatigue during repeated eccentric-concentric muscle contractions of plantar flexors in patients with stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabili*. (1999) 80:1247–52. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(99)90024-2
- Hu X, Tong K, Hung L. Firing properties of motor units during fatigue in subjects after stroke. J Electromyogra kinesiol. (2006) 16:469–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2005.09.005
- Decker M, Griffin L, Abraham L, Brandt L. Alternating stimulation of synergistic muscles during functional electrical stimulation cycling improves endurance in persons with spinal cord injury. *J Electromyogra Kinesiol.* (2010) 20:1163–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2010.07.015
- 12. Graupe D, Suliga P, Prudiant C, Kohn K. Stochastically-modulated stimulation to slow down muscle fatigue at stimulated sites in paraplegics using

force to the tendon counteracts the influence of the HF stimulation on muscle fiber activation. Therefore, even though the affected muscle still showed a decrease in the rate of force decline with HF stimulation, the improvement of fatigue resistance was smaller compared with that on the contralateral side.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The current study showed that the HF stimulation at the proximal segment of the nerve bundles can reduce muscle fatigue in a stroke survivor compared with the conventional LF stimulation. The outcomes demonstrated the clinical significance of the technique to elicit sustainable muscle contractions at high force levels for individuals with neurological disorders.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YZ and XH conceptualized the study, YZ and HS performed the experiment, YZ analyzed the data, YZ and HS drafted the manuscript. YZ, HS, and XH revised the manuscript and approved the final version.

functional electrical stimulation for leg extension. *Neurol Res.* (2000) 22:703–4. doi: 10.1080/01616412.2000.11740743

- Graham GM, Thrasher TA, Popovic MR. The effect of random modulation of functional electrical stimulation parameters on muscle fatigue. *IEEE Transact Neural Syst Rehabili Eng.* (2006) 14:38–45. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2006.8 70490
- Chou L-W, Binder-Macleod SA. The effects of stimulation frequency and fatigue on the force-intensity relationship for human skeletal muscle. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2007) 118:1387–96. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2007.02.028
- Hughes AC, Guo L, DeWeerth SP. Interleaved multichannel epimysial stimulation for eliciting smooth contraction of muscle with reduced fatigue. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc.* (2010) 2010:6226–9. doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2010.5627717
- Malešević NM, Popović LZ, Schwirtlich L, Popović DB. Distributed low-frequency functional electrical stimulation delays muscle fatigue compared to conventional stimulation. *Muscle Nerve* (2010) 42:556–62. doi: 10.1002/mus.21736
- Sayenko DG, Nguyen R, Popovic MR, Masani K. Reducing muscle fatigue during transcutaneous neuromuscular electrical stimulation by spatially and sequentially distributing electrical stimulation sources. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2014) 114:793–804. doi: 10.1007/s00421-013-2807-4
- Buckmire AJ, Lockwood DR, Doane CJ, Fuglevand AJ. Distributed stimulation increases force elicited with functional electrical stimulation. *J Neural Eng.* (2018) 15:026001. doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/aa9820
- Okuma Y, Bergquist AJ, Hong M, Chan KM, Collins DF. Electrical stimulation site influences the spatial distribution of motor units recruited in tibialis anterior. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2013) 124:2257–63. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2013.04.015
- Rodriguez-Falces J, Place N. Recruitment order of quadriceps motor units: femoral nerve vs. direct quadriceps stimulation *Eur J Appl Physiol*. (2013) 113:3069–77. doi: 10.1007/s00421-013-2736-2
- Shin H, Chen R, Hu X. Delayed fatigue in finger flexion forces through transcutaneous nerve stimulation. J Neural Eng. (2018) 15:066005. doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/aadd1b
- Shin H, Hu X. Flexibility of finger activation patterns elicited through noninvasive multi-electrode nerve stimulation. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc.* (2018) 2018:1428–31. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2018.8512479

- Bergquist A, Clair J, Lagerquist O, Mang C, Okuma Y, Collins D. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation: implications of the electrically evoked sensory volley. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2011) 111:2409. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2087-9
- Zheng Y, Hu X. Improved muscle activation using proximal nerve stimulation with subthreshold current pulses at kilohertz-frequency. *J Neural Eng.* (2018) 15:046001. doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/aab90f
- Zheng Y, Hu X. Reduced muscle fatigue using kilohertz-frequency subthreshold stimulation of the proximal nerve. J Neural Eng. (2018) 15:066010. doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/aadecc
- Fuglevand AJ, Macefield VG, Bigland-Ritchie B. Force-frequency and fatigue properties of motor units in muscles that control digits of the human hand. J Neurophysiol. (1999) 81:1718–29. doi: 10.1152/jn.1999.81.4.1718
- Hautier CA, Arsac LM, Deghdegh K, Souquet J, Belli A, Lacour J-R. Influence of fatigue on EMG/force ratio and cocontraction in cycling. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2000) 32:839–43. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200004000-00017
- Kubiak Jr RJ, Whitman KM, Johnston RM. Changes in quadriceps femoris muscle strength using isometric exercise versus electrical stimulation. J Orthopaedic Sports Phys Ther. (1987) 8:537–41. doi: 10.2519/jospt.1987.8.11.537
- Gregory CM, Bickel CS. Recruitment patterns in human skeletal muscle during electrical stimulation. *Phys Ther.* (2005) 85:358–64. doi: 10.1093/ptj/85.4.358

- Palmieri RM, Ingersoll CD, Hoffman MA. The Hoffmann reflex: methodologic considerations and applications for use in sports medicine and athletic training research. J Athletic Train. (2004) 39:268–77.
- Kiernan MC, Lin CSY, Burke D. Differences in activitydependent hyperpolarization in human sensory and motor axons. J Physiol. (2004) 558:341–9. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.0 63966
- Hu X, Afsharipour B, Rymer WZ, Suresh NL. Impairment of muscle force transmission in spastic-paretic muscles of stroke survivors. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc.* (2016) 2016:6098–101. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2016.75 92120

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Zheng, Shin and Hu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Variation of Finger Activation Patterns Post-stroke Through Non-invasive Nerve Stimulation

Henry Shin, Yang Zheng and Xiaogang Hu*

Joint Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, United States

Purpose: A transcutaneous proximal nerve stimulation technique utilizing an electrode grid along the nerve bundles has previously shown flexible activation of multiple fingers. This case study aimed to further demonstrate the ability of this novel stimulation technique to induce various finger grasp patterns in a stroke survivor.

Methods: An individual with chronic hemiplegia and severe hand impairment was recruited. Electrical stimulation was delivered to different pairs of an electrode grid along the ulnar and median nerves to selectively activate different finger flexor muscles, with an automated electrode switching method. The resultant individual isometric flexion forces and forearm flexor high-density electromyography (HDEMG) were acquired to evaluate the finger activation patterns. A medium and low level of overall activation were chosen to gauge the available finger patterns for both the contralateral and paretic hands. All the flexion forces were then clustered to categorize the different types of grasp patterns.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yingchun Zhang, University of Houston, United States

Reviewed by:

Hongbo Xie, Queensland University of Technology, Australia Yun Peng, NuVasive, United States

> *Correspondence: Xiaogang Hu xiaogang@unc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stroke, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 17 September 2018 Accepted: 03 December 2018 Published: 13 December 2018

Citation:

Shin H, Zheng Y and Hu X (2018) Variation of Finger Activation Patterns Post-stroke Through Non-invasive Nerve Stimulation. Front. Neurol. 9:1101. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01101 **Results:** Both the contralateral and paretic sides demonstrated various force clusters including single and multi-finger activation patterns. The contralateral hand showed finger activation patterns mainly centered on median nerve activation of the index, middle, and ring fingers. The paretic hand exhibited fewer total activation patterns, but still showed activation of all four fingers in some combination.

Conclusion: Our results show that electrical stimulation at multiple positions along the proximal nerve bundles can elicit a select variety of finger activation patterns even in a stroke survivor with minimal hand function. This system could be further implemented for better rehabilitative training to help induce functional grasp patterns or to help regain muscle mass.

Keywords: proximal nerve stimulation, neuromuscular electrical stimulation, stroke, electromyography, finger flexion

INTRODUCTION

Following a stroke, a majority of individuals have paresis due to a loss of excitatory input and subsequent complications, such as disuse atrophy (1) and altered spinal organization (2–4). This loss of voluntary control of muscle activation often limits activities of daily living. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) has been widely utilized both in the clinic and in research settings to help restore atrophied muscle and lost functions (5–7). Electrical stimulation has been particularly

98

successful with post-stroke survivors for functional recovery (8–10). Research in NMES also aims to restore functional activation of muscles, such as the restoration of hand grasps (11).

Traditionally, NMES uses large electrode pads, targeting the distal branches of the nerve, known as the motor point stimulation (12). Although stimulation of the motor point is straightforward methodologically, NMES is limited to localized muscle activation, which limits its functional efficacy and also leads to rapid muscle fatigue (13). Advances in NMES techniques to alleviate these issues involve various multielectrode techniques, which can stimulate multiple small regions of the muscle to help distribute the current and potentially activate more muscle fibers (14, 15). Crema et al. has also demonstrated flexible activation of multiple fingers using a multi-electrode array across the forearm and hand (16). Other approaches to NMES involve stimulation of the nerve bundle prior to branching and innervating a muscle, which has shown to allow for a larger area of muscle activation and potentially reduce long-term fatigue effects (17-19).

Recent developments have demonstrated the capabilities of an alternative non-invasive transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation method targeting the ulnar and median nerves proximal to the elbow to flexibly activate individual and multiple fingers (20, 21). In addition, this technique shows the ability to delay the force decline (22, 23). A stimulation electrode grid placed along the two nerves allows us to activate different muscles or muscle portions to elicit varied desired movements, but manually switching between different electrode pairs is timeconsuming. To shorten this process, an automated electrode pair searching method has been developed and tested on intact control subjects (24). This new method can further categorize the total available sets of finger activation patterns across the entire electrode grid, providing valuable information on electrode selection and the force generation capacity of stroke muscles. However, the efficiency of this method has not been tested on stroke survivors. Therefore, this case study recruited a control subject and a stroke survivor with severe weakness of the right arm, and evaluated the available finger activation patterns of the subjects. Our results showed varied activation of multiple fingers from both subjects. Further development of this stimulation technique can provide valuable alternatives to current rehabilitation for the restoration of hand movements.

METHODS

Case Report

A 54-year-old male who had a left hemisphere ischemic stroke 2 years ago was recruited. The participant had limited voluntary motion in the arm and hand with significant muscle atrophy but had no cognitive impairments. The average ratio of the subject's maximum finger forces between hands was 0.076, and the subject's Chedoke-McMaster Stroke Assessment hand score was 2, both indicating severe impairment. A 35-year-old male participant was also recruited as a neurologically-intact control subject for comparison. This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill with

written informed consent from the subject. The subject gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the local IRB. Additional written informed consent was obtained from the subject for the publication of this case report.

Experimental Setup

To compare the proximal nerve stimulation method, the stroke subject's paretic and contralateral sides were tested on two separate occasions. The control subject was tested on the dominant arm. For each experiment, a 2 \times 8 stimulation electrode grid was placed along the medial side of the upper arm below the biceps muscle where the ulnar and median nerves are more superficial (Figure 1A). All 16 stimulation electrodes were individually connected to a switch matrix (34904A, Agilent Technologies), which could be programmatically controlled. The switch matrix was then connected to a multi-channel stimulator (STG4008, Multichannel Systems), which could also be digitally controlled to deliver any range of current amplitudes between 0 and 16 mA, with a resolution of 20 μ s. A brief cycle of 200 µs pulse width, 4 mA amplitude, and 30 Hz stimulation was delivered to every electrode to identify notably uncomfortable electrode combinations, which were then disabled. Following the stimulation setup, the skin of the anterior forearm was cleaned to reduce skin impedance for recording high density electromyography (HDEMG). An 8×16 HDEMG array (OT Bioelettronica) with a 10 mm interelectrode distance, was placed over the flexor compartment of the forearm (Figure 1B), and the 128 EMG channels were band-pass filtered at 10-900 Hz, with a gain of 500, and sampled at 5,120 Hz (EMG-USB2+, OT Bioelettronica). Lastly, each of the four fingers was individually secured to a uni-axial force transducer (SM-200N, Interface Inc.). Each finger was secured just above the metacarpophalangeal (MCP) joint (Figure 1A). The rest of the wrist and thumb were restricted to minimize force contamination. The force was recorded at 1,000 Hz. All the data recording and stimulation control were unified in a custom MATLAB GUI (Mathworks).

Automated Stimulation Procedure

Once the setup was completed, the subjects were asked to perform maximum voluntary contractions (MVC) with each of the fingers individually and all 4 together. The stimulation procedure was composed of four steps:

Initial Medium-Level Grid Stimulation

An initial current level was chosen which can elicit some noticeable finger force without excessive contraction. For the paretic and contralateral sides of the stroke subject, the current levels were 6.5 and 4.5 mA, respectively, and 5 mA for the control subject. At this initial current level, all the different pair permutations were automatically switched and stimulated to test all the stimulation locations (120 maximum pairs). The bipolar stimulation consisted of trains of matched biphasic 200 μ s pulse width and 30 Hz pulses. The stimulation was active for 0.5 s, and at rest for 1 s, while both the force and EMG were simultaneously recorded. Each pair was repeated



repetition of 3 stimulations.

3 times before the stimulation was switched to the next pair (Figure 1D).

Max Force Selection and Activation Range Estimation

Once all available electrode pairs were stimulated, the subject was given a minute of rest while the GUI identified the stimulation electrode pair which resulted in the strongest average force across all the fingers within a single repetition. This electrode pair was then used to estimate the current-force relation across all of the other electrode pairs. Stimulation at 1 mA intervals was conducted to determine a rough estimate of the minimum and medium-high activation levels (relative to the current of the initial search) needed for each tested hand.

Current-Force Relation

Randomly chosen levels of current between these ranges (Paretic: 2–8 mA, Contralateral: 2–5 mA, Control: 2–7 mA) were stimulated using the same previous parameters, but with an increased 2-s rest between successive stimulations to reduce possible fatigue. Only the force was recorded with each stimulation, and the peak averaged force was calculated. The resultant Current-Force curve was then normalized to the corresponding averaged MVC.

Low-Level Grid Stimulation

The current value which activated around 5% MVC was selected to represent a level where low levels of finger motions were available. As the paretic MVC was already low, a value was chosen which was close to the lower take-off region of the current-force relation. The chosen values for the paretic and contralateral sides were 6 and 4.3 mA, respectively. The low-level selected for the control subject was 4 mA. The entire electrode grid underwent the automated stimulation procedure at these new current levels.

Data Analysis

The data were processed to simplify its comparison across electrode pairs. First the 30 ms of HDEMG data after each stimulation pulse were aligned and averaged to form a single compound muscle action potential (CMAP), which was again averaged across the 3 repetitions for each electrode pair. The Area-Under-the-Curve (AUC) of each CMAP was calculated as a measure of overall activity of a single EMG channel. These AUC Values were then placed in a 2D array which corresponded to its physical location on the forearm, and this overall heat map was used to compare the muscle activity. Additionally, the force data were smoothed using a 100-ms window with 1-ms steps and averaged across the 3 repetitions. Examples of the processed HDEMG and force data are shown in **Figures 1B,C**, respectively. Any electrode pairs which did not produce at least 0.1N of force in any single finger were excluded from further analysis.

Hierarchical clustering was utilized to categorize the different grasp patterns based on the force data. Since the force data was retained as a 1,500 \times 4 array, a 2D correlation coefficient was calculated between the averaged force data of different electrode pairs. This value was considered as the distance between two electrode pairs, and then the complement of this correlation distance (1-Corr. Coef.), also known as the dissimilarity, was calculated between stimulation locations. Using an inconsistency cutoff of 1.1, the initial hierarchical clusters were then used as a starting point to further refine the force patterns caused by each stimulation location. The silhouette coefficient was used as a measure of cluster validity, and therefore each member of each group was shuffled until the average silhouette coefficient of each group was maximized. For each resultant final cluster group, the average ratio of force between each finger was used to threshold whether or not the finger was active. Each of these clusters were therefore labeled by its finger activation.

Lastly, the EMG Activity AUC Maps of each force cluster were correlated with each other to quantify the similarity between the EMG activation of each force cluster. A high correlation indicates that electrode pairs within a force cluster also produces similar EMG activity, and inversely, a low correlation indicates that the electrode pairs within a cluster may produce similar force, but through different muscle portions.

Results

The maximum voluntary forces obtained from the subject showed a large disparity between sides. On the contralateral side, the subject's individual finger forces were 19.9, 21.1, 30.1, and 21.9 N for the Index, Middle, Ring, and Pinky fingers, respectively (Average: 23.2 N). For the paretic side, the finger forces were 0.7, 3.6, 2.4, and 0.3 N (Average: 1.8 N). The finger maximums for the control subject were 26.7, 26.3, 20.6, and 26.9 N (Average: 25.1 N). These values were in a similar range as the stroke subject's contralateral side. Although initially obtained to normalize the elicited forces, due to the very low forces of the paretic side, the absolute forces were reported.

The clusters obtained from the contralateral and paretic hands, as well as the control subject, are shown in **Figure 2**. The labels on the top of each cluster indicates which of the four recorded fingers were active. The Contralateral hand and the control subject showed a variety of single and multifinger activation patterns which were mostly an activation of the Index, Middle, and Ring fingers, but also a few Pinky. Similarly, the Paretic hand also resulted in several clusters of activation patterns, although fewer than the contralateral side. The paretic hand resulted in relatively more clusters with only a single finger being active, but still had a few two and three finger activations. Overall, the contralateral hand and the control subject clusters show that the electrode grid had strong preference to the median nerve (Index-Middle-Ring), whereas the paretic-side electrode grid may have had a more evenly divided placement between the two desired nerve bundles.

The results of the AUC Correlation analysis are shown in **Figure 3. Figure 3A** shows two examples of EMG activity with high cluster correlation and low cluster correlation. **Figure 3B** illustrates the individual cluster AUC Correlation for two sides of the stroke subject and the control subject. These results suggest that for each force cluster in **Figure 2**, there is a high variability of EMG correlation. Some force clusters also have high EMG activity correlation, whereas other force clusters may have more varied EMG activity, and therefore lower correlation.

DISCUSSION

In the current case report, an individual with chronic stroke associated muscle weakness was tested with our proximal nerve stimulation system alongside a neurologically-intact control subject to evaluate the capabilities to elicit specific finger activations in highly paretic muscle. Overall, our results demonstrate that our stimulation system is able to activate various different fingers on both the contralateral and paretic sides of this subject.

As a survey of the available finger activations of the stimulation method, our results highlight a few important aspects of the activated finger patterns. Similar to previous results (24), a majority of the finger activations were those of the Index, Middle, and Ring fingers. These correspond to the median nerve, and therefore it can be concluded that the placement of the electrode stimulation array was preferential to the median nerve, especially for the contralateral hand and in the control subject. The sets of force clusters from these two conditions also demonstrate similar ranges of single and multi-finger activation patterns. As for the paretic hand, the activation of the Pinky finger suggests that more of the ulnar nerve was also accessible. As the paretic biceps muscle was also visibly atrophied when the stimulation electrodes were applied, the underlying nerve bundles may have been more easily accessible. Additionally, the results suggest that different electrode pairs are able to activate different portions of the corresponding nerves. Although the different clusters are a *post-hoc* attempt at organizing the finger forces generated by each electrode pair, in reality, each elicitable finger pattern lies along a continuum of finger activation levels. Different electrode pairs impose a unique electrical field onto the nerve, and thus activates a unique subset of motor and/or sensory axons. As shown in the contralateral force clusters, many of these subset axons project to muscles spanning multiple fingers, but a small number of the electrodes can partially activate a single finger. The different clusters help to identify which sets of electrode pairs can elicit desirable finger grasp patterns. Additionally, although anatomical landmarks were used during the stimulation grid placement, small variations in the location of the electrodes could inevitably lead to different sets of activation even within the same subject. Therefore, although there may be



FIGURE 2 | All Finger Force Clusters. The hierarchical clustering results of a control subject and the two sides of a stroke subject is visualized here. As shown in Figure 1, each finger is individually plotted from the force profiles of each electrode pair in a cluster. The average of all of the force profiles in a cluster are also shown as the darker solid line within each axes. The labels above each cluster represent which fingers were deemed "active" based on its relative ratio to the other fingers. The letters for each finger are, I-Index, M-Middle, R-Ring, and P-Pinky.



inter-session differences in the exact number and range of force clusters, the general similarity between the control subject and the contralateral side suggest that the stimulation grid is able to activate similar patterns of finger movement.

Although the obtained number of clusters are not necessarily indicative of any physiological correlation with muscle function, it is important to note that the paretic side does have notably fewer number and variety of force clusters (12 on contralateral/control vs. 7 on paretic side). This may be due to several factors that occur in paretic muscle after stroke. The first is due to the significant atrophy and weakness of the right arm and hand seen in the participant. As the overall stimulated force level was still very low, the limited muscle mass may not have been able to generate observable levels of force in some activation patterns. Alternatively, various losses in the motor unit (MU) numbers as well as reinnervation of existing MUs are also common occurrences after stroke (25, 26). This may alter the various subsets of activation available through nerve stimulation. Further studies are needed to confirm these possibilities, as the lower number of clusters may also simply be due to the chance involved with electrode placement. Clearly, additional testing involving a large stroke cohort is necessary.

Along with the overview of the different force clusters, as an estimation of the total available activation patterns, the EMG AUC Map correlation within each cluster also provides further insight into the actual EMG activity from each stimulation.

Figure 3 shows that within each force cluster, there may be a wide distribution of similar and dissimilar EMG activity. A force cluster that has high EMG AUC correlation, may imply a set of electrode pairs which consistently activate the same portion of muscles. Contrastingly, a force cluster that has a low EMG AUC correlation may suggest that the set of electrode pairs in the cluster is able to activate different portions of muscles even with the same resultant physical activity. This feature may have far reaching effects regarding prolonging use with stimulation redundancy. Various groups have shown that, distributed muscle activation using multiple pads is able to lead to reduced fatigability in NMES (27-29). Being able to alternate between different electrode pairs which recruit different muscles with similar functional outputs could reduce muscle fatigue in the stimulation. Further investigation on the relation between the force variability and EMG variability is necessary to better understand the different electrode pair choices and their impacts on force production.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The current study demonstrates the variety of finger activation patterns that are accessible through our proximal nerve stimulation method. Both the contralateral and paretic sides of a stroke subject were able to be successfully stimulated to produce a number of multi-finger movements along with a few isolated single fingers. The contralateral hand, in particular, was able to elicit a similar variety of finger activation patterns as seen in the control subject. Further development of the technique can also be combined with radial nerve stimulation to also include hand opening, which is just as important for stroke survivors. The automated electrode searching with the force clustering can help rapidly identify the feasible sets of electrode pairs, which can allow us to develop an auto-calibration method between

REFERENCES

- Scherbakov N, Von Haehling S, Anker SD, Dirnagl U, Doehner W. Stroke induced Sarcopenia: muscle wasting and disability after stroke. *Int J Cardiol.* (2013) 170:89–94. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2013.10.031
- Gemperline JJ, Allen S, Walk D, Rymer WZ. Characteristics of motor unit discharge in subjects with hemiparesis. *Muscle Nerve*. (1995) 18:1101–14. doi: 10.1002/mus.880181006
- Hu X, Suresh AK, Rymer WZ, Suresh NL. Assessing altered motor unit recruitment patterns in paretic muscles of stroke survivors using surface electromyography. J Neural Eng. (2015) 12:066001. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/12/6/066001
- Hu X, Suresh AK, Rymer WZ, Suresh NL. Altered motor unit discharge patterns in paretic muscles of stroke survivors assessed using surface electromyography. J Neural Eng. (2016) 13:046025. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/13/4/046025
- Peckham PH, Knutson JS. Functional electrical stimulation for neuromuscular applications. *Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng.* (2005) 7:327–60. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bioeng.6.040803.140103
- Sheffler LR, Chae J. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation in neurorehabilitation *Muscle Nerve* (2007) 35:562–90. doi: 10.1002/mus.20758
- Doucet BM, Lam A, Griffin L. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation for skeletal muscle function. *Yale J Biol Med.* (2012) 85:201–15.
- Quandt F, Hummel FC. The influence of functional electrical stimulation on hand motor recovery in stroke patients: a review. *Exp Transl Stroke Med.* (2014) 6:9. doi: 10.1186/2040-7378-6-9
- Howlett OA, Lannin NA, Ada L, Mckinstry C. Functional electrical stimulation improves activity after stroke: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2015) 96:934–43. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2015.01.013
- Makowski NS, Knutson JS, Chae J, Crago PE. Functional electrical stimulation to augment poststroke reach and hand opening in the presence of voluntary effort: a pilot study. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair* (2014) 28:241–9. doi: 10.1177/1545968313505913
- Popovic MR, Popovic DB, Keller T. Neuroprostheses for grasping. *Neurol Res.* (2002) 24:443–52. doi: 10.1179/016164102101200311
- Gobbo M, Maffiuletti NA, Orizio C, Minetto MA. Muscle motor point identification is essential for optimizing neuromuscular electrical stimulation use. J Neuroeng Rehabil. (2014) 11:1–6. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-11-17
- Chou LW, Binder-Macleod SA. The effects of stimulation frequency and fatigue on the force-intensity relationship for human skeletal muscle. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2007) 118:1387–96. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2007.02.028
- Bouton CE, Shaikhouni A, Annetta NV, Bockbrader MA, Friedenberg DA, Nielson DM, et al. Restoring cortical control of functional movement in a human with quadriplegia. *Nature* (2016) 533:247–50. doi: 10.1038/nature17435
- Malešević NM, Maneski LZP, Ilić V, Jorgovanović N, Bijelić G, Keller T, et al. A multi-pad electrode based functional electrical stimulation system for restoration of grasp. *J Neuroeng Rehabil.* (2012) 9:66. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-9-66
- Crema A, Malešević N, Furfaro I, Raschellà F, Pedrocchi A, Micera S. A wearable multi-site system for NMES-based hand function restoration. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2018) 26:428–40. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2017.2703151

sessions/days, which can then be applied to any future uses for rehabilitation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HS and XH conceptualized the study design. HS and YZ performed the experiment. HS analyzed the data and drafted the manuscript. HS, YZ, and XH revised the manuscript and approved the final version of the manuscript.

- Bergquist AJ, Clair JM, Lagerquist O, Mang CS, Okuma Y, Collins DF. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation: implications of the electrically evoked sensory volley. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2011) 111:2409–26. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2087-9
- Bergquist AJ, Wiest MJ, Collins DF. Motor unit recruitment when neuromuscular electrical stimulation is applied over a nerve trunk compared with a muscle belly: quadriceps femoris. J Appl Physiol. (2012) 113:78–89. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00074.2011
- Wiest MJ, Bergquist AJ, Schimidt HL, Jones KE, Collins DF. Interleaved neuromuscular electrical stimulation: motor unit recruitment overlap. *Muscle Nerve* (2017) 55:490–9. doi: 10.1002/mus.25249
- Shin H, Watkins Z, Hu X. Exploration of hand grasp patterns elicitable through non-invasive proximal nerve stimulation. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:16595. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-16824-1
- Zheng Y, Hu X. Improved muscle activation using proximal nerve stimulation with subthreshold current pulses at kilohertz-frequency. *J Neural Eng.* (2018) 15:046001. doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/aab90f
- Shin H, Chen R, Hu X. Delayed fatigue in finger flexion forces through transcutaneous nerve stimulation. J Neural Eng. (2018) 15:066005. doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/aadd1b
- Zheng Y, Hu X. Reduced muscle fatigue using kilohertz-frequency subthreshold stimulation of the proximal nerve. J Neural Eng. (2018) 15:066010. doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/aadecc
- Shin H, Hu X. Flexibility of finger activation patterns elicited through noninvasive multi-electrode nerve stimulation. In: 2018 40th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC). Honolulu, HI. (2018). doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2018.8512479
- Li X, Liu J, Li S, Wang Y, Zhou P. Examination of hand muscle activation and motor unit indices derived from surface EMG in chronic stroke. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng.* (2014) 61:2891–8. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2014.2333034
- Kouzi I, Trachani E, Anagnostou E, Rapidi CA, Ellul J, Sakellaropoulos GC, et al. Motor unit number estimation and quantitative needle electromyography in stroke patients. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol.* (2014) 24:910–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jelekin.2014.09.006
- Sayenko DG, Nguyen R, Popovic MR, Masani K. Reducing muscle fatigue during transcutaneous neuromuscular electrical stimulation by spatially and sequentially distributing electrical stimulation sources. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2014) 114:793–804. doi: 10.1007/s00421-013-2807-4
- Bergquist AJ, Babbar V, Ali S, Popovic MR, Masani K. Fatigue reduction during aggregated and distributed sequential stimulation. *Muscle Nerve* (2017) 56:271–81. doi: 10.1002/mus.25465
- Maneski LZP, Malešević NM, Savić AM, Keller T, Popović DB. Surfacedistributed low-frequency asynchronous stimulation delays fatigue of stimulated muscles. *Muscle Nerve* (2013) 48:930–7. doi: 10.1002/mus.23840

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Shin, Zheng and Hu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

